Strategic Sites Committee agenda
Date:

Thursday 8 April 2021

Time:

2.00 pm

Venue:

MS Teams - the meeting will be available to the public at
https://buckinghamshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Membership:
S Broadbent, N Brown, S Chhokar, C Clare, P Jones, J Jordan, L Monger, R Newcombe,
C Paternoster, G Sandy, A Turner (Chairman) and J Waters (Vice-Chairman)

Webcasting notice
Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's
website. At the start of the meeting the chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is
being filmed.
You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s
published policy.
Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the monitoring officer at
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.
Agenda Item
1

Apologies for absence

2

Declarations of interest

3

Minutes
To agree the minutes of the strategic sites committee meetings held on
24 February 2021 and 11 March 2021.

Page No

3-8

4

CC/0067/20 - High Heavens Landfill Site, Clay Lane, Booker, SL7 3DJ

5

20/04007/APP - Kingsbrook Secondary School, Land East of Aylesbury,
Broughton Crossing, Bierton

9 - 62
63 - 124

If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support
in place.
For further information please contact: Sally Taylor on 01296 531024, email
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.

Agenda Item 3

Strategic Sites Committee minutes
Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic sites committee held on Wednesday 24 February
2021 in MS Teams, commencing at 10.01 am and concluding at 2.50 pm.

Members present
S Broadbent, S Chhokar, C Clare, P Jones, J Jordan, L Monger, R Newcombe, C Paternoster,
G Sandy, A Turner (Chairman) and J Waters (Vice Chairman)

Agenda Item
1

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Noel Brown.

2

Declarations of interest
Councillor Richard Newcombe declared he was a council representative on the
Chilterns Conservation Board who had submitted an objection; however, Councillor
Newcombe stated that he had not had any part in submitting the objection and was
not prohibited from participating in considering the application. Councillor
Newcombe also declared a personal interest as he was patient of the Wendover
Health Centre which was part of the Westongrove Primary Care Network (PCN.
Councillor Carole Paternoster declared a personal interest as a patient of the Aston
Clinton GP surgery which was also part of the Westongrove PCN.

3

Planning Application 16/00424/AOP - Land Between Wendover Road and Aston
Clinton Road, Weston Turville, Buckinghamshire
Proposal: Outline planning application (with all matters reserved) for a mixed-use
sustainable urban extension comprising: up to 3,000 dwellings and a 60 bed care
home/extra care facility (Use Class C2/C3); provision of land for a Park and Ride site;
a total of 6.90ha of employment land (comprising of up to 29,200 sq.m.
B1c/B1/B2/B8 uses); provision of two primary schools (one 2 form entry and one 3
form entry); a mixed use local centre (3.75ha) with provision for a foodstore of up to
1,200 square metres (GFA), further retail (including a pharmacy), restaurant and café
units, a doctor's surgery, gym, public house with letting rooms, professional services,
multi-functional community space and a day nursery, and live work units; multifunctional green infrastructure (totalling 109.01 ha) including parkland, sports
pitches, sports pavilions, children's play areas, mixed use games areas, including a
skate park/BMX facility, informal open space, allotments, community orchards,
landscaping; extensions to domestic gardens at Tamarisk Way (0.22ha); strategic

Page 3

flood defences and surface water attenuation; vehicular access points from New
Road, Marroway, A413 Wendover Road and A41 Aston Clinton Road; a dualled
Southern Link Road between A413 Wendover Road and A41 Aston Clinton Road and
a strategic link road between the Southern Link Road and Marroway; internal roads,
streets, lanes, squares, footpaths and cycleways and upgrades to Public Rights Of
Ways (PRoWs); and car parking related to the above land uses, buildings and
facilities.
A written statement was read out by the clerk on behalf of Councillor Mike Collins,
Unitary Ward Member for Aston Clinton and Bierton.
Speaking as a Buckinghamshire councillor, Councillor Patricia Birchley.
Speaking as a representative of Weston Turville Parish Council, Councillor Martin
Jarvis.
Speaking as objectors, Mr Phil Yerby and Mr John Oliver.
Speaking as the applicant, Mr Gary Tucker.
It was proposed by Councillor Carole Paternoster and seconded by Councillor
Jonathan Waters and agreed unanimously at a vote that the application be approved
as per the officer’s report.
Resolved:
That permission be deferred and delegated to the Director of Planning and
Environment for approval subject to the satisfactory completion of a legal
agreement to secure financial contributions towards provision of education facilities
and off site sport and recreation facilities, off site farmland bird mitigation, on-site
provision of land employment use, Park and Ride Facility, on-site provision of
affordable housing (including review mechanisms), provision of custom build and
care facility, design codes, provision of a temporary community facility, onsite
provision of primary education facilities, on-site provision of a health centre (GP
surgery) and/or provision of temporary services on site or within an existing nearby
facility (if appropriate), provision and maintenance of public open space, recreation
and play areas, rights- of-way provisions, on-and off-site highways contributions/
works/road infrastructure works, travel plans and sustainable transport measures
(and/or financial contributions thereto), SUDS maintenance, public art, ecological
mitigation, flood alleviation scheme and offer of garden extensions together with a
phasing strategy and subject to conditions as considered appropriate by Officers, or
if these are not achieved for the application to be refused.
Members requested that officers continued to work collaboratively with the BHT
and CCG on establishing a robust methodology for any future requests which was
capable of feeding into the council’s new Local Plan process.

Page 4

In respect of the strategic projects for sport and recreation, Members encouraged
officers and the applicant to continue dialogue with Weston Turville Parish Council
in developing future strategic projects that might benefit from financial
contributions in the future, outside the scope of the current application
16/00424/AOP.

Note 1: A break was taken from 12.12 pm to 12.21 pm.
Note 2: Councillor Charlie Clare left the meeting at 2.12 pm and did not participate
in the vote.
Note 3: Councillor Santokh Chhokar left the meeting at 2.19 pm and did not
participate in the vote.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix

Strategic Sites Committee minutes
Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic sites committee held on Thursday 11 March 2021 in
MS Teams, commencing at 2.01 pm and concluding at 4.09 pm.

Members present
S Broadbent, S Chhokar, C Clare, P Jones, J Jordan, L Monger, R Newcombe, C Paternoster,
G Sandy, A Turner (Chairman) and J Waters (Vice-Chairman)

Agenda Item
1

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Noel Brown.

2

Declarations of interest
Councillor Jilly Jordan disclosed a personal interest in application PL/20/3179/FA as a
unitary ward member for the Ivers. Cllr Jordan advised that she had attended social
functions at Pinewood Studios. No discussions regarding this application had taken
place between Cllr Jordan and the applicant and Cllr Jordan had not attended any
meetings concerning this application and was not pre-determined, therefore, Cllr
Jordan would participate as a voting member of the Strategic Sites Committee in the
determination of this item.
Councillor Steve Broadbent declared a personal interest in application
PL/20/3179/FA. Councillor Broadbent knew of the applicant, Mr Andrew Smith,
through his capacity as a board member of the Buckinghamshire Local Enterprise
Partnership (LEP) of which Mr Smith was Chairman. It was not a LEP application and
Councillor Broadbent advised he had not attended any meetings concerning this
application and was not pre-determined, and therefore, able to participate as a
voting member of the Strategic Sites Committee in determining this item.

3

Minutes
Councillor Richard Newcombe requested that Item 2, declarations of interest, third
paragraph, line five, be amended to read “Councillor Newcombe stated he was a
local member of for the Wendover, Halton and Stoke Mandeville ward.
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2021 were agreed as a correct
record subject to the change mentioned above.

Page 7

4

Application PL/20/3179/FA - Construction of 4 sound stages and a workshop
building on PSDF development zone 4 and 4a at Pinewood Studios, Iver Heath
Proposal: Construction of 4 sound stages and a workshop building on PSDF
development zone 4 and 4a at Phase 3, Pinewood Studios, Pinewood Road,
Iver Heath, Buckinghamshire, SL0 0NH.
Speaking as local unitary ward member, Councillor Ray Sangster.
Speaking as local unitary ward member, Councillor Paul Griffin.
A written statement was read out by the Democratic Services Officer on behalf of
local unitary ward member, Councillor Luisa Sullivan.
Speaking as representative of Iver Parish Council, Councillor Carol Gibson.
Speaking as applicant, Mr Andrew Smith.
It was proposed by Councillor Charlie Clare, seconded by Councillor Peter Jones and
agreed by vote that the application be deferred and delegated to the Director of
Planning and Environment as per the amended recommendation set out on page 4-5
of the corrigenda, as well as the additional condition as proposed by the committee.
Resolved:
To defer and delegate the application to the Director of Planning and Environment
to grant planning permission subject to the concurrence of the Secretary of State
(SoS), there being no new substantive, material planning matters being raised
following statutory publicity for the development proposed being a potential
‘Departure from the Development Plan’ and in broad accordance with the conditions
set out in this report and any others which he considers appropriate and
satisfactory. An additional condition was agreed:


To delegate to officers that an appropriate condition to ensure compliance to
Core Policy 12 (promote and encourage energy efficiency and renewable/low
carbon energy efficiency and renewable/low carbon energy in all new
development through a range of measures in order to contribute towards
meeting national targets for reducing CO2 emissions) be added.

Members agreed that the concerns raised be considered at a meeting of the
Pinewood Committee Liaison Group.

Page 8

Agenda Item 4

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Report to Strategic Sites Planning Committee
Application Number:

CC/0067/20

Proposal:

Application for the demolition of Dano building,
reconfiguration of the site and the erection of a food
waste building, waste handling bays (part retrospective),
contractors office, weighbridge, food waste tank, fire
water tanks (retrospective), wheel wash and tank,
ancillary tanks, hardstanding area, soil bund, fencing and
associated development at High Heavens Landfill Site,
Clay Lane, Booker, SL7 3DJ

Site Location:

High Heavens Household Waste Site
Clay Lane
Booker
SL7 3DJ

Applicant:

Buckinghamshire Council

Case Officer:

James Suter

Ward(s) affected:

Chiltern Villages

Parish-Town Council:

Great Marlow Parish Council

Date valid application received:

18th December 2020

Statutory determination date:

19th March 2021

Recommendation

Subject to no over-riding objections being received from
outstanding consultations, the Strategic Sites Committee
is invited to INDICATE SUPPORT for application
CC/0067/20 at High Heavens Household Waste Site, Clay
Lane, Booker, Buckinghamshire SL7 3DJ and delegates
authority to the Service Director for Planning and
Environment to grant planning permission subject to
detailed conditions to be finalised including those set out
in Section 8.

Page 9

1.0

2.0

Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
1.1

Application CC/0067/20 was submitted by Mott MacDonald on behalf of
Buckinghamshire Council on 4th December 2020. The application was accompanied by
an Environmental Statement (ES). The application seeks to gain permission for the
demolition of the existing Dano building, reconfiguration of the site and the erection
of a food waste building, waste handling bays (part retrospective), contractors office,
weighbridge, food waste tank, fire water tanks (retrospective), wheel wash and tank,
ancillary tanks, hardstanding area, soil bund, fencing and associated development at
High Heavens Landfill Site, Clay Lane, Booker, S7 3DJ.

1.2

As per Buckinghamshire Council’s Constitution, applications for the council’s own
development will be determined by the relevant planning committee. Proposals for
the Council’s own development will be treated with the same transparency and
impartiality as those by private developers. Therefore, this application is being
reported for determination by the Strategic Sites Committee.

1.3

Subject to no over-riding objections being received from outstanding consultations,
the Strategic Sites Committee is invited to INDICATE SUPPORT for application
CC/0067/20 at High Heavens Household Waste Site, Clay Lane, Booker,
Buckinghamshire SL7 3DJ and delegates authority to the Service Director for Planning
and Environment to grant planning permission subject to detailed conditions to be
finalised including those set out in Section 8.

Site Description
2.1

The site is located within the High Heavens Waste Management complex which is
located approximately 1km south of the southern fringe of High Wycombe and the
M40. The site is approximately 500m from the southernmost properties in Booker and
800m northwest of Marlow Bottom.

2.2

The site is located within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). A
section of the access road which is off Clay Lane is within the Green Belt but no built
development is proposed within the Green Belt. The site is not located within any local
landscape designations such as Areas of Attractive Landscape (AALs) or Local
Landscape Areas (LLAs). The site does fall within the Landscape Type 18 Rolling
Farmland and Landscape Character area and 18.1 Great Marlow Rolling Farmland as
set out in the Wycombe District Landscape Character Assessment 2011.

2.3

No public rights of way intersect the development site but Bridleway GMA/33/1 runs
west-east adjacent to the access road and footpath GMA/31/1 runs north-south
approximately 100m west of the main complex. The nearest residential areas to the
site are the properties of Clay Hill and Claymoor Park, the northern most properties of
Marlow Bottom and the areas of Booker and Cressex.

2.4

The site is approximately 2km south east of Widdenton Wood SSSI. There are several
local wildlife sites and biological notification sites in the vicinity of the application site
Page 10

including Hillgreen Wood, Holyhill Wood, High Heavens Wood, Munces Wood,
Highruse Wood, Moor Wood and Booker Common. Hillgreen Wood, immediately to
the east of the complex, is also ancient and seminatural woodland while Hollyhill wood
and High Heavens wood (approximately 700m and 350m from the application site
respectively) are ancient and replanted woodland.
2.5

There are two listed buildings within 1km of the site. The buildings are associated with
Widmere Farm which lies approximately 800m away from the site to the south-west.
The buildings are Widmere Farmhouse (Grade II*) and Widmere Stables (Grade II).

2.6

The site is located within Flood Zone 1. But is not within any groundwater source
protection zone.

2.7

The area has a long history of waste management with the site operating as a landfill
site from the 1950s to 2008. Planning permission was granted in 1999 for a landfill gas
electricity plant. Consent was granted for a household waste recycling centre (HRWC)
in 2007 which was subsequently implemented. A planning application for the
construction and operation of a Waste Transfer Station for the reception, bulking and
transfer of municipal solid waste; and commercial and industrial waste was granted in
2012 (planning permission no. CC11/9003/CM). This planning permission included the
provision of the upgraded access road and was implemented. Planning permission for
a new waste transfer station accepting green, food and bulky waste was granted in
2018 under planning permission no. CM/0001/18 but was never implemented due to
a lack of viability. There is also an existing residual waste transfer station operated by
FCC Environment immediately north of the site.

2.8

The site which is subject to this application is set out in the Location Plan in Appendix
B but essentially includes the haul road and the south eastern portion of the High
Heavens Waste Complex.

2.9

The site is currently used for waste management activities including the storage and
bulking of recyclable waste. Food waste is currently deposited within the former ‘Dano’
building before being transported to an offsite anaerobic digestion site. Green waste
is deposited on an adjacent area in an open-air operation before being bulked to be
transferred to composting sites. Bulky waste is currently deposited and shredded in
the open-air before being transported to the residual waste transfer facility and then
to Greatmoor for final treatment.

Page 11

3.0

Description of Proposed Development
3.1

The proposed development seeks permission for the construction of one new food
waste handling building, an office/gatehouse building, expansion of the glass handling
area and the demolition of the ‘Dano’ building and other associated ancillary
development. An extract from the proposed site plan is shown below in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Proposed Site Plan

3.2

The main elements of the proposal are summarised as follows:
•

Food Waste Building

•

Contractor’s office/gatehouse

•

External Waste Handling Bays - Green Waste (x4)

•

External Waste Handling Bays - Glass Waste (x4)

•

External Waste Handling Bays - Wood Waste (x2)

•

External Waste Handling Bays - Bulky Waste (x2)

•

Weighbridge (1x new, 1 x relocated)

•

Dano building (to be demolished)

•

Fire Hydrant Water Tanks (already Built)

•

Food Waste Tank

•

Quarantine areas

•

Wheel wash and associated tank/pump

•

Rainwater Harvesting Tank

Page 12

•

Slab for Mist Dust Suppression System

•

Deluge system on bulky waste bay and associated tank/plant (retrospective)

•

Soil-won Landscaping Bund

3.3

The total gross floorspace created by the development is approximately 1180m2
(115m2 Office + Food Waste Building 1065m2). For context, the waste transfer building
approved under application CM/0001/18 measured was approximately 13.07m at the
apex and had an area of approximately 4100m2.

3.4

The food waste handling building under this application is proposed to be 13.04m at
the apex and 12.22m at the eaves and is shown on Figure 1 towards the south east of
the site. The maximum height of the building is similar to the other buildings already
erected on the site. The building is proposed to be 40.6m long and 25.9m wide creating
a floor space of approximately 1065m2. The cladding for the building is a mixture of
grey to light grey and the building would have two 7m x5m doors for vehicle access
and two pedestrian access doors. A roof ladder is proposed to gain access to the roof.
The roof is proposed to be laid with a grey coloured coated steel sheet with
intermittent translucent panels to allow in natural light. Within the building would be
concrete push walls to contain up to 300m3 of food waste. The building is proposed to
utilise fans which would keep the building under negative pressure to manage odour.
The building would also be provided an Air Spectrum Rotary Atomiser which would
allow the targeting of odour and dust within the building.

3.5

The access to the proposed food building would be widened to ensure safe access
which would increase the internal haul roads width by approximately 10m at its widest
point. Parking would be provided to the north of the site with a 26-space car park and
a 6-space car park for contractors. The excavated soil from the construction of the
development is proposed to be placed on the soil bund to the south of the site.

3.6

The erection of a combined contractor’s office/gatehouse is also proposed. The
building is proposed to measure 2.8m at its highest point and be 12.1m in length and
9.6m in width with a gross external floor space of approximately 120m2. The building
would provide office space, meeting rooms and changing rooms for onsite staff. The
cladding would be coloured matt white and grey. The existing gatehouse would be
retained but repurposed as a meeting room and relocated into the contractor’s car
park.

3.7

The proposal also seeks to gain permission for the erection of a number of 3.8m high
push walls to separate green, glass, wood and bulky waste. The dimensions of the
waste handling bay are indicative as all waste handling bays would be configured to
comply to criteria that is to be set out within the fire prevention plan controlled by the
Environment Agency. It is estimated the green, bulky and wood waste bays would hold
a maximum volume of 450m3 each. Glass waste would remain towards the north of
the site on an existing concrete slab but the area of paving would be expanded to give
a larger working area. Green waste would be located to the east and north of the

Page 13

proposed food waste building with 4 bays including one quarantine area. Wood waste
areas would be relocated to the middle south with two new bays and bulky waste will
remain to the far west of the site. The bulky waste handling area would also include
some steel work to hang a water deluge upon. Excavated soils from the construction
of paving near the proposed glass waste area would be stored in the proposed bund.
3.8

The bulky waste handling bays and quarantine area (including deluge system & tanks)
are existing, although have been included under this new application in order to
formalise their approval.

3.9

It is also proposed to demolish the existing ‘Dano’ building which accepted food waste
creating a clear area for traffic movement to the west side of the site.

3.10 There are a number of ancillary works proposed as part of this development which
includes changes to vehicular access, provision of weighbridges, the use of a site won
bund, external lighting, fire alarm systems, electrical services, CCTV, wheel wash, dust
suppression systems, water tanks, the siting of a commemorative plaque, security
fencing and landscaping and planting.
3.11 No changes are proposed to external access but to the internal access. A roundabout
would be painted on the internal road with single lane entry and exit lanes. Details are
set out within the Volume 3 Appendix A 13 of the ES. 4 cycle parking spaces would be
provided on site.
3.12 Two weighbridges are proposed to be provided adjacent to the proposed
office/gatehouse building. One weighbridge would be relocated from its current
position on the site and another would be new.
3.13 New external lighting is proposed to be fitted to the food waste building and
office/gatehouse building. The southwest façade of the food waste building would
have four 9m high surface mounted fittings above the shutter, with the other three
facades having 3m high fittings.
3.14 External lighting is also proposed for the wider site. The car park would have 6m high
lighting columns and the handling areas would have 8m high columns. It is proposed
lighting would be on a timer and switched off between the hours of 7pm to 7am to
match operational timings. During operational hours lighting would be on but
controlled by a photocell. Emergency lighting would be installed for internal areas and
at fire exits which would be supplied with energy from a battery system. Only security
lighting at entrances and doorways would remain on overnight as necessary in order
to respect the dark skies zone.
3.15 Ventilation is proposed to be provided to the food waste building to prevent the buildup of odour. Three extraction fans are proposed which would all run during operational
hours with one left on during non-operational hours.
3.16 A wheel wash, wheel wash tank and rainwater harvesting tank are proposed to be
located outside of the food waste building exit door. It is proposed that all vehicles
exiting the food waste building would be required to use the wheel wash. The food
Page 14

waste building is proposed to utilise a rainwater harvesting system which would consist
of a 25,000 litre tank, submerged pumps and a 1230 litres tank with mains back up
connection which would provide grey water to the wheel wash and a washdown within
the food waste building.
3.17 The application also seeks to regularise the erection of a pumped fire hydrant system
near the north slab and proposed contractor’s office/ gatehouse. A food wastewater
storage tank would be installed west of the fire tanks to collect food waste water
contaminated run off from the impermeable areas before pumping them to a 100m3
tank which would be manually emptied by a tanker.
3.18 The applicant states that currently rainfall runoff is collected by the foul and dirty water
networks and that no surface water specific network exists at present. It is also stated
that it is intended that foul drainage would replicate the existing situation with any
dirty water runoff generated pumped to the existing tanks and discharged via gravity
(restricted) to the existing sewer that connects into a Thames Water United Utilities
sewer.
3.19 The proposed development would require the removal of 2 low quality trees, one tree
group and the partial removal of a number of scrub areas. Recommended works to
remove trees of poor quality would also be undertaken.
3.20 The proposed development would also include planting approximately 3860m2 of
native whips and shrub planting towards the south west corner of the site. This is
intended to soften impacts of the site won soil bund and add to the mitigating impact
of screening the wider site.
3.21 CCTV would be provided on the site. The commemorative plaque on site is to be
relocated. The existing chain link fencing on the site is to be removed with a new 2.4m
palisade security fence erected around the site.
3.22 During construction approximately 31 FTE staff would be required and working hours
are proposed to be 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays, 08:00 to 13:00 Saturdays and
no works on Sundays or public holidays.
3.23 The application seeks planning consent for 198 vehicle movements per day which is a
net increase of 100 over the existing operations (98 movements). The request was
calculated using the existing operations and the expected growth in waste of this
nature up to 2038/2039 which the applicant states would require 132 movements per
day. Allowing for contingency the applicant requests 198 movements per day. The
proposed operational hours are Mondays to Fridays 07:30 to 18:00, Saturdays 08:00
to 17:00 and Sundays 8:30 to 13:00.
3.24 The proposed development would be designed with a capacity to accept the following
quantities of waste: Green Waste – 55,000 tpa, Food Waste – 20,000 tpa, Bulky Waste
– 15,000 tpa, Wood Waste – 15000 tpa, Glass Waste 1000 tpa.
3.25 The application is accompanied by a number of documents which are set out in
Appendix D.
Page 15

4.0

Relevant Planning History

Reference

Development

Decision

CC/07/05

Proposed improvement and extension of Household
Waste and Recycling Centre (HWRC); ancillary storage;
and temporary HWRC

PER

15-Sep-05

CC/57/02

High Heavens Waste complex, green waste composting
facility
Variation of condition 13 attached to consent CC/57/02
to allow an extension of the permitted operational
hours from 1.00pm to 3.30pm on Saturdays at the
composting facility
Proposed 24m high wind turbine with rotor blades of
diameter 10m
Proposed extension of time for the completion of
restoration and variation of final contours
Variation of Condition 2 attached to consent CC/59/79
for the extension of time for the completion of
restoration of the landfill site
Variation of Condition 7 attached to consent CC/64/87
for the extension of time for the completion of
restoration of the landfill site
Variation of condition 12 of planning permission no
CC/57/02 and CC/59/05 to increase the number of daily
vehicle movements from 50 to 80
Proposed new waste reception and processing building,
new site office, new maturation building and a
replacement household waste recycling centre
Consultation on submissions 6, 7, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 26,
27, 28, and 30 for proposed new waste reception and
processing building, new site office, new maturation
building and a replacement household waste recycling
centre
Proposed small water treatment facility including
effluent tanks and a buried pipeline connecting the
existing and proposed effluent tanks to the public sewer
Proposed new waste reception and processing building,
new site office, new maturation building and a
replacement household waste recycling centre
Allocation of condition 5. Proposed small water
treatment facility including effluent tanks and a buried
pipeline connecting the existing and proposed effluent
tanks to the public sewer
The construction and operation of a Waste Transfer
Station for the reception, bulking and transfer of
municipal solid waste; and commercial and industrial
waste; to include the following:
The construction of a new bellmouth at the junction of
the existing High Heavens facility access road and Clay
Lane including directional signage; Realignment and
widening of the existing High Heavens facility access
road from Clay Lane to the proposed Waste Transfer
Station (including associated landscaping and
directional signage); dedicated gated site access (from
the existing High Heavens waste management facility),
surrounding hard standing and vehicle circulatory
areas; a waste transfer building, sprinkler tank,
pumphouse and refuel point; parking for HGVs and
RCVs associated with the operation; perimeter fencing;

PER

04-Jun-03

PER

23-Jan-06

WDN

27-Jan-06

PER

31-Mar-06

WDN

07-Apr-06

WDN

07-Apr-06

PER

25-Jan-08

PER

25-Jan-08

AOCP

02-Feb-09

PER

21-Jan-09

AOCP

26-Feb-09

AOCP

13-Mar-09

CC/59/05

CC/61/05
CC/06/06
CC/07/06

CC/08/06

CC/05/07

CC/04/07

AOC/04/07

CC/33/08

AOC/04/07(32)

AOC/33/08

CC11/9003/CM

Page 16

PER

Decision Date

26-Jul-12

CCTV and security/health and safety lighting; two
weighbridges; an amenity building including offices;
staff/visitor parking and cycle shelter; surface water
management system; landscaped areas.
CC12/9002/CM

CC13/9001/CM
AOC/CC11/9003/CM
AOC/CC11/9003/CM(2)
NMA/54/14

CM/72/14

CX/02/14

AOC/77/14
NMA/18/15
AOC/19/15
CM/38/15
AOC/9003/1514

AOC/9003/1523
NMA/9003/2015

CM/67/15

Construction of a new access road off Clay Lane Ancillary to the development of the proposed new
Waste Transfer Station within the High Heavens Waste
Management Complex
Proposed overnight parking of 8 no HGV's and 2 no
trailers within the permitted development boundary
Allocation
of
conditions
3,16,19,20,21,22,24,25,26,27,28,30 and 31.
Approval of condition 17
Non material amendment to planning permission
CC11/9003/CM for construction and operation of a
Waste Transfer Station for the reception, bulking and
transfer of municipal solid waste; and commercial and
industrial waste.
Variation of Condition 18 attached to the planning
permission CC11/9003/CM to enable the use of piling
foundations
Application for a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use for a
mixed waste transfer station which includes use of that
part of the site edged red on the plan submitted for the
importation; sorting, process and transfer of waste
between the hours of 7.30am - 6pm (Mondays to
Fridays); 8.00am - 5.30pm (Saturdays); 9.00am 5.30pm (Bank + Public holidays except Christmas Day,
Boxing Day and New Year’s Day) and; 8.30am - 1.00 pm
(Sundays - for the importation of waste from Civic
Amenity Sites referred to as HWRCS only).
Discharge of condition 24 of planning permission
AOC/CC11/9003/CM
Non material amendment seeking consent to construct
a retaining wall pursuant to consent CC11/9003/CM
Discharge of condition 23 of planning permission
AOC/CC11/9003/CM
Change of Use of former agricultural building to Waste
Transfer Station
Allocation of condition 14 of CC11/9003/CM for the
construction and operation of a Waste Transfer Station
for the reception, bulking and transfer of municipal
solid waste; and commercial and industrial waste; to
include the following:
Allocation of condition 23 for CC11/9003/
Non-material amendment
Variation of Condition 8 of permission CC11 9003 CM to
enable deliveries to be made by all waste vehicles types
for
8am-5.00pm on not more than 12 Saturdays per year so
that the condition read as No operation authorised by
the planning permission shall be carried out other than
between the following hours
7am to 5.00pm Mondays to Fridays: 8.00am to 5.00pm
on not more than twelve Saturdays per year, 7.00am
to 12 noon on all other Saturdays for deliveries from
Household Waste Recycling Centres and Council
Depots and up to 10 HGV waste collections, 8.00am to
12 noon Sundays for deliveries from Household Waste
Recycling Centres only. No operations shall be carried
out on Bank or Public Holidays

Page 17

REF

08-Aug-12

PER

20-Mar-13

AOCP

15-Apr-13

AOCP
NMAP

25-Feb-14
11-Aug-14

PER

06-Jan-15

PER

03-Nov-14

AOCP

16-Feb-15

NMAP

31-Mar-15

PCO
WDN

04-Feb-16

AOCP

06-Oct-15

AOCP

06-Oct-15

NMAP

03-Sep-15

PER

01-Mar-16

AOC/0002/1604

Variation of condition 3 and 4 attached to consent
W/99/5493 to extend the time for removal of
containerised generators, transformers and oil tank and
to extend the time for removal of the remaining plants,
buildings and equipment in accordance with the
requirements of the Environment Agency to 1 June
2019 and 1 December 2019 respectively.
Release of condition 4 (highway remediation works) of
consent CC11/9003/CM

AOC/0001/1605

Release of condition 5 (completion of highway
realignments) of consent CC11/9003/CM

AOCP

17-Jun-16

AOC/0001/1606

Release of condition 6 (heavy commercial vehicle
routeing management) of consent CC11/9003/CM

AOCP

17-Jun-16

PER

03-Oct-16

CMP

04-Aug-17

CMP

28-Jul-17

CMP

02-Oct-17

PER

20-Dec-17

PER

06-Aug-18

CM/11/16

CX/08/16
SCREEN/64/17
SCOP/04/17
SCOP/05/17

CC/95/17

CM/0001/18

4.1

5.0

Demolition of Dano Drum and Pulveriser Building
Screen Opinion request for High Heavens Complex
Lower Dano Area
High Heavens Waste Transfer station
Scoping Opinion for Proposed Waste Transfer Station at
High Heavens Waste Management Complex
Infilling of approximately 15,000m3 of inert material
and drainage works to create a concrete slab at the
'Lower Dano Area' within the High Heavens Waste
Management Complex
The erection of a single storey Waste Transfer Station
(WTS) containing three designated waste halls to accept
green, food and bulky waste, a segregated area for fly
tipped waste and space for internal waste shredding
and the reorientation of four external storage bays, the
placement of hardstanding, the creation of a
quarantine area, the retention and refurbishment of
the existing BCC office, and construction of a new
contractors office and ancillary development including
internal access roads, parking, a gatehouse, two
weighbridges, cycle and smoking shelter, fire water
tanks, waste water tank, wheel wash, drainage and
attenuation systems, HGV laybys and the continued use
of an existing workshop

PER

27-Apr-16

AOCP

17-Jun-15

An Environmental Statement was submitted which had detailed chapters considering
Ecology, Hydrogeology and Ground Conditions, Landscape and Visual, Noise and
Vibration, and other environmental effects. It is stated that there would be no
significant adverse or beneficial residual effects as a result of the proposed
development for the following topics: ecology, hydrogeology and ground conditions,
noise and vibration, and landscape. There is potential for moderate adverse residual
impacts for receptors at 4 viewpoints during construction. It is stated that the
proposed development would be well-integrated into the landscape and there would
be no residual landscape or visual effects at year 15 of operation.

Policy Considerations and Evaluation
5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
planning applications are determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights

Page 18

of Way Act 2000 requires that in exercising a function affecting land in an AONB, the
Council shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural
beauty of the AONB.
5.2

The development plan for this area comprises of:
•
•
•

Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2019 (BMWLP)
Wycombe District Local Plan 2019 (WDLP)
Wycombe District Adopted Delivery and Site Allocations Plan 2013 (ADSAP)

The following policies are considered relevant to the proposed development:
Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (BMWLP)
•

Policy 10: Waste Prevention and Minimisation in New Development

•

Policy 11 (Waste Management Capacity Needs)

•

Policy 13 (Spatial Strategy for Waste Management)

•

Policy 14 (Development Principles for Waste Management Facilities)

•

Policy 16 (Managing Impacts on Amenity and Natural Resources)

•

Policy 17 (Sustainable Transport)

•

Policy 18 (Natural Environment)

•

Policy 19 (Historic Environment)

•

Policy 20 (Landscape Character)

•

Policy 21 (Green Belt)

•

Policy 22 (Chilterns AONB)

•

Policy 23 (Design and Climate Change)

•

Policy 24 (Environmental Enhancement)

•

Policy 26 (Safeguarding of Minerals Development and Waste Management
Infrastructure)

Wycombe District Local Plan (WDLP)
•

CP1 (Sustainable Development)

•

CP8 (Protecting the Green Belt)

•

CP10 (Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment)

•

CP11 (Historic Environment)

•

CP12 (Climate Change)

•

DM20 (Matters to be determined in accordance with the NPPF)

•

DM30 (Chilterns AONB)

•

DM31 (Development Affecting the Historic Environment)

Page 19

•

DM32 (Landscape Character and Settlement Patterns)

•

DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions: Transport and Energy Generation)

•

DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development)

•

DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality)

•

DM38 (Water Quality and Supply)

•

DM39 (Managing Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Systems)

•

DM42 (Managing Development in the Green Belt)

•

DM44 (Development in the Countryside Outside of the Green Belt)

Wycombe District Adopted Delivery and Site Allocations Plan 2013 (WDSAP)

5.3

•

DM1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development)

•

DM13 (Conservation and Enhancement of Sites, Habitats and Species of
Biodiversity and Geodiversity Importance)

•

DM14 (Biodiversity in Development)

In addition, it is considered the following documents are relevant for the
determination of the application:
•
•
•
•
•

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 (CMP)
Wycombe District Council Air Quality Supplementary Planning Document

Principle of the Use and Location of Development
Policy 11 (Waste Management Capacity Needs)
Policy 13 (Spatial Strategy for Waste Management)
Policy 14 (Development Principles for Waste Management Facilities)
Policy 26 (Safeguarding of Minerals Development and Waste Management Infrastructure)
5.4

As set out in paragraph 2.7 of this report, the High Heavens Waste Complex has a long
history with waste management and has permission for the reception, bulking and
transfer of municipal solid waste; and commercial and industrial waste.

5.5

There is an identified need for a bio-waste transfer station within the High Wycombe
area set out in the Waste Needs Assessment 2017 and the Waste Needs Assessment
Addendum Report 2017. After an alternative site search assessment considering 22
sites in total it was considered that the High Heavens site was the most sustainable.

Page 20

5.6

Policy 11 of the BMWLP sets out waste management capacity needs within the plan
period. The waste arising forecasts have informed the identification of the needs for
the plan period. The proposed development is designed to facilitate the forecasted
increase in waste requiring management over the next 20 years. The site managed
16,570 tonnes of food waste in 2019/2020, 31,205 tonnes of green waste in 2018/2019
and 7,820 tonnes of bulky waste in 2018/2019. It is predicted that by the year
2041/2042 a total of approximately 82,000tpa of waste would be delivered to the site
(Green waste - 45,568 tpa, Food waste - 18,223 tpa, Bulky waste - 8,289 tpa, Wood
waste - 9,455 tpa, and Glass waste - 441 tpa). The proposal is designed to facilitate the
management of up to 106,000 tonnes of waste and provides capacity for contingency.
It is therefore considered the development is in accordance with policy 11 of the
BMWLP and would facilitate help achieve self-sustainability for waste management
within Buckinghamshire.

5.7

Policy 13 of the BMWLP sets out the spatial strategy for waste management within
Buckinghamshire. The policy states that the growth of Buckinghamshire’s sustainable
waste management network will be delivered by primarily focusing development of
facilities for the preparation of wastes for reuse and recycling and other recovery on
the main urban areas and growth locations of High Wycombe, Aylesbury and
Buckingham within existing general industrial and employment areas along with urban
extensions. The policy adds that opportunities to co-locate waste management
facilities together and with complementary activities will be supported where
compliant with relevant BMWLP policies. Policy 26 of the BMWLP seeks to safeguard
existing waste management sites with extant planning permission and associated
infrastructure from other forms of development. Policy 14 of the BMWLP states that
where a proposal is not within an area of focus for waste management the preference
will be for proposals which co-locate and integrate waste management facilities
together with complementary activities.

5.8

The site is not in an area of focus for waste management but is an existing waste
transfer station adjacent to a residual waste transfer station and a household waste
recycling centre. Whilst not explicitly linked, Appendix 2 to the BMWLP sets out waste
development commitments at the end of 2016 and includes this site. It is therefore
considered that the proposal is supported in principle by the above policies as it is a
safeguarded site and the proposal would facilitate the co-location of waste
management facilities.

5.9

Policy 14 of the BMWLP states that proposals for waste management facilities must
demonstrate that the development: is in general compliance with the spatial strategy,
facilitates delivery of the waste management capacity requirements, identifies waste
streams to be treated, catchment area for the waste to be received on-site and end
date of any outputs, and enables communities and businesses to take more
responsibility for their own waste and supports management of waste in line with the
proximity principle and the waste hierarchy.

Page 21

5.10 As above, the proposal is considered to be in compliance with the spatial strategy,
identifies waste streams to be treated and facilitates the delivery of waste
management capacity requirements. The development would accept waste from the
south of Buckinghamshire county facilitating the growth of population in the area. The
development would allow the management of waste close to where it arises in
accordance with the proximity principle and would facilitate the effective recycling of
waste moving waste up the hierarchy.
5.11 As such the principle of waste management at this site is considered to be acceptable.
Green Belt
Policy 21 (Green Belt)
CP8 (Protecting the Green Belt)
DM42 (Managing Development in the Green Belt)
DM44 (Development in the Countryside Outside of the Green Belt)
5.12 Policy 21 of the BMWLP seeks to preserve the openness and characteristics of the
Green Belt and states development of waste management facilities in the Green Belt
will be supported where it can be demonstrated that the development would not form
inappropriate development and provided that it preserves the openness of, and does
not conflict with the purposes of including land in, the Green Belt. The policy sets out
a number of circumstances where waste development in Green Belt may be regarded
as not inappropriate and what considerations might contribute to very special
circumstances.
5.13 Policy CP8 of the Wycombe District Local Plan makes similar provision seeking to
protect the Green Belt from inappropriate development. Policy DM42 makes similar
provision.
5.14 Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
5.15 Upon adoption of the WDLP the land surrounding the High Heavens site was released
from Green Belt with only the access road north of the site remaining within the
designation. In consideration of Green Belt policy, as no built development is proposed
within the Green Belt itself but only continued use of the existing access road, it is
considered the development is not inappropriate and therefore it is considered the
proposal is not contrary to Green Belt policy.

Landscape and Visual Impact and Chilterns AONB
Policy 20 (Landscape Character)
DM32 (Landscape Character and Settlement Patterns)
Policy 22 (Chilterns AONB)
DM30 (Chilterns AONB)

Page 22

5.16 Policy 20 of the BMWLP seeks to ensure minerals and waste development protects and
enhances valued landscape in a manner commensurate with their status. The policy
also requires a Landscape Assessment to be carried out for minerals and waste
development. In this case an EIA was submitted containing a section focussing on
landscape and visual impacts.
5.17 Policy DM32 of the WDLP requires development to protect and reinforce positive key
characteristics of the receiving landscape. The policy also requires development to
evidence an understanding of the landscape and demonstrate positive responses to
existing landscape character and design guidance and other landscape features on and
around the site, tranquillity and darkness and views and vistas both to and from the
site. The policy also requires development to demonstrate a mitigation hierarchy has
been followed in a cumulative way, to avoid, minimise and mitigate harm; and that
opportunities for enhancement have been taken.
5.18 Policy 22 of the BMWLP states proposals for minerals and waste development should
conserve and enhance the Chilterns AONB, comply with the prevailing AONB
Management Plan and other relevant guidance, and demonstrate exceptional
circumstances and that the development is in the public interest. The policy adds that
proposals within the AONB and its setting will be permitted where it can be
demonstrated that it:
-

does not result in harm to the AONB and does not conflict with the purpose(s) of
the designation;

-

contributes towards provision of waste management capacity for preparing for
reuse and recycling;

-

supports the economies and social well-being of local communities in the area;

-

includes opportunities, where appropriate, to enhance the character, assets and
appearance of the AONB and its setting, including ensuring a high standard of
design for development and integration of the site within its landscape setting;

-

is compliant with relevant MWLP policies.

5.19 Policy DM30 of the WDLP makes similar provision and adds that planning permission
for proposals which constitute major development in the AONB will only be permitted
where in accordance with national policy.
5.20 The Chilterns AONB Management Plan also makes similar provision and seeks to
ensure that development conserves or enhances the AONB in a manner
commensurate with provisions of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the
NPPF and the development plan.
5.21 Paragraph 172 of the NPPF states great weight should be given to conserving and
enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty which
have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. It also states the scale
and extent of development within these designated areas should be limited. Planning

Page 23

permission should be refused for major development other than in exceptional
circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public
interest. Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of:
a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations,
and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;
b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the
need for it in some other way; and
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated.
5.22 Footnote 55 of the NPPF states for the purposes of paragraphs 172, whether a proposal
is ‘major development’ is a matter for the decision maker, taking into account its
nature, scale and setting, and whether it could have a significant adverse impact on
the purposes for which the area has been designated or defined. The application is
considered to be major development, and, on this basis, exceptional circumstances
must be demonstrated and evidence of how the development is in the public interest
should be provided.
5.23 As set out in the supporting documents for this application, the applicant considered
142 sites to manage waste arisings in the county as part of an Alternative Site Search
commissioned for the application CM/0001/18. Of these sites only two sites made it
to the final consideration stage with others being discounted on issues relating to
availability, deliverability, and access issues. At the time of the search both sites were
located within Green Belt and the AONB (High Heavens has recently been released
from Green Belt). An assessment matrix was formed to consider the two sites and the
High Heavens site scored higher.
5.24 With regards to the tests highlighted within the NPPF, it is considered there is a
demonstrated need for this development to manage waste arising in the vicinity.
Secondly, as demonstrated in the Alternative Site Search it is not viable to develop
outside the proposed site, it is also important to note locating the site in an alternative
location would potentially raise similar impacts as that proposed as the only alternative
site is also in the AONB.
5.25 With consideration to impacts upon the environment and landscape the application is
accompanied by an Environmental Statement which includes a section considering
Landscape and Visual Impacts. The chapter concludes that landscape effects would be
non-significant during construction with mature woodland containing the extent of
landscape effects. It is also stated that landscape effects would be non-significant
during operation as the proposed development would be similar in scale, appearance
and function to the existing structures at High Heavens Waste Complex. The retention
and protection of existing vegetation and introduction of mitigation planting in
association with the site won soil bund is anticipated to assist in the integration of the
development into the landscape. It is stated there would be significant visual effects

Page 24

for receptors at four representative viewpoint locations during the construction of the
proposed development. It is stated these views would be in the context of existing view
of the structures at High Heavens Waste Complex. Visual effects would be nonsignificant for receptors at all representative viewpoint locations during the operation
of the proposed development.
5.26 With regards to lighting it is noted that the Chilterns Conservation Board comments
requested that lighting is strictly controlled and would be the subject of industry best
practice to prevent spill and glare within this otherwise dark skies AONB environment
with particular regard to AONB Management Plan Policy DP8. It is proposed that
lighting would be turned off outside of operational hours with only security lighting at
entrances and doorways remaining on. It is considered necessary to attach a condition
restricting the hours of lighting operation.
5.27 The council’s Landscape advisor was consulted on this application and, subject to the
submission of some additional information and the clarification of a few queries,
considers there to appear to be no basis for objection on the grounds of long term
significant adverse landscape or visual effects. The landscape advisor also requested a
condition to secure the submission and approval of a Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan, this is considered appropriate. At this time further consultee
comments have been sought upon further submissions, committee will be updated
upon any developments since the writing of this report.
5.28 Overall, as there only appears to be significant visual effects on four views during the
construction period, the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment suggests there are no
landscape or visual effects at year 15 of operation and in consideration of all the above
it is not considered the proposal would substantially impact the beauty of the AONB
or demonstrably impact upon its special character or appearance beyond the
construction phase. It is noted that the Chiltern’s Conservation Board seek to see waste
management relocate to a location outside of the AONB. However, in consideration of
the NPPF tests for development in the AONB it is considered that the application is
decidedly in the public interest and such exceptional circumstances exist for the
development.
Design
Policy 23 (Design and Climate Change)
DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality)
5.29 Policy 23 of the BMWLP seeks to secure high quality design which minimises adverse
effects on and from climate change. The policy requires proposed development:
incorporates design elements that are visually attractive and add to the overall quality
of the area, reflects local character respecting designated areas including Areas of
Outstanding National Beauty and Green Belt, incorporates safety and security
measures, complies with principles of sustainable design and construction, applies
SUDs where possible, minimises greenhouse emissions and ‘climate proofs’

Page 25

development and utilises native species in planting schemes. Great weight is to be
given to outstanding and innovative design.
5.30 Policy DM35 of the WDLP requires development to improve the character of the area
and the way it functions. Development is also required to demonstrate response to the
development’s built and natural context including how positive characteristics are
retained, opportunities for improvement are maximised and how a sequential
approach has been taken to avoid, minimise and mitigate any harm. Development is
also required to create attractive buildings, take a comprehensive approach to site
layout and design, prevent significant adverse impacts on the amenities upon the
vicinity, demonstrate attractive and high quality design and appropriate character in
the scale form and layout and demonstrate efficient use of land through scaling and
height of buildings.
5.31 As set out in Section 4 of this report, the development comprises primarily of the
erection of a food waste building measuring 13.04m at the apex, 40.6m long and 25.9m
wide, the demolition of an existing building (Dano building of approximately 12m in
height) and the installation of ancillary plant and structures. The design of the facility
responds to its context and to the purpose of the development itself for the
management of waste. The cladding for the food waste building is a mixture of dark
matt grey to light matt grey. The roofing is a middling grey matt cladding. It is noted
that the Chiltern Conservation Board request that the materials are of an appropriate
dark non-reflective cladding (including the roofing) to preserve the AONB. The
proposed development is considered to respond to this request. The building also
utilises a double gable to lower the apex height of the building and to minimise the
impacts upon the AONB.
5.32 The erection of a combined contractor’s office/gatehouse is also proposed. The
building is proposed to measure 2.8m at its highest point and be 12.1m in length and
9.6m in width. The cladding would also be coloured matt white and grey but is
considerably smaller in height.
5.33 Whilst proposals should be assessed on their own merit it is worthwhile noting that
the waste transfer building approved under application CM/0001/18 had an area of
approximately 4100m2 with a similar height. The proposed scheme seeks to erect a
food waste building of approximately 1065m2 which is significantly smaller. This
reduction has been achieved by managing green, glass, wood and bulky waste in open
air.
5.34 The proposal also seeks to gain permission for the erection of a number of 3.8m high
push walls to separate green, glass, wood and bulky waste. These features of the
design are functional and are designed as such to facilitate the management of waste.
It is noted that Great Marlow Parish Council raise concern with the design with the
majority of waste management occurring outside compared to the previously
proposed scheme under CM/0001/18. However, it is important to note the most
impactful process of managing food waste is contained within the proposed building

Page 26

with the more inert waste streams being outside. Consideration of amenity impacts
from the proposed development is considered in a later section of this report.
5.35 It is considered that the development is in accordance with policy with regards to
design. The proposal is considered to reflect local character and respect designated
areas such as the AONB with clear approaches to minimise harm reflected in its design.
Consideration of the sustainability of the design of the development and how it
responds to the challenge of climate change are contained within the sustainability
section of this discussion.
Ecology
Policy 18 (Natural Environment)
Policy 24 (Environmental Enhancement)
CP10 (Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment)
DM13 (Conservation and Enhancement of Sites, Habitats and Species of Biodiversity and
Geodiversity Importance)
DM14 (Biodiversity in Development)
DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development)
5.36 Policy 18 of the BMWLP seeks to protect and enhance natural assets and resources
and states developments should provide net gains in biodiversity
5.37 Policy 24 of the BMWLP states proposals for new or extensions to existing waste
development must incorporate measures on-site and/or off-site to enhance
Buckinghamshire’s environmental assets and green infrastructure networks. This
includes opportunities to deliver net gains for biodiversity net gain and the positive
integration of the site within the wider landscape.
5.38 Policy CP10 and DM34 of the WDLP and Policies DM13 and DM14 of the WDSAP taken
together have similar aims to the policies of the BMWLP seeking to prevent harm upon
natural assets and provide biodiversity gain where possible.
5.39 The proposed development seeks to expand the existing bio-waste transfer station
within the current operational boundaries and includes works such as fencing and the
creation of bunds. The proposal is considered likely to provide net gains for biodiversity
through the planting of wildflower meadows instead of amenity and poor semiimproved grassland. The application site is located in an ecologically sensitive area
being in close proximity to sites designated for their conservation value and records of
protected and notable species, however, much of the site exists as hardstanding and
is an operational waste site
5.40 The Environmental Statement submitted in support of this application included a
section on Ecology. The chapter predicted the effects of the proposed development on
ecological features and assessed them as not significant.

Page 27

5.41 The council’s Ecologist has been consulted on this application and states the
conclusions within the ecology chapter of the Environmental Statement are supported
and it is considered unlikely that the proposal would have significant adverse ecological
impacts. The ecologist has no objection to the proposal provided a Construction
Environment Management Plan (CEMP) and a Landscape Ecological Management Plan
are secured by condition.
5.42 It is noted that the Chilterns Conservation Board requested the supplementary
planting more than supplements the trees and shrubs lost during the construction and
the proposed development is considered to achieve this.
5.43 Natural England were also consulted on this application and held no objection stating
they do not consider the proposed development would have significant adverse
impacts upon designated sites. Similar to the council’s Ecologist they advise a CEMP
and a plan demonstrating net biodiversity gain is secured. This advice has been
followed.
5.44 The application is considered to be in accordance with policy.
Transport matters and parking
Policy 17 (Sustainable Transport)
DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions: Transport and Energy Generation)
CP12 (Climate Change)
5.45 Policy 17 of the BMWLP requires proposals for waste development to include a
Transport Assessment addressing the following matters: identification and viability for
alternatives for road transport, identification of likely traffic flows, catchment areas for
waste and the destination of outputs, capacity of local highway network to
accommodate proposal, identification of any improvements to the transport network
necessary to reduce impact to an acceptable level, identification of any adverse
impacts from transporting waste on the community and any measures required to
minimise and/or avoid such impacts, emission control measures.
5.46 Policy DM33 of the WDLP sets out local requirements for developments with respect
to transport modes, particularly sustainable modes, and sets out the need to deliver a
suitable level of parking provision. The policy requires development to: be located to
provide safe, direct and convenient access via sustainable modes, make provision for
alternative vehicle types and fuels, include measures to reduce reliance on private car,
provide sufficient parking to ensure no significant adverse impact from overspill
occurs, ensure any material adverse impacts on traffic conditions are mitigated and
integrate renewable technology into development.
5.47 Policy CP12 of the WDLP sets out the plan’s response to mitigate and adapt to climate
change. The policy promotes locating development in areas which minimise the need
for travel.

Page 28

5.48 Considering transport matters, the proposal does not seek to change the existing
access to the site from Clay Lane. The application does seek to amend some internal
changes to traffic flow within the site and as noted above the proposal would help
provide facilities to manage a larger quantity of waste at the site which would have an
associated traffic impact.
5.49 In support of this application the applicant has provided a Transport Note which details
the changes between the proposed scheme and the permitted application
CM/0001/18 which included a full transport assessment with regards to likely
transport impacts. At the scoping stage for this application, following scoping
discussions it was agreed that no updates were required to the data, modelling outputs
or traffic surveys submitted as part of the application CM/0001/18 and that the data
provided at that stage remained relevant to the proposed.
5.50 In consideration of policy 17 of the BMWLP it is considered that sufficient information
to assess the impacts of the development were provided. In consideration of policies
DM33 and CP12 of the WDLP, there is no proposed change to the access and bicycle
parking is provided to help provide modal shift away from private vehicle use. It is also
considered sufficient parking is provided and impacts upon traffic conditions are
adequately controlled.
5.51 Policy DM33 also seeks to encourage provision for alternative vehicle types and fuels
and where possible include renewable energy where possible. The supplementary Air
Quality Planning Document (SPD) for the WDLP sets out that development of this
nature should make provision for electric vehicle charging points at a rate of every 1 in
10 spaces. No electric car parking spaces have been provided as part of the proposed
development. It is considered appropriate to attach a condition securing the provision
of two electric vehicle charging points.
5.52 The highways authority was consulted upon this application and commented that
mindful of the ‘like-for-like impact’ upon the local highway network when compared
with application CM/0001/18 there were no objections with regards to impacts upon
the local highway network. With regards to parking and manoeuvring the highways
authority had no objection to the proposed layout or the proposed parking situation.
Furthermore, no objection was raised by the authority with regards to transport
sustainability with the proposed bicycle facilities being noted as a beneficial provision
facilitating modal shift away from personal car use. In summary the highways authority
had no objection to the proposed development provided the following matters were
secured by condition: a Traffic Management Plan is submitted and approved, a HGV
movement limit of 128 movements per day is set, the implementation of the
manoeuvring and parking scheme indicated on submitted plans is completed before
occupation of the development hereby permitted and the submission and approval of
a construction traffic management plan.
5.53 It is noted that Great Marlow Parish Council requested a set limit upon tonnages and
vehicle movements to be secured by condition. Controlling the HGV movements can

Page 29

serve this purpose and it is not considered necessary to attach a condition to that effect
to make the development acceptable. The parish also detail a number of requests with
regards to road safety which include that the speed limit on Clay Lane should be
reduced with speed cameras and awareness signs erected. Also, it is requested that
Clay Lane is widened, provided with a cycleway/footway and a bus shelter is installed.
These requests are considered to be outside the scope of this application and, in the
absence of any such requirement from the council as highway authority, not necessary
to make the application acceptable.
5.54 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF guides decision makers and states that development should
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe. It is not considered in this case that the development would have an
unacceptable impact upon highway safety nor cause cumulative impacts upon the road
network of a severe degree. The highways authority also raises no objection to the
proposal subject to conditions. It is therefore considered the application is broadly in
accordance with policy with regards to transport matters.

Amenity of existing and future residents
Policy 16 (Managing Impacts on Amenity and Natural Resources)
DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality)
5.55 Policy 16 of the BMWLP seeks to manage impact upon amenity and natural resources.
The policy requires minerals and waste development to demonstrate the development
is environmentally feasible, secures a good standard of amenity and would not give
rise to unacceptable adverse impacts upon a number of matters including: water
resources, air emissions, human health and wellbeing, noise, vibration, light, visual
impacts, migration of contamination from the site and cumulative impacts. The policy
adds that specifically relating to waste development potential impacts relating to land
instability, odours, bio-aerosols, vermin and litter should be addressed.
5.56 Policy DM35 of the WDLP makes similar provision requiring development to provide a
level of amenity appropriate to the proposed use.
5.57 In consideration of air emissions and dust, the green, bulky and wood waste areas
would have a dust suppression mist system installed around the bays to mitigate
impacts. It is considered appropriate to secure the use of this in dusty and dry
conditions. The food waste building is proposed to utilise fans which would keep the
building under negative pressure to manage odour. The building would also be
provided with an Air Spectrum Rotary Atomiser which would allow the targeting of
odour and dust within the building. It is considered these would be sufficient to
prevent an unacceptable impact upon amenity arising with regards to odour and dust.
It is considered appropriate to attach a condition requiring the rolling doors to the
building to be shut when not in use.

Page 30

5.58 The application is supported by a Noise and Vibration Assessment in Chapter 7 of the
Environmental Statement. In light of the evidence provided it is not considered that
significant impacts with regards to noise and vibration are likely to arise from the
operation of the development proposed. The Environmental Statement shows that the
operational noise at the closest receptors are not anticipated to exceed 3dB above
background level, BS4142 suggests that an increase of 5dB would indicate an adverse
effect. This development falls short of this mark. It is noted that Great Marlow Parish
Council raised concerns regarding disturbance and request that operating hours
remain in line with that which is set out in the lawful use certificate at the site. The
application seeks to allow working on Saturdays from 8:00am to 5:00pm instead of
9:00am to 5:30pm and to allow working from 8:30am to 1:00pm on Sundays when
previously only importation from the HWRC was permitted. These changes are not
considered to cause an unacceptable impact upon amenity in consideration of the
information provided in support of the application with regards to likely amenity
impacts.
5.59 It is noted that the Great Marlow Parish Council request that road surfaces along Clay
Lane and within the site are maintained to a high standard to reduce vehicle noise. The
maintenance of Clay Lane is a matter for the highways authority to manage but it is
considered appropriate to attach a condition securing the maintenance of the site
access road.
5.60 Lighting impacts from the site are considered in the AONB and Landscape sections of
this report but it is not considered, provided appropriate controls are secured, an
unacceptable impact upon amenity from lighting would occur as a result of the
proposed development.
5.61 Similarly, visual impacts are considered within the AONB and Landscape sections of
this report and are considered not to have a significant impact.
5.62 Impacts upon water resources and potential contamination are considered in the
following section.
5.63 With regards to the management of vermin and litter, the site already employs a
number of measures including regular trapping / poisoning, waste bay fencing and
regular litter picking. It is proposed to also have fast closing doors for the food waste
building preventing access to birds and for perimeter fencing for the whole operational
area to be erected to capture windblown material. It is considered necessary to attach
a condition requiring these measures to be implemented.
Flooding and drainage
Policy 16 (Managing Impacts on Amenity and Natural Resources)
DM39 (Managing Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Systems)
5.64 Policy 16 of the BMWLP states all proposals for minerals and waste development must
demonstrate the proposed development would not give rise to unacceptable impacts

Page 31

on the quality and quantity of water resources (including ground and surface wasters),
Source Protection Zones and flood risk.
5.65 Policy DM39 makes similar provision and sets out a sequential approach to avoid and
manage flood risk in proposed developments, including a requirement for
development to incorporate sustainable drainage systems.
5.66 The site is within an area of very low risk of surface water flooding and groundwater
mapping shows groundwater levels to be below 5m of the ground surface for a 1 in
100-year return period (meaning flooding from groundwater is not likely). The existing
site manages surface water through both infiltration and discharge direct to a
watercourse. To manage foul surface water in Areas 7 and 8 (from Drainage and SUDS
Statement) it would drain and be pumped to the existing network on site. For area 10
a new soakaway has been proposed.
5.67 It is also proposed that the food waste building would make use of a rainwater
harvesting system to provide greywater for use in the on-site wheel wash.
5.68 The application is accompanied by an assessment of the potential hydrogeology and
ground condition effects of the proposed development in Chapter 7 of the
Environmental Statement. This was prepared with specific consideration of the
potential effects of contamination from excavation of soils from capped landfill. The
chapter found that provided mitigation measures as set out in the Environmental
Statement are undertaken no significant effects would occur during the construction
and operation phases with regards to hydrogeology and ground conditions.
5.69 The LLFA were consulted on this application and had no objection subject to two
conditions being placed on any forthcoming permission. Firstly, a condition requiring
a surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and approved prior to further works
aside from demolition, and the construction of the food waste building, access
roadway and weighbridges. Secondly, a condition securing the submission of a wholelife maintenance plan for the site prior to occupation of the food waste building.
5.70 It is noted Great Marlow Parish Council raise concerns over contamination. A condition
has been added at the request of the Environment Agency to ensure the development
hereby permitted shall not commence beyond the retrospective element until a
monitoring and works plan in respect of contamination, including a timetable of
monitoring and submission of reports to the local planning authority, has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
5.71 In view of the above it is considered the application is in accordance with policy.
Historic environment (or Conservation Area or Listed Building Issues)
Policy 19 (Historic Environment)
CP11 (Historic Environment)
DM31 (Development Affecting the Historic Environment)

Page 32

5.72 Policy 19 of the BMWLP seek to ensure the preservation of the historic environment
in a manner appropriate to its significance and where possible enhance it.
5.73 Policy CP11 and Policy DM31 of the WDLP make similar provision.
5.74 Paragraph 190 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should identify and
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by the
proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this
into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid
or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of
the proposal.
5.75 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should
be given to the asset’s conservation. The same paragraph states that this great weight
should be applied irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
5.76 As set out in section 2 of this report the nearest designated assets to the site are
approximately 800m southwest from the site. It is considered that the proposed
development does not have any significant impacts upon heritage assets.
5.77 The council’s Archaeologist was consulted upon this application and had no objection
to the development.
5.78 It is therefore considered the application is in accordance with policy 19 of the BMWLP
and policies CP11 and DM31 of the WDLP.
Sustainability
Policy 10: Waste Prevention and Minimisation in New Development
Policy 23 Design and Climate Change
DM1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development)
CP1 (Sustainable Development)
CP12 (Climate Change)
5.79 Policy 10 of the BMWLP requires new development supports the efficient use and
recovery of resources throughout the life of the development including construction
and operation. This is expected to be delivered through design principles and
construction methods which minimise the use of primary minerals and encourage
recycled and alternative materials, use of construction methods which minimise waste
production, maximise the re-use and recovery of material whilst minimising disposal
and using design and layouts which provide appropriate facilities for sustainable waste
management. The policy also adds that major development should identify measures
to support the implementation of the waste hierarchy during construction and
demolition (where applicable) including predictions of quantity of waste to be
generated.
Page 33

5.80 With regards to sustainability policy 23 of the BMWLP adds developments should
comply with principles of sustainable design and construction, minimise greenhouse
emissions and ‘climate proof’ development.
5.81 Policy CP1 of the WDLP indicates that the broader WDLP delivers the vision, objectives
and principles necessary to deliver sustainable development. Applications in
accordance with the plan would therefore be considered sustainable development.
5.82 Policy CP12 of the WDLP sets out the plans response to mitigate and adapt to climate
change. The policy promotes locating development in areas which minimise the need
for travel and the integration of blue and green design infrastructure into the design
of the new development (including SUDS).
5.83 As set out in the supporting site waste management plan, draft schemes for waste
management and proposals for minimisation, reuse and recycling of waste have been
submitted. It is considered appropriate to attach a condition requiring a final
submission of a Waste Management Plan to be approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
5.84 With regards to how the proposal integrates blue and green design and infrastructure
to mitigate and adapt to climate change the proposal has a number of elements. In
support of the application the applicant has submitted a sustainability statement.
5.85 Several measures to respond to sustainability policies are detailed and include the
following: The food waste building roof is proposed to be laid with a grey coloured
coated steel sheet with intermittent translucent panels to allow in natural light
reducing the need for lighting indoors; the development would reuse existing
foundations and use recycled steel where possible (estimated 60% recycled); and also
as mentioned in previous sections, the food waste building would utilise a rainwater
capture system to collect water for use for the wheel wash.
5.86 It is considered the development has sufficiently addressed the above policies with
regards to climate change and sustainability.
6.0

Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment
6.1

In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition,
Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning
Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing
with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to:
a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material,
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application
(such as CIL if applicable), and,
c. Any other material considerations

Page 34

7.0

8.0

6.2

As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with
the development plan and should thus be approved subject to appropriate conditions.
It is acknowledged that major development should only be approved within the AONB
in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that the development
is in the public interest. It is considered this development is in the public interest,
exceptional circumstances have been demonstrated and therefore the development
should be approved.

6.3

At the time of writing this report there are outstanding consultations to be resolved
with the council’s Landscape advisor. At this time the advisor considers that subject to
relevant clarifications/amendments being made there would be no reason for
objection to the proposal.

6.4

Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due
regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from
socio-economic disadvantage. In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal
would disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent.

Working with the applicant / agent
7.1

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decisiontaking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development
proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure
developments.

7.2

In this instance the applicant
•

was provided with pre-application advice,

•

The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the
scheme/address issues.

•

The application was determined without undue delay.

•

The application was considered by the Strategic Sites Committee where the
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the
application.

Recommendation
8.1

Subject to no over-riding objections being received from outstanding consultations,
the Strategic Sites Committee is invited to INDICATE SUPPORT for application
CC/0067/20 at High Heavens Household Waste Site, Clay Lane, Booker,
Buckinghamshire SL7 3DJ and delegates authority to the Service Director for Planning
and Environment to grant planning permission subject to detailed conditions to be
finalised including those set out below:
1. The development herby permitted shall not be carried out other than in complete
accordance with the following drawings:
• AGENT RESPONSE TO LANDSCAPE / ARB COMMENTS dated 22nd March 2021

Page 35

•

AGENT RESPONSE TO EA COMMENTS dated 23rd February 2021

•

Agent email confirming RAL DETAILS GATEHOUSE + IMPLEMENTATION
dated 2nd March 2021

•

AGENT RESPONSE TO ECOLOGY COMMENT dated 28th January 2021

•

ECOLOGICAL CONSTRAINTS (Drawing No 405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-EN-0011)
Rev P1

•

306. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.6 _FOOD WASTE BUILDING PLANT
ROOM_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-

•

315. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.15_ HIGH HEAVENS COMMEMORATIVE
PLAQUE.JPG

•

314L. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_AERIAL SITE OVE

•

314K. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ZOOMED OUT SITE

•

314J. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ZOOMED OUT SITE

•

314I. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_SITE OVERVIEW

•

314H. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_AERIAL SITE OV

•

314G. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_SITE OVERVIEW

•

314F. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ELEVATED VIEW

•

314E. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ELEVATED VIEW

•

314D. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ELEVATED VIEW

•

314C. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ELEVATED VIEW

•

314B. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ELEVATED VIEW

•

314A. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D
VISUALISATION_ELEVATED VIEW

•

329. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX B.1_ECOLOGY_LEGISLATION POLICY AND
GUIDANCE SUMMARY.PD

Page 36

•

328. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.28_L-TYPE PUSH WALLS STANDARD
PRODUCT DESIGN_WHITES

•

327. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.27_L-TYPE PUSH WALLS SECTIONS AND
ELEVATIONS_WHITES

•

339. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX
D.7_LANDSCAPE_PHOTOMONTAGES_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-EN-00

•

338. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.6_LANDSCAPE_LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS
PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-

•

337. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.5_LANDSCAPE_PHOTOGRAPHIC
SHEETS_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR

•

336. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.4_LANDSCAPE_VIEW POINT PLAN_405897MMD-XX-00-GIS-Y-0

•

335. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.3_LANDSCAPE_ZONE OF THEORETICAL
VISIBILITY_405897-MM

•

334. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.2_LANDSCAPE_LANDSCAPE CHARACTER
AREAS_405897-MMD-XX-

•

333. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.1_LANDSCAPE_LANDSCAPE AND
CULTURAL DESIGNATIONS_4058

•

332B. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX C.2_CONTAMINATED LAND RISK
ASSESSMENT_PART2.PDF

•

332A. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX C.2_CONTAMINATED LAND RISK
ASSESSMENT_PART1.PDF

•

331. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX C.1_GROUND INVESTIGATION REPORT
2019_405897-MMD-WTS-XX

•

330. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX B.2_ECOLOGICAL CONSTRAINTS
MAP_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-EN

•

401. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX A_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DRAFT
CEMP_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP-EN

•

402. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX B_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_ARBORICULTURE
REPORT_405897-MMD-WT

•

403. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX C_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_TRANSPORT
NOTE_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-R

•

404. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX D_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT_405897-MM

•

405. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX E_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_FLOOD RISK
ASSESSMENT_405897-MMD-W

Page 37

•

305. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.5_FOOD WASTE BUILDING PLAN_405897MMD-WTS-GF-DR-A-00

•

304. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.4_APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY_405897MMD-WTS-XX-DR-A-

•

303. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.3_EXISTING SITE PLAN WITH
PROPOSED_405897-MMD-WTS-XX

•

302. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.2_EXISTING SITE PLAN_405897-MMD-WTSXX-DR-A-0043.PDF

•

301. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.1_SITE PROPOSAL PLAN_405897-MMDWTS-XX-DR-A-0045.PDF

•

300. ES_VOLUME 3_TECHNICAL APPENDICES_CONTENTS.PDF

•

200. ES_VOLUME 2 _HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_ENVIRONMENTAL
STATEMENT_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP

•

100. ES_VOLUME 1_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS _NON-TECHNICAL
SUMMARY_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP-E

•

003. HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT_405897MMD-WTS-XX-RP-T-0003.P

•

002. HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_PLANNING STATEMENT_405897-MMD-WTS-XXRP-T-0002.PDF

•

HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_PLANNING COVER LETTER_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RPT-0001.PDF

•

313C. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.13_VEHICLE TRACKING SHEET 3_405897MMD-WTS-XX-DR-C-

•

313B. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.13_VEHICLE TRACKING SHEET 2_405897MMD-WTS-XX-DR-C-

•

313A. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.13_VEHICLE TRACKING SHEET 1_405897MMD-WTS-XX-DR-C-

•

312. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.12_FOOD WASTE BUILDING ROOF
PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-D

•

311. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.11_OFFICE SECTIONS_405897-MMD-WTSGF-DR-A-0037.PDF

•

310. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.10_FOOD WASTE BUILDING
SECTIONS_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR

•

309. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.9_PROPOSED ELEVATIONS FOR
OFFICE_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-

Page 38

•

308. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.8_PROPOSED ELEVATIONS FOR FOOD
WASTE BUILDING_405897

•

307. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.7_OFFICE LAYOUT PLAN_405897-MMDWTS-GF-DR-A-0034.PDF

•

326. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.26_FIRE TANKS AS
BUILT_DETAILS_BALMORAL TANKS.PDF

•

325. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.25_BUND SECTION_405897-MMD-WTS-XXDR-EN-0016.PDF

•

324. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.24_DRAINAGE CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-D

•

323. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.23_SITE WIDE SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE
PLAN_405897-MMD-

•

322. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.22_SURFACE WATER OVERFLOW
DRAINAGE PLAN_405897-MMD-W

•

321. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.21_FOOD WASTE LEACHATE DRAINAGE
PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-

•

320. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.20_FOUL WATER DIRTY WATER DRAINAGE
PLAN_405897-MMD-W

•

319. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.19_FIRE DETECTION AND ALARM SYSTEM
LAYOUT_405897-MMD

•

318. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.18_CABLE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
LAYOUT_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-

•

317. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.17_SMALL POWER LAYOUT_405897-MMDWTS-XX-DR-E-0010.PD

•

316. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.16_EXTERNAL LIGHTING PLANS_405897MMD-WTS-XX-DR-E-00

•

400. ES_VOLUME 4_SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS_CONTENTS.PDF

•

340. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX E.1_E.2_E.3_NOISE AND
VIBRATION_GUIDANCE AND POLICY_BA

•

405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-A-0046 - SITE LOCATION PLAN.PDF

•

406A. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX F_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DRAINAGE AND
SUDS STATEMENT_40589

•

406B. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX F_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DRAINAGE AND
SUDS STATEMENT_40589

•

407. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX G_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_OUTLINE
SWMP_405897-MMD-WRS-XX-RP-

Page 39

•

408. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX H_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_EIA SCOPING
OPINION REPORT_405897-

•

409. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX I_BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL_SCOPING
OPINION_SCOP-32-20.P

•

502.HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_REVIEW OF 2020 GROUND
INVESTIGATION_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP-G

Reason: To define the development permitted and to control the operations in
accordance with Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Policies 16.
2. No construction work shall take place at the site other than between the following
hours:
• 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday
• 8:00 to 13:00 Saturday
• There shall be no working on Sundays or Public and Bank holidays
Reason: In the interests of amenity for the local area and to comply with policies 16
and 17 of the BMWLP.
3. No operations shall take place at the site other than between the following hours:
• Monday to Friday 7:30am to 6:00pm;
• Saturdays 8:00am to 5:00pm; and,
• Sunday 8:30am to 1:00pm.
Reason: In the interests of amenity for the local area and to comply with policies 16
and 17 of the BMWLP.
4. No lighting with the exception of security lighting shall be used between the hours
of 7:00pm -7:00am.
Reason: To preserve the dark skies of the AONB and the amenities of the local area
and to comply with policies 16 and 22 of the BMWLP.
5. Piling or other foundation designs which impact the historic landfill using penetrative
methods shall not be carried out other than in accordance with a method statement
outlining the use which has been first submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: To protect groundwater quality in the Chalk Aquifer below the site line with
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
6. The development hereby permitted shall not be further implemented until a
monitoring and works plan in respect of contamination, including a timetable of
monitoring and submission of reports to the local planning authority, has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Reports as
specified in the approved plan, including details of any necessary contingency action

Page 40

arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority.
Reason: To demonstrate the redevelopment works are not having an adverse impact
on groundwater quality line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
7. Prior to any further implementation of the development a Construction Environment
Management Plan (CEMP) shall be prepared in accordance with BS34020:2013
Biodiversity: Code of Practice for Planning and Development. The CEMP shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP
shall:
-

-

Detail how certain activities will be limited in time, location or noise level to
minimise the risk of disturbance;
Detail how it will be ensured that no materials, machinery or work should encroach
onto the adjacent Hillgreen and Hollygreen Woods Biological Notification Site
(BNS) either before, during or after demolition, construction or ongoing use;
Detail how best practise will be used to minimise dust to ensure no pollution from
demolition or construction adversely affect the BNS; and
All works must then proceed in accordance with the approved statement with any
amendments approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the protection of the natural environment in accordance with
Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Policy 18.

8. Prior to any further implementation of the development a Landscape and Ecological
management Plan (LEMP) shall be prepared in accordance with British Standard
BS42020:2013 Biodiversity: Code of Practice for Planning and Development (BSI,
2013). The LEMP shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The plan shall include:
- Detailed planting proposal and specification stating species size at time of planting;
spacing/densities; total plant numbers; planting protection/fencing. Planting
should be of locally occurring indigenous species of local provenance.
- Detailed proposals for amenity and wildflower grassed areas including seed mixes
and sowing rates.
- Design and long term management objectives for existing and new landscape
areas; an establishment management and maintenance programme for a
minimum five years of aftercare for all new planting; and during the programme
the replacement of all failed new planting (irrespective of cause) in the planting
season immediately following failure.
- a plan demonstrating measurable net gains for biodiversity.
Reason: For the protection and management of the natural environment in
accordance with Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Policy 18.

Page 41

9. Prior to occupation of the food waste building a Traffic Management Plan (which
includes HGV routing details) for when the development is fully implemented shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway
and to comply with policy 17 of the BMWLP.
10. The maximum number of heavy goods vehicles associated with the development
shall not exceed 128 (64 in, 64 out) per day.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway
and to comply with policy 17 of the BMWLP.
11. The scheme for parking and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall be
laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that
area shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose. The proposed bicycle parking
provision shall be installed prior to first occupation of the food waste building.
Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to
minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway
and to comply with policy 17 of the BMWLP.
12. Prior to any further implementation of the development, a Construction Traffic
Management Plan detailing the management of construction traffic (including
vehicle types, frequency of visits, expected daily time frames, on-site
loading/unloading arrangements and parking of site operatives vehicles) shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the
development shall be carried out in accordance with such approved management
plan.
Reason: The development cannot be allowed to take place without the Construction
Traffic Management Plan being in place which could cause danger, obstruction and
inconvenience to users of the highway and of the development contrary to policy 17
of the BMWLP.
13. Within one year from the first use of the food waste building, two electric charging
points shall be installed on site. Thereafter the electric vehicle charging points shall
be retained as such and maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason: To manage carbon emission generation and mitigate for climate change in
accordance with local plan policy CP12 and DM33.
14. The roller shutter doors shall be kept closed when not in use by vehicles entering or
egressing the waste transfer building.
Reason: To contain the dust and odour nuisance from within the waste transfer
building in the interests of local amenity in accordance with policy 16 of the BMWLP.

Page 42

15. The development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with
the litter and vermin control methods set out in Chapter 2 of the submitted
Environmental Impact Assessment (dated December 2020).
Reason: To manage litter and vermin in accordance with policy 16 of the BMWLP.
16. Prior to any further implementation of the development a Waste Management Plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Waste Management Plan shall demonstrate sustainable design and construction
methods to be employed which minimises use of primary minerals, makes use of
recycled and alternative materials, minimises waste production and maximises reuse and recovery of materials on-site.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the particulars so approved.
Reason: To secure sustainable design and construction methods which minimise use
of primary minerals, make use of recycled and alternative materials and use
construction methods that that minimise waste production and maximise re-use and
recovery of materials on-site in accordance with Policy 10 of the BMWLP.
17. The access road between the Bio-waste Transfer Station and Clay Lane shall be
maintained free of potholes for the duration of the operation of the development.
Any potholes shall be repaired expeditiously and without undue delay.
Reason: To limit the impact of noise on the amenities of neighbouring properties to
comply with policy 16 of the Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan.
18. No further works, other than demolition, and the construction of the Food Waste
Building, access roadway and weighbridges, shall begin until a surface water drainage
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of
the hydrological and hydro-geological context of the development, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
shall also include:
-

Infiltration rate testing completed at least three times to derive the realistic
infiltration rate.

-

Updated calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can
contain up to the 1 in 30 storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding
between the 1 in 30 and the 1 in 100 plus climate change storm event should be
safely contained on site.
Reason: To ensure that a sustainable drainage strategy has been agreed prior to
construction in accordance with Paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy
Framework to ensure that there is a satisfactory solution to managing flood risk.

19. Prior to the occupation of the food waste building a whole-life maintenance plan for
the site must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Page 43

Authority. The plan shall set out how and when to maintain the full drainage system
(e.g. a maintenance schedule for each drainage/SuDS component), with details of
who is to be responsible for carrying out the maintenance. The plan shall also include
as as-built drawings and/or photographic evidence of the drainage scheme carried
out by a suitably qualified person. The plan shall subsequently be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To demonstrate the redevelopment works are not having an adverse impact
on groundwater quality line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Page 44

APPENDIX A: Consultation Responses and Representations
Councillor Comments
Cllr Jean Teesdale – No comment received.
Cllr Mark Harris – No comment received.
Cllr Chris Whitehead – No comment received.
Cllr Ian McEnnis – No comment received.
Cllr Dominic Barnes – No comment received.

Parish/Town Council Comments
Great Marlow Parish Council
Great Marlow Parish Council OBJECTS to this application. Compared with the original scheme
approved in August 2018, this proposal represents a heavily compromised solution which will not
deliver on the vision and objectives set out in the 2017 consultation documents. In addition, despite
the requirement from Buckinghamshire Council to produce a new and full application it is clear from
the cross references to the original application, in particular in respect of operational data, and the
absence of adequate consultation and engagement with the local community that the expectation
has been that this application will be 'nodded through' instead of receiving the degree of scrutiny
that it warrants.
1. Comparison with the original scheme CM/0001/18
There has been a fundamental change in the design of the BTS which has been glossed over in the
planning application. The Galliford Try consultation document produced in support of the original
scheme included, amongst others, the following objectives and benefits:
- to bring existing food, garden and bulky waste transfer activities at High Heavens inside a purposebuilt facility
- the proposed facility will have modern ventilation and drainage systems to minimise any nuisance
from odour, vermin and leachate formation
- the replacement facility will help provide a healthier and safer environment for site staff and
visitors
- to bring existing operations indoors and minimise the impacts of waste handling activities on
neighbouring areas.
The revised scheme will provide in-house processing of food waste only which on the projected
tonnages will mean some 80% of processing operations will be performed outside. It is clear that
this short-sighted proposal has abandoned these original objectives and benefits.
It should be noted that the letter from Buckinghamshire County Council dated 2nd August 2018
permitting the original application included the on-going condition (para 15) that:

Page 45

'with the exception of glass, all waste shall be stored, sorted, or otherwise processed inside the
waste transfer building to protect the visual amenity of the Chilterns AONB and prevent nuisance
to the local community by way of noise, odour, pests, vermin and litter'.
It is difficult to see how this condition can simply be swept aside.
The original proposal received permission for broadly a doubling of waste tonnages over the twentyyear life of the project although it proved impossible to obtain adequate explanation for this huge
increase which is way in excess of anticipated population growth. Concern was tempered by the
knowledge that the processing would be carried out within a purpose- built facility with modern
environmental controls. If some 80% of processing is to be outside then the impact on the local
community and environment will be extremely adverse. There are no controls proposed to limit the
rate at which these tonnage increases can take place so a change in policy on waste streams feeding
in to High Heavens could result in a much earlier than expected substantial volume increase.
2.Consultation
There has been a failure to adequately consult with local residents and businesses most severely
impacted by the projected waste tonnages, vehicle movements and compromised building design.
A summary of the consultation process is provided under sections 1.7 to 1.7.5 of the Planning
Statement and it is extremely 'thin'. For clarity, reference to a High Heavens Liaison Committee
meeting in May 2019 and a subsequent public drop-in event is in respect of an interim proposal
which was to be put forward for planning approval in July 2019 but was subsequently discarded,
despite its significantly reduced cost, and as such cannot be considered as part of consultation for
the current proposal. Of interest is the fact that this interim proposal retained in-house processing
of all waste streams thus re-confirming the original design objective. A larger building footprint
would have enabled vehicle movements at the BTS to be within the building thus providing even
greater environmental benefits.
There was a gap of eighteen months before the next HHLC meeting when the current proposed
scheme was presented in headline terms. This does not represent a commitment to on-going local
engagement.
There has been the complete absence of any meaningful engagement and consultation with the
local community whereas this was handled well in respect of the original scheme with a high-quality
booklet and the running of nearby public exhibitions over four days. The hhbts website is no longer
accessible and no reference to the scheme appears on the High Heavens web site. It is unreasonable
to expect residents to work through 84 dry and in some cases extremely long and repetitive
documents to gain an understanding of the implications of the proposals and GMPC does not have
the resources to replicate the 2017 consultation process.
______________________________________________
In the event of the application being approved, GMPC request serious consideration be given to the
following recommendations to assist in mitigation of the negative impacts of the proposal on the
environment and local community:

Page 46

1 Tonnages and vehicle movements
Limits should be set on the rate of increase in tonnages and vehicle movements so that they remain
in line with anticipated growth. Any decision to alter the waste streams feeding into High Heavens
resulting in a step change in volumes should be subject to a planning application and consultation
with the local community.
Permission should be granted only for a small number of 'traffic spike' days per annum based on
historical evidence with any temporary increase in the number of days requiring special licence.
2 Operating hours
It is clearly stated in the application that following completion of the project there will be no change
in tonnages and vehicle movements except gradual anticipated increases flowing from population
movements. This being the case there should be no changes to the existing operating hours.
Consideration should be given to restricting BTS operations to six days so that Sundays can provide
respite for the local community. Public holidays should be specifically excluded.
3 Contaminated Risk Assessment
Mott MacDonald has raised a number of issues relating to previous landfill operations and the
possibility of contamination on the site in question. There is a further substantial document entitled
'Ground Investigation' which does not appear to answer the question as to how any possible ground
contamination present will be monitored and managed during construction work. It is suggested
that clarity should be provided before works commence.
4 Road safety
Clay Lane is a busy road, with numerous turn off points on the section west of the motorway, and
this proposal along with a planned large housing development alongside Clayhill, commercial
development of Wycombe Air Park and Grundon's light industrial proposal off the approach road to
the High Heavens site will increase traffic flows. A material element of this increase will be HGVs.
The speed limit should be reduced to 30mph and fixed speed monitoring cameras and speed
awareness signs installed along this western section to improve public safety.
Clay Lane is not considered safe for cyclists and the existing footpaths should be widened to provide
a combined cycling and pedestrian path.
A shelter should be installed at the bus stop close to Clayhill to encourage the use of buses for short
journeys thus reducing vehicle usage.
5 AONB
Location of the High Heavens waste disposal site within an AONB (and until recently green belt) is
very far from ideal but it is also a fact. The imperative must be to ensure that any investment does
no further harm across site lines, emissions, odour, safety, noise and light pollution. Sufficient funds
must be set aside to ensure that this is the case and consideration should be given to planting more
mature trees and hedging so that the mitigation impact is immediate. Whips take too long to
establish and during a hot summer the failure rate will be substantial if they are not maintained. It
took many years for the original landfill site to be screened from the Marlow Road and this mistake

Page 47

should not be repeated. There should be on-going monitoring of the planting scheme with timely
replacement of failures.
Noise levels of the shredder are quoted at 107dB which is not significantly below a departing jumbo
jet so particular attention should be made to dampening its impact.
6 HGV vehicle noise
Road surfaces along Clay Lane and within the site should be maintained to a high standard to reduce
vehicle noise.
7 Air pollution
There should be regular monitoring of pollutant levels at the site and surrounding areas, in particular
residential areas and Clay Lane, with a view to including within the Council's Air Quality
Management Areas if legal limits are exceeded.
Consultation Responses
Jacobs Arboriculture – No objection. Requests revision of the Tree Constraints Plan.
Jacobs Landscape – Subject to satisfactory resolution of queries it appears there is no basis for
objection on the grounds of long-term significant adverse landscape and/or visual effects. In the
event planning permission is granted it is requested a submission of a LEMP is secured by condition
pre-commencement.
Environment Agency – No objections subject to the following conditions being imposed on any
planning permission granted.
Condition 1 - Piling
Piling or other foundation designs which impact the historic landfill using penetrative methods shall
not be carried out other than with the written consent of the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect groundwater quality in the Chalk Aquifer below the site line with paragraph 170
of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Condition 2 – Monitoring Plan
The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a monitoring and works plan in
respect of contamination, including a timetable of monitoring and submission of reports to the local
planning authority, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Reports as specified in the approved plan, including details of any necessary contingency action
arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority.
Reason: To demonstrate the redevelopment works are not having an adverse impact on
groundwater quality line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Waste Management – No comment received
Woodland Trust – No comment received

Page 48

Civil Aviation Authority Aerodromes – No comment received
Civil Aviation Authority Airspace – No comment received
CPRE Bucks – No comment received
Minerals and Waste Policy Team – No comment received
BCC Sustainability / Energy Team – No comment received
LLFA - The LLFA have no objection to the proposed development subject to the following planning
conditions listed below being placed on any planning approval.
Condition 1
No further works, other than demolition, and the construction of the Food Waste Building, access
roadway and weighbridges, shall begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological context
of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme shall also include:
- Infiltration rate testing completed at least three times to derive the realistic infiltration rate
- Updated calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can contain up to the 1
in 30 storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding between the 1 in 30 and the 1 in 100 plus
climate change storm event should be safely contained on site.
Reason: To ensure that a sustainable drainage strategy has been agreed prior to construction in
accordance with Paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework to ensure that there is a
satisfactory solution to managing flood risk.
Condition 2
Prior to the occupation of the development a whole-life maintenance plan for the site must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall set out how
and when to maintain the full drainage system (e.g. a maintenance schedule for each drainage/SuDS
component), with details of who is to be responsible for carrying out the maintenance. The plan
shall also include as as-built drawings and/or photographic evidence of the drainage scheme carried
out by a suitably qualified person. The plan shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason
The reason for this prior occupation condition is to ensure that arrangements have been arranged
and agreed for the long term maintenance of the drainage system as required under Paragraph 165
of the NPPF.
Buckinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service – No comment received
Highways Development Management – No objection to the proposed development subject to the
following conditions:

Page 49

Condition 1: Prior to occupation of the development a Traffic Management Plan (which includes
HGV routing details) will be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority in conjunction
with the Highway Authority.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway.
Condition 2: The maximum number of heavy goods vehicles associated with the waste site as part
of Project Tonnage shall not exceed 128 (64 in, 64 out) per day.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway.
Condition 3: The scheme for parking and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall be
laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that area shall
not thereafter be used for any other purpose. The proposed bicycle parking provision
Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise danger,
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway.
Condition 4: Prior to the commencement of any works on the site, a Construction Traffic
Management Plan detailing the management of construction traffic (including vehicle types,
frequency of visits, expected daily time frames, on-site loading/unloading arrangements and parking
of site operatives’ vehicles) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with such approved
management plan.
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition as development cannot be allowed to take place,
which in the opinion of the Highway Authority, could cause danger, obstruction and inconvenience
to users of the highway and of the development.
Public Health at Bucks CC – No comment received
Wycombe Area EHO – No comment received
Crime Prevention – No comment received
Ecology – No objection subject provided a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) and
a Landscape Ecological Management Plan are secured by condition.
Thames Water – No objection. The application indicates surface water will not be discharged to the
public network and as such Thames Water have no objection. A trade effluent consent will be
required for any effluent discharge other than a ‘domestic discharge’.
Natural England – NO OBJECTION
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will not
have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection. Natural England’s further
advice and recommendations on designated sites/landscapes and advice on other natural
environment issues is set out below. Natural England have made recommendations for appropriate
planning conditions or obligations that could be attached to any planning permission.

Page 50

Chilterns AONB Planning Advisor – The CCB believe High Heavens should be subject to temporary
consents with a view to relocate to an alternative location outside of the AONB in the long term.
The comments remind the council of the test set out by para 172 of the NPPF. It is requested details
and conditions ensure that building materials are dark and non-reflective, planting more than
supplements the trees and shrubs lost in construction and that lighting is strictly controlled.
Archaeology - The nature of the proposed works is such that they are not likely to significantly harm
the archaeological significance of any assets. We therefore have no objection to the proposed
development and do not consider it necessary to apply a condition to safeguard archaeological
interest.
Rights of Way – The only impact the development may have on the local rights of way network
would be at the vehicular highway junction which is also the location where Footpath GMA/31/1
and GMA/33/1 cross and link users with Clay Lane.
However, in light of the improvements secured at the footpath and bridleway junction from
previous High Heavens applications; and the negligible predicted change in trip generation outlined
in the Transport Technical Note, I have no objection.

Other Representations
0 comments have been received supporting the proposal.
0 comments have been received objecting to the proposal.

Page 51

APPENDIX B: Site Location Plan

Page 52

APPENDIX C: List of Submitted Documents
•

AGENT RESPONSE TO LANDSCAPE / ARB COMMENTS dated 22nd March 2021

•

AGENT RESPONSE TO EA COMMENTS dated 23rd February 2021

•

Agent email confirming RAL DETAILS GATEHOUSE + IMPLEMENTATION dated 2nd March
2021

•

AGENT RESPONSE TO ECOLOGY COMMENT dated 28th January 2021

•

ECOLOGICAL CONSTRAINTS (Drawing No 405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-EN-0011) Rev P1

•

306. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.6 _FOOD WASTE BUILDING PLANT ROOM_405897-MMDWTS-XX-

•

315. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.15_ HIGH HEAVENS COMMEMORATIVE PLAQUE.JPG

•

314L. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_AERIAL SITE
OVE

•

314K. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ZOOMED
OUT SITE

•

314J. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ZOOMED OUT
SITE

•

314I. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_SITE
OVERVIEW

•

314H. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_AERIAL SITE
OV

•

314G. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_SITE
OVERVIEW

•

314F. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ELEVATED
VIEW

•

314E. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ELEVATED
VIEW

•

314D. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ELEVATED
VIEW

•

314C. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ELEVATED
VIEW

•

314B. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ELEVATED
VIEW

•

314A. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.14_PROPOSED AERIAL 3D VISUALISATION_ELEVATED
VIEW

Page 53

•

329. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX B.1_ECOLOGY_LEGISLATION POLICY AND GUIDANCE
SUMMARY.PD

•

328. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.28_L-TYPE PUSH WALLS STANDARD PRODUCT
DESIGN_WHITES

•

327. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.27_L-TYPE PUSH WALLS SECTIONS AND
ELEVATIONS_WHITES

•

339. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.7_LANDSCAPE_PHOTOMONTAGES_405897-MMD-WTSXX-DR-EN-00

•

338. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.6_LANDSCAPE_LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS PLAN_405897MMD-WTS-

•

337. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.5_LANDSCAPE_PHOTOGRAPHIC SHEETS_405897-MMDWTS-XX-DR

•

336. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.4_LANDSCAPE_VIEW POINT PLAN_405897-MMD-XX-00GIS-Y-0

•

335. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.3_LANDSCAPE_ZONE OF THEORETICAL
VISIBILITY_405897-MM

•

334. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.2_LANDSCAPE_LANDSCAPE CHARACTER AREAS_405897MMD-XX-

•

333. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX D.1_LANDSCAPE_LANDSCAPE AND CULTURAL
DESIGNATIONS_4058

•

332B. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX C.2_CONTAMINATED LAND RISK ASSESSMENT_PART2.PDF

•

332A. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX C.2_CONTAMINATED LAND RISK ASSESSMENT_PART1.PDF

•

331. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX C.1_GROUND INVESTIGATION REPORT 2019_405897-MMDWTS-XX

•

330. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX B.2_ECOLOGICAL CONSTRAINTS MAP_405897-MMD-WTSXX-DR-EN

•

401. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX A_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DRAFT CEMP_405897-MMD-WTSXX-RP-EN

•

402. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX B_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_ARBORICULTURE
REPORT_405897-MMD-WT

•

403. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX C_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_TRANSPORT NOTE_405897-MMDWTS-XX-R

•

404. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX D_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT_405897-MM

•

405. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX E_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_FLOOD RISK
ASSESSMENT_405897-MMD-W

Page 54

•

305. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.5_FOOD WASTE BUILDING PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-GFDR-A-00

•

304. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.4_APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY_405897-MMD-WTS-XXDR-A-

•

303. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.3_EXISTING SITE PLAN WITH PROPOSED_405897-MMDWTS-XX

•

302. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.2_EXISTING SITE PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-A0043.PDF

•

301. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.1_SITE PROPOSAL PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-A0045.PDF

•

300. ES_VOLUME 3_TECHNICAL APPENDICES_CONTENTS.PDF

•

200. ES_VOLUME 2 _HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT_405897-MMDWTS-XX-RP

•

100. ES_VOLUME 1_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS _NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY_405897-MMDWTS-XX-RP-E

•

003. HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP-T0003.P

•

002. HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_PLANNING STATEMENT_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP-T-0002.PDF

•

HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_PLANNING COVER LETTER_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-RP-T-0001.PDF

•

313C. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.13_VEHICLE TRACKING SHEET 3_405897-MMD-WTS-XXDR-C-

•

313B. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.13_VEHICLE TRACKING SHEET 2_405897-MMD-WTS-XXDR-C-

•

313A. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.13_VEHICLE TRACKING SHEET 1_405897-MMD-WTS-XXDR-C-

•

312. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.12_FOOD WASTE BUILDING ROOF PLAN_405897-MMDWTS-XX-D

•

311. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.11_OFFICE SECTIONS_405897-MMD-WTS-GF-DR-A0037.PDF

•

310. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.10_FOOD WASTE BUILDING SECTIONS_405897-MMDWTS-XX-DR

•

309. ES_VOLUME 3_ APPENDIX A.9_PROPOSED ELEVATIONS FOR OFFICE_405897-MMDWTS-XX-

•

308. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.8_PROPOSED ELEVATIONS FOR FOOD WASTE
BUILDING_405897

Page 55

•

307. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.7_OFFICE LAYOUT PLAN_405897-MMD-WTS-GF-DR-A0034.PDF

•

326. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.26_FIRE TANKS AS BUILT_DETAILS_BALMORAL
TANKS.PDF

•

325. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.25_BUND SECTION_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-EN0016.PDF

•

324. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.24_DRAINAGE CONSTRUCTION DETAILS_405897-MMDWTS-XX-D

•

323. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.23_SITE WIDE SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE PLAN_405897MMD-

•

322. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.22_SURFACE WATER OVERFLOW DRAINAGE
PLAN_405897-MMD-W

•

321. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.21_FOOD WASTE LEACHATE DRAINAGE PLAN_405897MMD-WTS-

•

320. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.20_FOUL WATER DIRTY WATER DRAINAGE PLAN_405897MMD-W

•

319. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.19_FIRE DETECTION AND ALARM SYSTEM
LAYOUT_405897-MMD

•

318. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.18_CABLE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM LAYOUT_405897MMD-WTS-XX-

•

317. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.17_SMALL POWER LAYOUT_405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-E0010.PD

•

316. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX A.16_EXTERNAL LIGHTING PLANS_405897-MMD-WTS-XXDR-E-00

•

400. ES_VOLUME 4_SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS_CONTENTS.PDF

•

340. ES_VOLUME 3_APPENDIX E.1_E.2_E.3_NOISE AND VIBRATION_GUIDANCE AND
POLICY_BA

•

405897-MMD-WTS-XX-DR-A-0046 - SITE LOCATION PLAN.PDF

•

406A. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX F_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DRAINAGE AND SUDS
STATEMENT_40589

•

406B. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX F_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_DRAINAGE AND SUDS
STATEMENT_40589

•

407. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX G_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_OUTLINE SWMP_405897-MMDWRS-XX-RP-

•

408. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX H_HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_EIA SCOPING OPINION
REPORT_405897-

Page 56

•

409. ES_VOLUME 4_APPENDIX I_BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL_SCOPING OPINION_SCOP32-20.P

•

502.HIGH HEAVENS BWTS_REVIEW OF 2020 GROUND INVESTIGATION_405897-MMD-WTSXX-RP-G

•

APPLICATION FORM

Page 57

APPENDIX D: Environmental Statement Summary
1. An Environmental Statement was submitted with the application.
2. The first chapter gives a short overview of the proposal and the site, discusses the rationale
behind the proposal and introduces the applicant. The chapter explains the structure of the
ES and identifies the other documents submitted supporting the application.
3. The second chapter describes the sites location and surroundings. It states the wider
surrounding area is predominantly characterised as rural, and includes residential,
commercial and industrial premises. The chapter then describes the planning history for the
site from its origin as a former landfill to more recent applications in 2018. A description of
the site and the existing use is given. The total area of the site including the proposed
development and temporary construction areas is stated to be 4.2 hectare. It is stated
16,570 tpa of food waste, 42,759 tpa of green waste, 6,815 tpa of wood waste and 4,669 tpa
of bulky waste is managed at High Heavens BWTS at present. A list of the key components
of the proposed development is provided alongside a description for each aspect. A
construction strategy is set out describing the facilities to be provided for construction
workers and the anticipated waste produced amongst other details. Details regarding the
operation of the proposed development are given including the typical operational vehicles,
proposed operating hours and proposed operating waste capacities. Details are also
provided regarding schemes for the mitigation and monitoring of emissions such as dust,
odour and vibration.
4. Chapter 3 sets out the planning history for the site and its immediate surroundings and
provides a short planning policy review.
5. Chapter 4 covers the need for the development and the alternatives considered. It is stated
the proposed development is required to allow Buckinghamshire Council to fulfil its
statutory requirements with regards to the management of food, green, bulky and wood
waste streams. It is stated that following a search of 142 sites within the defined study area
a redefined list of 22 sites was retained when removing sites less than 1.5ha and sites within
Green Belt or AONB unless already allocated for waste use. It is stated all 22 sites were visited
and assessed and all but two were removed due to issues with availability, deliverability,
highway or access issues. The two sites were High Heavens and the Little Chalfont Depot
(Amersham Depot). An assessment matrix was formed to consider the two sites and the High
Heavens site scored higher. The alternative of doing nothing was also considered and
discounted. Considerations of changes to the development itself including layout, drainage
strategy, lighting design and design are also set out.
6. Chapter 5 of the ES sets out the methodology for the assessment. A table showing the
scoping in and out of elements is provided. A list of the statutory bodies involved with the
scoping process is set out and a table summary of scoping opinion comments were
submitted. A summary of pre-application consultation is provided. A statement setting out
how the environmental baseline for the ES was formed is also included in this chapter.

Page 58

Consideration of the determination of significance of environmental effects and the
assumptions and limitations made in the assessment are also given in this chapter.
7. Chapter 6 presents the results of the Ecological Impact Assessment and the potential effects
upon Ecology and protected areas resulting from the development. A desk-study, extended
phase 1 habitat survey and a hazel dormouse survey were undertaken to establish the
baselines. A summary of important ecological features is provided. Potential impacts for
construction and operation are identified and assessed with mitigation measures put
forward to address them. Biodiversity enhancement measures are also put forward and it is
stated that with the adoption of mitigation, during construction and operation, and with the
agreed enhancements, there will be no negative effects on the structure, function or
populations of important ecological features.
8. Chapter 7 presents the assessment of potential hydrogeology and ground condition effects
of the proposed development. The chapter sets out the uses of conceptual site models and
qualitative risk assessment used to identify probability of harm from construction and
operation. Receptor sensitivities, classification of probability and classification of
consequence is set out. The chapter sets out mitigation measures to be employed for preconstruction, construction and operation. A consideration of cumulative effects from the
development with regards to Hydrogeology is provided. It is concluded that whilst previous
ground investigations have identified the presence of some contamination at the site,
specifically within soils and soil leachate samples from the made ground, standard mitigation
measures should be undertaken as defined in the CEMP to ensure that mitigation measures
including remediation and management of excavated materials are undertaken as required.
These measures should ensure that risks at the site can be decreased to appropriate levels.
It is also added that based on this mitigation, an assessment of the effect of the proposed
development on, and from, hydrogeology and ground conditions, has been carried out and
has identified no potentially significant residual effects that will occur during the
construction and operational phases
9. Chapter 8 present the potential landscape and visual impacts of the proposed development.
The section details the temporal and spatial scope of the assessment with the study area
being defined as the area within 3km of the proposed development. The chapter identifies
the baseline conditions, the designations affecting the study area, any character areas and
key viewpoints. Effects upon landscape character and viewpoints for both construction and
operation are considered. Mitigation measures for the construction and operation phase are
identified. The chapter concludes that landscape effects will be non-significant during
construction with mature woodland containing the extent of landscape effects. It is also
stated that landscape effects will be non-significant during operation as the proposed
development will be similar scale, appearance and function to the existing structures at High
Heavens Waste Complex. The retention and protection of existing vegetation and
introduction of mitigation planting in association with the site won soil bund is anticipated
to assist in the integration of the development into the landscape. It is stated there will be
significant visual effects for receptors at four representative viewpoint locations during the
construction of the proposed development. It is stated these views will be in the context of

Page 59

existing view of the structures at High Heavens Waste Complex. Visual effects will be nonsignificant for receptors at all representative viewpoint locations during the operation of the
proposed development.
10. Chapter 9 presents and assessment of the potential noise and vibration effects arising from
the proposed development. It is stated that that a base line survey was conducted in April
2019 to determine the baseline for ambient and background noise levels to validate the
representative and background levels used for a 2017 ES conducted at the site. The chapter
then sets out how the impacts were calculated and what assumptions and limitations there
are regarding the modelling. Mitigation measures have been identified and it is suggested a
Construction Noise Management Plan could control noise. It is stated that construction
noise, vibration, traffic noise and vibration and operational vibration were scoped out of the
assessment as the proposed development does not present any significant material change
from the consented design assessed in 2017. It is concluded that the impact from the
proposed development is low at the closest receptors and there will be no significant effects.
11. Chapter 10 provides a summary of the effects that were not scoped into the ES. Air quality
is discussed, and it is stated no further mitigation or monitoring is considered to be required
above that already implemented. Climate has also been scoped out of the ES as it was
considered to have been adequately addressed in other chapters and the site is considered
to be resilient to the impacts of climate change. The historic environment is also scoped out.
The nearest designated asset to the site is Wycombe Abbey a grade II registered park and
garden approximately 3km away. There are two listed buildings within 1km of the site. The
proposed development is located entirely within a historic landfill site now restored and as
such it is not considered there would be any archaeological remains within the footprint of
the development. Consideration of the results of a desk-based heritage assessment
conducted for an application at the site in 2017 is detailed in this section. It is stated further
assessment of the potential impact has been scoped out as it as considered the potential
visual impacts and recommendations for mitigation of the aforementioned listed buildings
can be adequately addressed within Chapter 8. It is stated that no other significant effects
are considered likely on the historic environment and given the lack of effects (other than
visual impact to the listed buildings), it is considered that there are no impacts on the historic
environment that will contribute with other factors to combine, or cumulate with other
development to give rise to any additional adverse effects.
12. The chapter also considers Human Health, and once more refers to a study completed in
2017 for application CM/0001/18 on the site which found that activities with the potential
to adversely impact upon human health were limited to the construction phase and are
associated with intermittent, temporary, and local changes in air quality and noise. However,
given the absence of a community receptor the concentration nor exposure was considered
to be of a level to quantify a risk to human health. It is also stated the proposed design would
provide enhancement with air quality, odour and pest management. Effects relating to
operational noise are considered in chapter 8 and effects with regard to transport,
construction noise, air quality, socioeconomics, population and vulnerability to accidents is
set out in this chapter. No other significant effects are considered likely. It is also stated that

Page 60

a CEMP would reduce and minimise any effects. Discussion of hydrology and flood risk is also
contained within this section. It is stated that the proposal requires no additional land take,
loss of agricultural land for construction nor operation and no significant effects on land are
considered likely.
13. Materials and Waste Management is considered within the chapter but is scoped out as the
proposed development is considered unlikely to generate large volumes of waste requiring
treatment or disposal. Significant effects in terms of materials and waste management are
not considered to be likely. Given that no significant effects are likely, it is not considered
likely that impacts on materials and waste management will contribute with other factors to
combine any additional adverse effects, nor cumulate with other development for any
additional adverse effects. The chapter also details why noise and vibration for construction
phase only have been scoped out. It is stated that population has been scoped out as it was
considered to be adequately covered within other chapters. Radiation and heat were scoped
out as no significant radiation or heat effects are anticipated. The reasons for
socioeconomics, soil traffic and transportation and the vulnerability of the site to accidents
and disasters being scoped out is also detailed.
14. Chapter 11 concludes the ES and summarises the findings of the EIA prepared for the
proposed development. The chapter sets out how mitigation and enhancement has been
incorporated to the development which includes the production of a CEMP in advance of
any planning permission being granted. It is stated that following the implementation of the
mitigation, the environmental effects that are envisaged to remain are referred to as
residual effects. It is stated that there will be no significant adverse or beneficial residual
effects as a result of the proposed development for the following topics: ecology,
hydrogeology and ground conditions, noise and vibration, and landscape. There is potential
for moderate adverse residual impacts for receptors at 4 viewpoints during construction. It
is stated that the proposed development will be well-integrated into the landscape and there
will be no residual landscape or visual effects at year 15 of operation.
15. Chapter 12 details the references used to support the completion of the EIA.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Report to Strategic Sites Planning Committee
Application Number:

20/04007/APP

Proposal:

Development of a new two and three storey 6FE (1080
place) secondary school including a 32 place Special
Educational Needs (SEN) Unit, two vehicle access points
and pedestrian/cycle access point onto the approved
road to the east, maintenance access from Burcott Lane,
staff car parking including electric charging points, cycle
storage, sports hall, canopies, pavilion, playing pitches,
all-weather pitch, multi-use-games-area (MUGA),
external bin and sports equipment storage and
associated landscaping and external works

Site Location:

Kingsbrook Secondary School
Land East of Aylesbury, Broughton Crossing, Bierton

Applicant:

Buckinghamshire Council

Case Officer:

Sue Pilcher

Ward(s) affected:

Aston Clinton and Bierton

Parish Council:

Kingsbrook

Date valid application received:

30th November 2020

Statutory determination date:

25th January 2021

Recommendation

It is recommended that permission be delegated to the
Service Director for Planning and Environment subject to
the draft conditions as set out in the recommendation
and any amendments as required by Officers following
receipt of final consultee comments.

Page 63

1.0

Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration

1.1

The proposed development is for a new two and three storey 6FE (1080 place) secondary
school including a 32 place Special Educational Needs (SEN) Unit, two vehicle access points
and pedestrian/cycle access point onto the approved road to the east, maintenance access
from Burcott Lane, staff car parking including electric charging points, cycle storage, sports
hall, canopies, pavilion, playing pitches, all-weather pitch, multi-use-games-area (MUGA),
external bin and sports equipment storage and associated landscaping and external works

1.2

The application, submitted by Buckinghamshire Council, is reported for determination by the
Strategic Sites Committee in line with the Buckinghamshire Council Constitution and
Planning Protocol.

1.3

Special regard has been given to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings
as required in the statutory tests contained in Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. With regard to the listed buildings and their settings it is
considered that the impact of the built form itself, would preserve and not harm the setting
of the listed buildings. There is therefore no clear reason to refuse permission on this basis.

1.4

The scheme has also been considered acceptable with mitigation in terms of its impact to
achieving well-designed places, promoting sustainable transport, meeting the challenge of
climate change and flooding, archaeology and conserving and enhancing the natural
environment (including trees and ecology), sustainable development, residential amenity
and landscape, however these do not represent benefits of the scheme but rather
demonstrate an absence of harm.

1.5

In addition, there would be considerable benefits from investment in construction and the
local economy.

1.6

It is recommended that permission be GRANTED subject to conditions as set out later in the
recommendation section in this report.

2.0

Description of Proposed Development
2.1

The application seeks consent for the development of a new two and three storey 6 form
entry (1080 place) secondary school for pupils aged 11-18 (900 pupils, 180 post age 16)
including a 32 place Special Educational Needs (SEN) Unit for children with a SEMH (Social,
Emotional and Mental Health) designation. The school is programmed to open in
September 2022 with a 6 form entry (FE) intake of Year 7 pupils, rising over time to its full
capacity to serve the demand arising from the Kingsbrook development. Whilst there is a
current need for a 6FE school only, the site offers the option to expand at a later date. The
building has therefore been futureproofed to expand in stages from 6FE, to 8FE and up to
10FE should demand necessitate the provision of additional places. The school will employ
approximately 100 members of staff. The school will be a free school and will be run by the
local authority and Department for Education approved sponsor and pupil applications to
the school will be dealt with by Buckinghamshire Council through the normal admissions
process.
Page 64

2.2

Buckinghamshire Council's SEN (Special Educational Needs) Department requested that a
SEN Unit be included within the new school plans to meet the needs of pupils in the area.
The SEN Unit will cater for 32 students. SEN Units are local Authority commissioned special
provisions within a mainstream school where the children are taught mainly within
separate classes. The teachers will be based within the SEN Unit to deliver the teaching.
The School/SEN Unit has the potential to become a hub and to provide outreach support to
others. The SEN unit is located close to the main visitor's entrance car park for easy access
for external organisations etc. Most students attending the SEN unit will arrive by taxi.

2.3

The site is located to the north-west area of the Kingsbrook development area. The sites
topography is relatively flat with a 2.5m level change running from east to west and a 1.5m
level change running north to south with the highest part of the site along the eastern
boundary. The school site is an irregular shape bounded by the Burcott Lane to the north
and a new access road under construction to the east, along with residential development.
To the west of the site is Burcott Lodge Farm which contains a number of mainly industrial
units and beyond this are sports fields currently under construction which form part of the
Kingsbrook development. To the south a green corridor is proposed as part of the wider
Kingsbrook development along the old railway line (continuing on from Railway Park),
beyond this is the electricity substation and residential development.

2.4

Vehicular access will be taken via two points utilising an in and out system from the road to
the east of the site. This road has been approved under reserved matters application
reference 15/01767/ ADP (Village 4, Orchard Green) and forms an extension to the
approved bus link road. The scheme includes car parking for staff (including disabled
spaces, mini bus spaces, coach parking and electric charging points). Cycle storage,
motorcycle parking and drop off areas are also proposed.

2.5

Proposed external areas comprise grass sports pitches, an all weather pitch, a multi-usegames-area (MUGA), trim trail, horticultural area and other ancillary open spaces for the
use of the school. The development is accompanied by a detailed soft landscaping scheme
with planting choices aimed to also maximise benefits for wildlife.

2.6

The proposed school building comprises a three storey main block with two storey finger
block extensions, which would be flat roofed. The applicants intend that the scale of the
school building sets it apart from surrounding development, but the location of the
building on the site has been developed to respond to the landscape impact assessment
which has been undertaken from key views whilst also working from a practical
requirement perspective for the school. Proposed external materials include a mix of buff
and blue/grey bricks, along with bronze and copper effect metal cladding for the elevations
and some of the flat roofs would have sedum green roofs.

2.7

The proposed internal layout of the building has been designed to meet the requirements
of the Department for Education. The library, main hall, sports hall and kitchen are located
on the ground floor. The first and second floors are composed predominantly of
classrooms, staff offices, meeting rooms and ancillary spaces. The buildings are designed to

Page 65

be highly energy efficient and low carbon and include a variety of sustainable proposals
such as PVs on the roof, green roofs and air source heating.
2.8

The building facilities and grounds will be available for hire outside of school hours for the
benefit of the local community. The precise school opening hours and community use will
be decided by the sponsor but will be within those requested within the application as
between 7am and 10pm Monday to Saturday and 8am and 6pm Sunday.

2.9

An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the outline application and
two new primary schools were included within this assessment. In dealing with subsequent
applications where environmental information was previously provided, further screening
is required to assess if the information already before the local planning authority is
adequate to assess the environmental effects of the development, or if further information
is required. Accordingly, the application is accompanied by a screening request under The
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. Officers
have concluded that, having reviewed the detail, that an EIA is not required.

2.10 There are no Public Rights of Way (PRoW) through the application site itself but there is a
public footpath to the west (BWB/9/1) between the site and the units comprising Burcott
Lodge Farm and one to the east (BWB/8/1) linking Gib Lane and the residential element of
Kingsbrook coming forward as part of village 4.
2.11 The site does not form part of a conservation area nor is it adjacent to one. There are no
listed buildings within the site but on the northern side of Burcott Lane, no. 94 is a grade II
listed farmhouse with a detached barn. Part of the site to the north-east is within an
archaeological notification site. The site is within the Hulcott Vale Landscape Character
Area. There are existing mature hedgerows and trees within the site and to its boundaries.
2.12 Following the original submission of the application, discussions have taken place between
Officers and the applicants to address, in particular, consultee concerns regarding the loss
of trees, the impact on ecology and wildlife and flooding. Subsequently amended plans and
updated reports have been submitted to address these matters which have resulted in the
retention of trees T60, located to the north eastern corner of the site, and T56 located
towards the centre. In order to accommodate the changes the all-weather pitch, rugby
pitch, the long jump and cricket net have been repositioned and amendments to the
nearby internal pedestrian paths were also required. In addition to the tree planting
already proposed for the site, additional black poplars will also be planted.

3.0
3.1

Relevant Planning History
10/02649/AOP - New urban extension comprising 2450 homes, 10ha employment land,
neighbourhood centre, two primary schools, construction of eastern link road (part) and the
Stocklake link road (rural section), green infrastructure, associates community facilities and
support infrastructure including expanded electricity sub station and flood defences –
Approved

Page 66

3.2

14/03486/ADP - Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 10/02649/AOP
relating to appearance landscaping, layout and scale for village 2 (including all mitigation
land) comprising the development of 492 residential units, community facilities, associated
landscaping and public open space, internal access and infrastructure - Details approved

3.3

14/03487/ADP - Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 10/02649/AOP
relating to appearance landscaping, layout and scale for the road infrastructure to serve
village 2 (excluding Section 278 highways works) - Details approved

3.4

15/01767/ADP - Approval of second reserved matters pursuant to planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to Village 4 (including all mitigation land) comprising the residential
development of 861 dwellings, community facilities, public open space, SuDS, mitigation
land, electricity substation and associated infrastructure to serve - Details approved

3.5

15/01768/ADP - Approval of second reserved matters pursuant to planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to the Eastern Link Road (part) comprising the extent of the Eastern
Link Road to serve Village 4 between the S278 works Junction with A418 not included within
the application site) to the roundabout serving the employment land – Details approved

3.6

15/03462/APP - Erection of Community Hall and Day Nursery in Village 2 pursuant to outline
planning permission 10/02649/AOP and reserved matters planning permission
14/03486/ADP – Approved

3.7

16/01486/APP - Variation of condition 2 to revise the approved parameter plans as
previously approved under planning permission 10/02649/AOP for a new urban extension
comprising 2450 homes, 10ha employment land, neighbourhood centre, two primary
schools, construction of eastern link road (part) and the Stocklake link road (rural section),
green infrastructure, associated community facilities and support infrastructure including
expanded electricity sub station and flood defences – Approved

3.8

16/01487/ADP - Approval of reserved matters pursuant to planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to the bus link road between Village 2, Village 4 and the second
serviced primary school site - Details approved

3.9

17/03061/APP - Variation of Conditions 1 m (Development Framework Plan), 1 q (Play
Strategy drawing) and 2 d (Parameter Plan -Green Infrastructure) relating to outline
permission 10/02649/A – Approved

3.10 18/01153/ADP - Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 10/02649/AOP
relating to 228 new homes as part of village 3 to the Kingsbrook development plus
associated infrastructure including a further section of the Stocklake link road – Details
approved
3.11 19/01732/ADP - Application for reserve matters pursuant to outline planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to access, appearance, landscaping, scale and layout for the erection
of 383 dwellings and associated infrastructure – Approved.
3.12 19/04426/ADP - Application for reserve matters pursuant to outline planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to access, appearance, landscaping, scale and layout for the erection

Page 67

of 164 homes and associated infrastructure as part of sub phases 3.6, 3.7, 3.8 and 3.9 of
Village 3 Kingsbrook – Approved.
3.13 19/04204/ADP - Reserved matter details for playing field provision and pavilion with car
parking. Details pursuant to outline planning permission 10/02649/AOP (as modified by
variation of condition permission 17/03061/APP) – Details approved.
3.14 19/02983/ADP - Reserved matters approval for 110 dwellings; retail and community facilities
including health centre, community centre, day nursery and associated infrastructure. To
meet condition 3 of outline planning permission 10/02649/AOP (as modified by variation of
conditions approval 17/03061/APP and dated 20th March 2018) – Approved.
3.15 19/04426/ADP - Application for reserve matters pursuant to outline planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to access, appearance, landscaping, scale and layout for the erection
of 164 homes and associated infrastructure as part of sub phases 3.6, 3.7, 3.8 and 3.9 of
Village 3 Kingsbrook: Approved.
3.16 20/00740/ADP - Application for reserved matters pursuant to outline planning permission
10/02649/AOP relating to access, appearance, landscaping, scale and layout for Kingsbrook
Village 3 sub phase 3.3; allied green infrastructure; eastern link road; employment park and
strategic landscaping – Approved.
3.17 CC/0024/20 - Development of a new two storey 2FE (420 place) primary academy and 52
place nursery with staff car parking including electric charging points, cycle and scooter
storage, an off-site drop off area, external play areas comprising a grass playing field, trim
trail, multi-use-games-area (MUGA), hard and soft play areas, habitat area and forest
school, associated landscaping and external works. – Approved. This primary school is
under construction and is located adjacent to Village 3.

4.0

Representations

4.1

Bierton with Broughton Parish Council has objected on grounds relating to the impact on
flooding, on Black Poplars and other trees and on accessibility/footpaths amongst other
matters. The full responses of the Parish Council and Aylesbury Town Council are set out in
Appendix A.

4.2

1 representation has been received commenting on hedgerow retention and the access to
Burcott Lane and wishing this to remain closed for general use. An objection has been
received from the Broughton Crossing Residents Association. These representations have
been clearly set out in detail below in Appendix A, but the key concerns are impact on trees
and Black Poplars, impact on habitats and protected species, mitigation is insufficient, visual
impact of lighting and the development would urbanise the area.

Page 68

5.0
5.1

Policy Considerations and Evaluation
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning
applications are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan:
Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan 2004 (AVDLP). The report will identify where policies are
not consistent with the NPPF and the weight to be afforded if the policy does not attract full
weight.
Other material considerations:
•
•
•
•
•

5.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
Emerging Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033)
Aylesbury Garden Town Masterplan July 2020
Aylesbury Transport Model 2017

The draft Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033) (VALP) is now at an advanced stage and
weight can be given to the relevant policies in the plan in accordance with the NPPF. The
overall approach as a guide is:
• Limited weight: if there is a new and untested policy introduced by a main modification
and subject to consultation.
• Moderate weight: where there are objections and the Inspector has requested main
modifications and therefore objections can be regarded as being “resolved”. The context
being that the Inspector has considered the proposed modifications and in agreeing them
for consultation, has confirmed that he is reasonably satisfied that they remedy the points of
unsoundness identified in the examination process so far (as set out in Inspector’s note
ED185).
• Considerable weight: where there are objections but the Inspector has not requested
main modifications (and as such the policy will not be changed in a material way) and the
objections can therefore be regarded as being “resolved”.
• Significant weight: where there are no objections and no modifications. These policies
are not going to be changed and the next step will be adoption and very significant weight.
The report will identify the weight to be given to the relevant emerging policies.

5.3

Bierton with Broughton Parish Council has resolved to develop a Neighbourhood Plan and
have identified an area to be covered by the neighbourhood plan which includes the
Kingsbrook area and the application site. It has been noted that since the area was identified
Kingsbrook now has its own Parish area (as does Broughton Hamlet Parish). However, the
originally designated Neighbourhood Area still stands for the purpose of the Bierton with
Broughton Neighbourhood Plan. The Plan commenced a six week ‘Pre Submission’

Page 69

consultation period on Monday, 2nd November which ran until Sunday 13th December 2020
(Regulation 14). Buckinghamshire Council have provided some suggestions to help improve
the neighbourhood plan to ensure that it meets the basic conditions and reduces scrutiny at
the examination stage. No further update is available and at the current time the Bierton
with Broughton Neighbourhood Plan carries no weight in the decision making process.
Principle of Development
5.4

Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan saved policies: GP35 (Design of new development
proposals).
Emerging Vale of Aylesbury District Local Plan (VALP): S1 (Sustainable development for
Aylesbury Vale) (considerable weight); S2 (Spatial strategy for growth) (moderate weight),
D1 (Delivering Aylesbury Garden Town), D-AGT6 (Kingsbrook), T1 (Delivering the sustainable
transport vision) (moderate weight); Policy T2 (Supporting and protecting transport
schemes), T3 (Supporting local transport schemes) (moderate weight) and BE2(Design of
new development) ( moderate weight).
CLG Letter to Chief Planners

5.5

The CLG letter to the Chief Planning Officers dated 15th August 2011 set out the
Government’s commitment to support the development of state-funded schools and their
delivery through the planning system. The policy statement reads:
“The creation and development of state funded schools is strongly in the national interest
and that planning decision-makers can and should support that objective, in a manner
consistent with their statutory obligations.”

5.6

State-funded schools include Academies and free schools as well as local authority
maintained schools. It further states that the following principles should apply with
immediate effect:
•

There should be a presumption in favour of the development of state-funded schools;

•

Local Authorities should give full and thorough consideration to the importance of
enabling the development of state-funded schools in their planning decisions;

•

Local Authorities should make full use of their planning powers to support state-funded
schools applications;

•

Local Authorities should only impose conditions that clearly and demonstrably meet the
tests as set out in Circular 11/95; Local Authorities should ensure that the process for
submitting and determining state-funded schools’ applications is as streamlined as
possible;

•

A refusal of any application for a state-funded school or the imposition of conditions will
have to be clearly justified by the Local Planning Authority.
Page 70

5.7

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) emphasises that development should be
sustainable. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that planning permissions should plan
positively for the provision and use of space and local services to enhance the sustainability
of communities. Paragraph 94 of the NPPF attaches great importance to ensuring that a
sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new
communities.

5.8

The applicants have commented that in Aylesbury town the most recent population figures
indicate the need to provide at least an additional 6 forms of entry by 2022, based on
current migration trends/existing house build rates, parental choice (i.e. grammar,
independent and out county schools) and planned admission numbers. The scale of growth
indicates the need to provide the additional secondary school places in the form of a new
school rather than trying to expand existing schools as many schools are at the limits of their
sites or for educational reasons do not want to grow. Equally, the scale of growth is beyond
that which could be accommodated via expansion of existing provision. The new St Michaels
Catholic School (Aylesbury Campus) will address the pressure on places up to 2020,
however, beyond that a further school will be required.

5.9

Whilst being a full application, the application site forms part of the Kingsbrook
development, a strategic urban extension located to the east of Aylesbury which was
granted outline planning permission in December 2013 (application reference
10/02649/AOP). As part of the infrastructure package to support the urban expansion, the
application site was designated in the Illustrative Masterplan approved under the outline
consent as being reserved for the provision of a secondary school. Subsequently a Section
106 agreement was signed which allowed for the release of the land for a secondary school.
Whilst the approved outline plans also indicated the provision of allotments to the west of
the site, these will not come forward in this location and have been shown to be provided
elsewhere as part of Village 4.

5.10 Having regard to the above matters, it is considered that the principle of the development is
acceptable and there is a need to provide this facility and the proposal is in compliance with
the NPPF and development plan policies.

Transport Matters and parking
Emerging VALP policies D-AGT6 (Kingsbrook), T1 (Delivering the sustainable transport
vision); T5 (Delivering transport in new development) (all preceding have moderate weight)
5.11 The NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport and the transport policies from the
emerging VALP are in accordance with this aim. In addition safe and suitable access should
be provided for all and, given the type of development and location, opportunities to
promote sustainable transport modes should be taken, including walking and cycling. The

Page 71

Kingsbrook development is a significant development and the provision of the secondary
school was identified in the outline permission. It is accepted that there is an element of
parental choice in terms of looking at where pupils would come from, however, the majority
of school pupils would be anticipated to be from the Kingsbrook development.
5.12 The outline permission for Kingsbrook included consideration of the traffic impact of the
provision of a secondary school and two primary schools and therefore the principle of such
provision has been previously deemed acceptable and the siting of the secondary school is in
the location anticipated by the illustrative plans accompanying the outline application. The
application is accompanied by a Transport Statement and a school travel plan.
Access points:
5.13 With regards to the main vehicular access points, the applicant has worked alongside the
Highway Authority to ensure that this layout is satisfactory from a highways safety
perspective. It is considered that the proposed entrance and exit points which adjoin the
highway are of sufficient width to accommodate the vehicle movements associated with the
proposed development. Additionally, visibility splays for the main access points are
considered to be acceptable.
5.14 Vehicle tracking analysis has been provided to confirm the layout can satisfactorily
accommodate the parking and vehicle types that will access the secondary school.
5.15 A proposed maintenance access will be provided to the south east corner of the main access
points from the new estate road currently under construction. The maintenance access will
be provided with a security gate spaced at least 6m from the edge of the new estate road to
the east. It is likely that service vehicles would infrequently visit the site to maintain the
external plant area and equipment associated with the school. A maintenance access is also
proposed onto Burcott Lane and the applicants advise that this will also be used on a very
infrequent basis for playing field maintenance and will also be provided with a security gate
which can be controlled from the school. The management team at the school will coordinate and schedule maintenance visits outside of the school peak arrival/departure
periods; typically between 0800-0900 and 1500-1600. There will be no ability for school
staff, students or visitors to use these maintenance points of access. Whilst the submitted
details do not contain any visibility splays or tracking information for the maintenance
access, the Highways Officer is satisfied that the track is wide enough for the proposed
movements. Furthermore, whilst the drawing does not show the full western visibility splay
(ending at around 36m) it is not envisaged that there would be any unacceptable issue with
the remaining 8m. As noted by Bierton with Broughton Parish Council, Burcott Lane is
subject to speed and is narrow in places with bends in the road limiting visibility. The
applicants have confirmed that the maintenance access off Burcott Lane would only be used
for maintenance access and it is considered reasonable to impose a planning condition to
ensure that this is the case.

Walking and cycling

Page 72

5.16 The development proposes a landscaped pedestrian and cycle access point in the south east
corner of the site which would be separate from the proposed vehicular access points. The
closest PRoW to the proposed secondary school is located along the western boundary of
the site; PRoW BWB/9/1 connecting Bierton with Broughton. The proposed green corridor
and future footway/cycleway running along the southern boundary and outside of the site
connects with PRoW BWB/9/1. The school site is centrally located to the residential areas of
the Kingsbrook development and therefore pupils could access the site both by walking and
cycling and also through the use of public transport as the main access is along a bus route,
with a bus stop in the vicinity of the site entrance.
5.17 Within the site provision is made for covered cycle storage comprising 324 spaces in two
areas of the site, a smaller storage area (36 no. capacity) to the north adjacent to the SEN
building and a larger capacity store (288 no. capacity) to the southern boundary. The current
standards within AVDLP for schools states that the amount of cycle parking will need to be
decided on merit. Within the emerging VALP 1 cycle space per 20 full time staff and students
would be required resulting in a need for 61 spaces. Whilst the level of provision indicated is
far in excess of this, having regard to encouraging the use of non-car modes of transport to
the site, the level of provision is considered to be acceptable.
Parking
5.18 The proposed parking provision would be as follows:
• 114 car spaces inc visitor parking
• 6 disabled spaces
• 2 mini bus spaces
• 2 dedicated coach parking spaces
• 324 cycle spaces (plus space for future expansion to suit demand)
• 4 Motorcycle parking spaces
• 6 drop-off bays
• 1 delivery bay
• 12 of the car parking spaces and 1 of the disabled spaces would have EV charge points

5.19 The current AVDLP standards require 1 space per full-time equivalent member of staff plus 1
space per 6 full-time equivalent students over the age of 16 (based on the establishment at
full capacity); a proportion of parking spaces should also be allocated for visitors. This would
result in a need for 130 spaces plus the visitor spaces. The emerging VALP requires 1 space
per full time equivalent member of staff which would equate to 100 spaces. With regard to
motorcycle parking, a minimum of one space would be required, 5% of spaces should be for
disabled use (within 50m of the entrance). In respect of electric vehicle parking, 4% of the
spaces should be provided with facilities for charging, equating to a need for 5 such spaces.
Having regard to the level of provision on site, and noting that a travel plan accompanies the
Page 73

application, it is considered that this level of provision for all types of parking would be
acceptable in this location bearing in mind the walking, cycling and public transport facilities
available to access the site as well. As discussed above, there is potential for the school to
require expansion in the future and should this be the case there would be sufficient space
within the site frontage to allow further parking spaces to be provided, if required.

Travel Plan
5.20 The application has been accompanied by a school travel plan which seeks to achieve a 10%
reduction in vehicle trips within five years of the school opening by:
1. Reduce the number of single occupancy vehicle trips on the highway network;
2. To encourage the use of all forms of more sustainable transport;
3. To promote the health and environmental benefits of more sustainable transport; and
4. Provide information to allow users (users) of the site to make informed choices about the
form of transport they use.
5.21 A Travel Plan Co-ordinator will actively encourage all users to travel by more sustainable
forms of transport including staff, pupils and parents to the school. A variety of methods will
be used including travel information packs to encourage walking, cycling, the use of public
transport and car sharing. The travel plan will be monitored and reviewed.
5.22 The travel plan is currently under review by the Council’s Travel Plan Team and Members
will be updated with their comments.
Conclusion on transport matters
5.23 Having regard to the above matters it is considered that overall the development would be
acceptable on transport grounds and that sufficient parking would be provided. The
development would accord with policy GP24 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan,
emerging policies D-AGT6, T1, T5, T6, T7 and T8 of the VALP and with the NPPF.

Impact on Public Rights of Way
AVDLP – GP84 (Public rights of way)
Emerging policy T7 (Footpaths and cycle routes) (moderate weight)

5.24 Policy GP84 of the AVDLP states that in considering applications for development affecting a
public right of way the Council will have regard to the convenience, amenity and public
enjoyment of the route and the desirability of its retention or improvement for users,
including people with disabilities and these aims are carried through into the emerging VALP
policy T7.

Page 74

5.25 There are no Public Rights of Way through the application site itself but there is a public
footpath to the west (BWB/9/1) between the site and the units comprising Burcott Lodge
Farm and one to the east (BWB/8/1) linking Gib Lane and the residential element of
Kingsbrook coming forward as part of village 4.
5.26 Footpath BWB/8/1Iinks the canal bridge in the south with Aylesbury Road, Bierton to the
north, close to the new A418 / eastern link road junction. The central length of this footpath
is subsumed into the Kingsbrook residential development and disappears. It's not yet clear
exactly where the new permanent footpath alignment will follow, but initial discussions with
Barratt Homes suggest the GI corridor east of the electricity sub-station is most likely. The
northern part remains unaffected, but this passes across agricultural fields, has a number of
stiles across it which are outside the council's control to replace, and passes beside a
residential garden to the west of Corner Farm. It is also unsurfaced and unlit, and is
unsuitable as a route to school. Footpath BWB/9/1 and Burcott Lane pass respectively
alongside the proposed new school boundary on south-western and north-western sides.
Both Footpaths BWB/9/1 (linking Burcott Lane with Pulver Road) and BWB/6/1 (linking
Burcottt Lane with Parsons Lane) have evolved into a busy walking route to Bierton Junior
School for Oakfield Village residents and vice versa for Bierton residents funnelling into
Kingsbrook. As a result of this increased pedestrian demand, developers have funded surface
improvements to both BWB/9/1 and BWB/6/1, and constructed new roadside footways
along the north side of Burcott Lane where these didn't previously exist. In discussions with
the Council’s Strategic Access Officer and the agent it has recently been confirmed that as
well as the existing public right of way to the west and the footpath / cycle way to the south,
it is understood that Barratts will be implementing the footpath to the north of the primary
school land which will provide access to both the primary and secondary schools from
Bierton to the east.
5.27 Turning to the application, two pedestrian access points are shown into the school, located
close together, from the east. An informal pedestrian and cycling route is shown north of the
sub-station road and south of the new secondary school (the 'Railway Park') leading east
from Footpath BWB/9/1 (not submitted as part of this application). The Council’s Strategic
Access Officer is of the opinion that this corridor is important for the sustainability of the
development as a whole as there are large blocks of housing to the east wishing to gain
walking and cycling access to Bierton's residential areas and facilities via Burcott Lane.
5.28 With regard to the western boundary treatment along Footpath BWB/9/1, a 1.8m high
weldmesh fence is proposed, situated 2m from the footpath edge. When combined with the
existing metal palisade fence to Burcott Lodge Farm, there is some concern that this would
not provide an attractive route as a double-fenced corridor would be created for half the
length of this link, which can be intimidating and leads to walkers feeling unsafe, especially
while this remains unlit. There would be hedging planted within the boundary of the school
which over time would soften the appearance of the fencing and with the width of the
pathway it is not considered that the resultant appearance of the footpath would unduly
discourage use of this right of way.

Page 75

5.29 The Strategic Access Officer has also raised a concern relating to the surface treatment and
lighting of the Railway Walk 'Footpath and Cycleway' as on other parts of the Kingsbrook.
However, this land is outside of the application site and control of the applicant and
therefore it would not be possible to require any upgrades in this respect.
5.30 It is noted that the proposed maintenance access off Burcott Lane or the access off the right
angle bend on Burcott Lane could be used as an additional school pedestrian/cycle entrance
and discussions have taken place with the applicant in this regard in an effort to improve
accessibility. However, the applicants have discounted this given the security and safety
concerns that would result in respect of safeguarding of the children. They have commented
that the pedestrian/cycle movement strategy to the school has been designed around the
need to provide one single controlled pedestrian access point to the south east of the site as
a result of the need to ensure pupil safety and that the access point is centrally located to
the surrounding residential areas of the Kingsbrook development. Therefore whilst the
parameter route plan from the outline planning application indicated a route along the
northern edge of the school site, the applicants do not wish to pursue this. Furthermore it is
noted that the majority of pupils will emanate from the Kingsbrook development itself and
there will be less of a requirement to access the site on foot/cycle from the north. If that is
the case however, there is the ability to access the school via the existing public footpath to
the west and proceed to enter the school grounds from the main entrance to the east of the
site.
5.31 Representations have also raised concerns about access across the sports field to the west of
the school site. The school application does not propose any amendments to the access or to
affect the approved plans for the new sports field to the west (reserved matters application
19/04204/ADP) and as such the school proposals will not result in any uncontrolled access to
this field or the properties at Broughton Crossing.
5.32 In summary it is considered that existing PRoW network would not be adversely affected by
the development and regard has been had to the accessibility of the site and access to the
proposed school by walking and cycling. Whilst it may have been preferred to have allowed
access via Burcott Lane the safeguarding issues raised are acknowledged such that an access
at this point cannot be provided. On this basis it is considered that the development would
accord with policy GP84 of the AVDLP and with emerging policy T7 of the VALP and with the
NPPF in this regard.

Landscape Impact
AVDLP Policies GP.35 (Design of new development proposals)and GP.38 (Landscaping of new
development proposals), GP.39 (Existing trees and hedgerows)
Emerging VALP policies BE2 (Design of new development) D1 Delivering AGT, and NE4 (Landscape
character and locally important landscape) (moderate weight)
5.33 The NPPF sets out that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built
environment and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. AVDLP policy
GP35 is consistent with the objectives of the NPPF and states that the design of new

Page 76

development proposals should respect and complement; the physical characteristics of the
site and surroundings, the building tradition, ordering, form and materials of the locality; the
historic scale and context of the setting; the natural qualities and features of the area; and
the effect on important public views and skylines. AVDLP policies GP38 and GP39 are also in
conformity with the NPPF and states that new development schemes should include
landscaping proposals designed to help buildings fit in with and complement their
surroundings and conserve existing natural and other features of value as far as possible and
regard should be had to existing planting.
5.34 Emerging Policies D1 and BE2 of VALP reflect these. Policy NE4 of the VALP seeks to ensure
that scheme respect the local context and landscape character of the area.

Landscape and Settlement Character and Visual Impacts:
5.35 Landscape and settlement character: The site is located within the Hulcott Vale Landscape
Character Area (LCA) which is characterised by an extensive area of low lying vale landscape
predominantly in pastoral use and notable for its range of aquatic habitats located to the
north, east and south of the Bierton Ridge. With the exception of the A413 the LCA is devoid
of infrastructure and access by rights of way is extremely limited, conveying a very remote
character in the eastern parts best experienced from the towpath of the Aylesbury Arm of
the Grand Union Canal. The river Thame runs across the Vale, between the Weedon Ridge to
the north and the Bierton Ridge to the south. This part of the LCA has a more remote
character and a greater sense of visual containment. It is linked to the rest of the vale
landscape by the river corridor and the predominant characteristics of large open arable
fields and clipped hedgerows. The area is overlooked in long distance views from the
surrounding areas.
5.36 The impact on the wider landscape and settlement character was considered acceptable at
the time the outline permission for Kingsbrook was granted along with the impact on the
more local landscape that the development would bring. Having regard to the accepted
location of the secondary school on the illustrative masterplan for the Kingsbrook
development and noting the work undertaken in establishing the best position for the
building itself within the site, as undertaken within the Design and Access Statement, it is
considered that the impact on the landscape and settlement character would be acceptable
subject to appropriate mitigation planting.
Visual effects:
5.37 A Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA) has been produced by RSK to assess the likely
landscape and visual amenity effects of the proposed school. The assessment confirms that
the topography of the area is relatively level and that the large and mature field boundaries
around the site, together with field boundaries within the wider area and the residential
development adjacent to the site create a development that is visually well contained. It
confirms that the main school building is located in the optimal position within the site to
provide a cohesive element within the wider Kingsbrook urban extension and reducing any
potential visual impacts. The assessment concludes that the development would result in
Page 77

only moderate adverse effects on the landscape character and limited moderate adverse
visual effects. It is considered that the development would clearly form part of the wider
consented Kingsbrook development when it is finally built out and in that context would not
result in prominent changes to the characteristics of the wider landscape.
5.38 Between the school building and the east boundary is a space dedicated to pupil and visitor
arrival. The applicants consider this area to be visually important as it serves to soften the
frontage of the school building and creates a visual link to the green corridor and Railway
Park. It is agreed that this area is visually important and whilst it is acknowledged that this
area will certainly provide an impressive setting and entrance for the school building that
will allow staff and pupils to sit in seating areas away from other busy social spaces to the
rear of the school, it is noted that the applicant proposes that there will be a clear
separation for pedestrian and cycle access away from vehicles and from the surrounding
street and open spaces by the installation of 1.8m high vertical bar railing fence. The
applicant has indicated that this fence is required for safe guarding reasons. Whilst the
location of the fence could potentially undermine the contribution that the space will have
in softening the frontage of the school boundary and the school’s relationship with the
surrounding spaces, it is noted that there will be soft landscaping to the front of the fencing
such that its impact will be lessened in the street scene.
5.39 The soft landscape strategy for the site aims to support the wider ethos of Kingsbrook
wildlife-friendly development and sustainable design. The Ecological Assessment has
informed the choice of proposed plant species throughout the site which are largely native
and/or of recognised value for wildlife. It is considered that the planting proposed would
provide a visually attractive environment that appropriately mitigates the proposed
development on the areas around the school and it screens and enhances the site and wider
context. The proposed planting uses a mixture of native and ornamental trees, hedge, shrub,
groundcover planting and wildflower grasses that will provide all year-round interest and
add wildlife/biodiversity value.
-

Boundaries: To the inside of the existing northern hedge along Burcott Lane additional
shrub and tree planting will be added in between the existing hedge and secure fence
line. Planting to the south and west boundaries is mainly proposed native hedges and
trees.

-

Restricted secure zones: Swales and maintenance access only areas – these are mainly
planted with wildflower mixes and grasses suitable for both wet and dry conditions. In
the south west corner pockets of additional native shrub and tree planting is proposed.

-

Pupil social spaces: A mixture of shrub and ground cover planting is proposed with
individual specimen trees.

-

Arrival space: The planting within the arrival space to the front of the school will
comprise the use of shrub and ground cover planting and specimen trees.

-

Car park and drop off areas: The car park is divided up with planting comprising a
mixture of shrub, hedge and tree planting.

Page 78

-

Front of school – (Landscape entrance approach) The approach to the school has a
‘parkland’ character that aims to create a setting for the school building through the use
of shrub, hedge and tree planting and wildflower lawns.

-

Swales - Along the west boundary and at the lowest part of the site are a series of swales
which form part of the sustainable drainage strategy. The swales will be formed with a
natural appearance and will be fenced off to restrict pupil access and will act as habitat
areas to improve site wide biodiversity.

5.40 It is clear that a number of hedgerows within the site will be removed to accommodate the
development and this is discussed below. However, sufficient landscaping is provided overall
to mitigate for its loss. Comments have been made in the tree/hedgerow section below
regarding improvements that can be made to the range of species of tree planting and in
respect of maintenance and these can be conditioned.
5.41 The proposed development will introduce new lighting into the currently unlit fields as
required for school opening hours and for community use out of school hours. A lighting
strategy has accompanied the application and states that the lighting will be provided to
create a safe environment for people, traffic movements and contribute to the building
security and that light pollution will be kept to a minimum with little or zero glare. To enable
the use of the site for community use it is accepted that lighting will be required. However,
an appropriate condition can restrict the hours of use of the lighting such that the adverse
impact on the wider and local landscape is not unacceptable overall and a further condition
is recommended to ensure that no lighting other than that forming part of the application is
installed without the prior approval of the Council.
5.42 A variety of hard landscape material is proposed, defined by use, location and to be robust
and of low maintenance. Main vehicle routes would be finished using a vehicle grade
macadam finish whilst parking bays and drop off areas are finished in a vehicle paving block
and form part of the sustainable drainage strategy. Primary pedestrian and cycle routes to
the front of the building are to be finished using a mixture resin bound gravel and high
quality block paving and secondary pedestrian routes close to the car park area are to be
finished using a pedestrian grade macadam finish. Around building entrance areas will be
block paving block and other pedestrian routes and external courtyards will have a macadam
finish dependent on maintenance / emergency / delivery access requirements. Sports /
outdoor gym and play equipment areas will be surfaced in a variety of finishes dependent on
location and sport type and will include grass, synthetic and polymetric surfaces, porous
macadam and rubber crumb. Service areas will be surfaced in a concrete finish and the
service and maintenance access routes will be finished in a reinforced grasscrete surface.
Overall it is considered that the hard surfacing proposed would have an acceptable impact
on the character and appearance of the development and on the local landscape.

Page 79

Conclusions on landscape impact
5.43 It is clear that, given the scale of the development, the proposed school would have an
adverse impact on the local landscape, visual and settlement character. However, it would
be viewed in the context of the existing Kingsbrook development and it falls within the scope
of the type of development identified for this site within the outline illustrative masterplan.
There would be the loss of fields, hedgerows and trees within the site to accommodate the
development but the proposed planting (subject to improvements to tree species and
maintenance) and retention of boundary hedgerows and trees (which would be
supplemented) could ensure that sufficient mitigation is provided. On this basis it is
considered that the development would accord with AVDLP Policies GP.35, GP.38 and GP.39,
emerging policies BE2 and NE4 of the VALP and with the NPPF.

Trees and hedgerows
AVDLP GP39 (Existing trees and hedgerows) and GP40 (Retention of existing trees and hedgerows)
Emerging AVDLP NE8 (Trees, hedgerows and woodlands) (moderate weight)
5.44 Policies GP39 and GP40 of the AVDLP seek to preserve existing trees and hedgerows where
they are of amenity, landscape or wildlife value and this is also reflected in emerging policy
NE8. GP40 states that in dealing with planning proposals the Council will particularly oppose
the loss of native Black Poplars. The NPPF also states that planning permission should be
refused for development resulting in the loss of veteran trees found outside ancient
woodland, unless the need for, and benefits of, the development in that location clearly
outweigh the loss.
5.45 Along the northern boundary of the site adjacent to Burcott Lane is an existing wellestablished hedge and the proposal will look to undertake some general maintenance and
retain this hedge as a long-term landscape feature that will provide immediate impact and
screening. There will be some impact as the existing access point from Burcott Lane will be
relocated to provide the maintenance access. However, with supplementary planting this
hedgerow will be retained. Along the eastern boundary is a well-established hedge and the
development proposals include general maintenance and retention of most of this hedge
save for the pedestrian and vehicular access points. To the southern boundary is an existing
well-established belt of hedges and individual trees which run along a disused railway line
outside of the site which the wider masterplan looks to utilise as a green corridor. Along the
western boundary is a public right of way footpath BWB/8/1 and adjacent hedgerows and
trees. All existing planting will be protected during the construction phase.
5.46 Within the site itself there are a number of hedgerows which will have to be removed to
accommodate the development. The applicant has given the following reasons for this
removal:
-

Location - these hedges currently dissect the overall site into 3 parcels of land forming
triangular uneconomical spaces of various unusable sizes

Page 80

-

Levels - sports pitches and drainage strategies require large plateaus to be created. The
hedges need to be removed to generate this size of space

-

Visibility - an educational facility requires openness and visibility so pupil activity can be
observed and monitored – these hedges would restrict this.

5.47

The applicants have explained that it is not feasible to retain trees T46, T48, T49, T50, T53,
T51 or T52 (the latter two being in significant decline) by reason of the arrangement of the
sports pitches and associated regrading and drainage works required. They have
commented that existing trees are one of a number of constraints influencing the design
of the scheme, which has been driven overall by the parameters of the Illustrative
Masterplan for Kingsbrook which established the principle of a secondary school on this
site and the indicative location of built form and sports provision.

5.48

Discussions have taken place between Officers and the applicants to address consultee
concerns regarding the loss of trees, the impact on ecology and wildlife and flooding, the
latter of which is discussed later in this report. Subsequently amended plans and updated
reports have been submitted to address these matters which have resulted in the
retention of tree T60 located to the north eastern corner of the site and tree T56 located
towards the centre. In order to accommodate the changes the all-weather pitch, rugby
pitch, the long jump and cricket net have been repositioned and amendments to the
nearby pedestrian paths were also required. In addition to the tree planting already
proposed for the site, additional black poplars will also be planted. The plans have also
been updated to show the width that the new western hedgerow will mature to (2m)
which will beneficial for screening and will assist in the mitigation of loss of hedges within
the site as well as offering biodiversity enhancements.

5.49

The proposal as amended now requires the removal of 7 individual trees and 1 group of
trees. Of these 4 individual trees are rated category B, and 1 is category A. There remains
minor encroachment into the RPA of a category A tree. The arboricultural report now
includes reference to black poplars, but it is indicated that the applicant only accepts T60
as being a native black poplar and 3 potential black poplar trees remain proposed to be
removed. It is the Council’s Tree Officer’s opinion that tree T60 is a veteran tree, and
whilst it is now proposed for retention regard must be had to its veteran status and to a
sufficient buffer to the tree. The agent has submitted further detail as outlined below and
this is being reviewed by the Council’s Tree Officer and Members will be updated.

5.50

Several of the trees to be removed are of high quality, and many have visual prominence
from the adjacent PRoW particularly given the current character of the site being open
rural fields with scattered large trees such that there would be a significant impacts in
terms of visual amenity. However, Officers note that the site forms part of the wider
Kingsbrook development and that the context of the wider site will change to one of built
development. In addition, the proposal has now looked to retain trees where possible and
it is considered that the removals are now specifically justified in the context of the
proposal. However, it is accepted that there will be significant loss of trees and
hedgerows. Therefore great importance is placed on mitigation, and particularly new

Page 81

planting and while a ‘like for like’ approach is not considered achievable, commensurate
value can be achieved in other ways.
5.51 The Council’s Tree Officer notes that whilst new planting includes significant numbers of
new trees, 189 in total, there is a very limited species diversity, and over reliance on a few
species: Of the 10 species total, two (birch and lime) make up 50% of the total proposed
trees, with a further 30% from two more species (hornbeam and field maple). Whilst seven
new native black poplars are proposed, overall there is an opportunity to improve species
interest and resilience and also to ensure sufficient soil volumes are provided for the new
tree planting (some adjacent to the amphitheatre is insufficient). In addition maintenance
details should refer to BS8545:2014 and the tree pit specifications should also make
reference to this standard. The agent has reviewed the comments of the Tree Officer and
has submitted further information to address the points made. This includes:
-

Oak, Alder and other species have replaced most of Birch and Lime along the site
boundary;

-

Alnus glutinosa, Sorbus and Prunus avium are added to the western boundary line to
increase biodiversity;

-

There are now 191 trees in total in the scheme. 13.6% are Birch; 17% are Acer; 20% are
Hornbeam; 16% are Lime and number of Oak has doubled from 7 to 14;

-

Hedgerow mixes are double staggered rows;

-

Reference to BS:8545 has been added in the notes;

-

Blue Green Urban’s RootSpace soil cells are applied to tree pits for the trees planted in
the hard surface near the amphitheatre, as well as the tree in the entrance plaza.

-

In terms of the RPA for T60, its veteran status has been considered and the site
boundary fence is placed 18m from the tree trunk, which is 5m beyond T60’s 13m
canopy spread.

The comments of the Tree Officer will be reported to Members but an initial view given is
that the majority of outstanding issues appear to have been considered.
5.52 In summary, with regard to the impact on trees and hedgerows, on the basis that the
additional detail is provided in respect of the species of tree planting and in respect of
maintenance details is acceptable, and subject to conditions, it is considered that the
development would accord with policies GP38-40 of the AVDLP and with emerging policy
NE8 of the VALP and with the NPPF.

Raising the quality of place making and design
AVDLP - GP.35 (Design of new development proposals), GP.38 (Landscaping of new development
proposals) and GP45 (Secured by Design)
Emerging VALP policy D-AGT6 (Kingsbrook), BE2 (Design of new development) and NE4 (Landscape
character and locally important landscape) (moderate weight)

Page 82

5.53 AVDLP Policy GP.35 requires the design of new development to respect and compliment the
site, context and surroundings; AVDLP Policy GP.45 requires development to assist crime
prevention and AVDLP Policy GP38 relates to landscaping of new proposals. Policy BE2 of the
emerging VALP requires all new development proposals to respect and complement the
physical characteristics of the site and its surroundings and local distinctiveness and
vernacular character of the locality, in terms of ordering, form, proportions, architectural
detailing and materials, the natural qualities and features of the area, and the effect on
important public views and skylines.
5.54 The scale of the school building, whose height would vary between 8m high for the rear
projections and 13m high for the main building, has been designed to set it apart from
surrounding houses. The provision of the parkland setting to the front of the school
reinforces this, albeit it that the access points to the east will ensure that it is easily
accessible from one of the main routes through Kingsbrook. The resultant building will be a
significant landmark in the locality which would be appropriate given that it will become a
key part of local community. The Landscape Character Assessment has informed the placing
of the building on the site to ensure that its scale does not overwhelm its surroundings.
Whilst the building height illustrative plan from the outline approval for Kingsbrook
anticipated a building of two to two and a half stories high for the school building and the
development would be three stories high in places, this is a full application. It is not
considered that its height or massing, which would be broken down into constituent parts
and further addressed through a variety of complementary materials and finishes, would be
unacceptable in this location, having regard to the context of the site and the nature of the
proposed development.
5.55 The form of the building consists of four masses which cluster separate facilities. The main
spine is the heart of the facility where the majority of the classes, offices, kitchen and dining
are located. The second block houses the SEN Unit on the ground floor, a unit with its own
identity and entrance that is part of the main building but can also be separated. Above the
SEN unit are the school’s SEN area and Business teaching. The third block contains the sports
hall and its ancillary spaces while the fourth block contains the main hall. The layout and
form of the building creates two courtyards to the rear (west) of the building providing
access to outdoor dining and breakout spaces.
5.56 Proposed external materials include a mix of buff and blue/grey bricks, along with bronze
and copper effect metal cladding for the elevations and some of the flat roofs would have
sedum green roofs (rear projecting wings, pavilion, cycle stores - which would also benefit
SuDS drainage design and biodiversity). Solar panels would also be placed on some roofs.
Textured brick panels and grey windows frames and doors are also proposed. The proposed
materials are considered to be acceptable and they would complement the colours of the
local vernacular whilst displaying a more distinctive appearance to the building which will
play a prominent role in the community. They will assist in breaking up the massing of the
building and provide variety in design detailing to add interest.

Page 83

5.57 A series of large archways between the sports and main halls mark the entrance. Each arch is
progressively smaller and finished in a separate material mirroring the main facade cladding
materials. The SEN Entrance will have an external feature glazed brick wall to contrast with
the main building palette and highlight its location and there will also be soft landscaping in
this area. An external canopy will shelter the separate entrance area from the main school.
5.58 In order to provide different levels of security and openness a site security strategy has been
developed and coordinated with existing retained boundary treatments and features. Up to
90% of site boundary is secured using a 1.8m high weldmesh fence. Along the north and east
boundaries this fence sits on the school side of the existing retained hedgerows whilst on
the south and west boundaries new native hedge and tree planting is proposed to the inside
of the fence line. The fence to the main pedestrian and cycle entrance point is a 1.8m high
vertical bar fencing with feature gates, set back into the site. Additional hedge, shrub and
tree planting along this boundary will also help to soften the approach to the school site and
enhance the existing retained hedge. Internally to the site the school building acts as part of
the secure line along with additional 1.8m high weldmesh fencing connecting back to both
the north and south boundaries. The SEN area, Horticultural area and cycle storage areas are
all secured with 1.8m high weldmesh fencing. Both the All-Weather Pitch and MUGA are
fenced using 3m high weldmesh sports fencing whilst the outdoor gym has a 1.2m high
weldmesh fence around it. Both swales are fenced off to ensure students can not access
these areas. The bin store (close boarded) and external plant (louvred) areas are fenced
using a 1.8m high timber fence. All access gates are to match height and material fence type
and colour, widths vary dependent on location and access requirements.
5.59 It is considered that the development overall would represent good design and that
appropriate regard has been had to physical characteristics of the site and its surroundings
and local distinctiveness and the effect on important public views and skylines whist
addressing required matters of security. As such it is considered that the development would
accord with policies GP.35, GP.38 and GP45 of the AVDLP, emerging VALP policies D-AGT6,
BE2 and NE4 and with the NPPF.
Building sustainability
Emerging Policy S1 (Sustainable Development for Aylesbury Vale) and C3 (Renewable
Energy) of VALP (moderate weight)
5.60 Policy S1 of the VALP states all development must comply with the principle of sustainable
development set out in the NPPF. Emerging Policy C3 of the VALP seeks to ensure that all
development schemes achieve greater efficiency in the use of natural resources, including
measures to minimise energy use with 10% of energy to be delivered via a decentralised and
renewable energy or low zero carbon source.
5.61 The development would be required to be constructed using sustainable methods of
construction. The development has incorporated environmental sustainability
considerations into the scope/specification stages of the project which exceed the current
Department for Education requirements for new schools and align with the Buckinghamshire

Page 84

Council Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy and its emerging actions. An Energy Report
prepared by Anderson Green Ltd has been submitted with the application. This presents the
analysis of, and decision on, the use of different low or zero carbon technologies in the
development. It confirms that it is proposed to use a combination of energy efficient design
measures, air-source heat pump for heating and hot water and photovoltaic panels on the
roof which will achieve a 44% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions from the 2013 Building
Regulations Target Emissions Rate. It also confirms that the development has been designed
to be ‘futureproofed’ with the roof area having space for additional PV panels if necessary.
Electric charging points are also proposed to the car park with space to expand the provision
of necessary.
5.62 Having regard to the above matters it is considered that the development would accord with
emerging Policies S1 and C3 of the VALP and with the NPPF.

Amenity of Local Residents
AVDLP - GP.8 (Protection of the amenity of residents)
Emerging VALP policy BE3 (Protection of the amenity of residents) and NE5 Pollution, air quality
and contaminated land (both considerable weight)
5.63 The NPPF in its core planning principles seeks to secure a good standard of amenity for all
existing and future occupants. Policies GP8 and GP95 of the AVDLP seeks to protect the
amenities of residents and policy GP8 in particular states that planning permission will not
be granted where the proposed development would unreasonably harm any aspect of the
amenity of nearby residents when considered against the benefits arising from the proposal,
and emerging policy BE3 reflects this.

Page 85

Noise and floodlighting
5.64 Whilst there are no environmental health objections to this application the noise impact
assessment produced by RSK, report reference 298116-RSK-RP-002-(OO), has identified
potential noise mitigation required in relation to indoor ambient noise levels, construction
works, plant noise emissions and use of the outdoor games areas including the MUGA and
all weather pitch. It is suggested that the noise mitigations identified be incorporated in the
development and thereafter maintained and this can be reasonably secured by planning
condition.
5.65 There are particular concerns regarding the use of the MUGA and all weather pitch outside
of normal school hours, both in relation to the potential noise impacts and the impacts of
floodlighting from these facilities. The lighting assessment provided indicates that light spill
towards the houses on Engine Lane to the south of the site will be minimized with minimal
light spill impacting the properties themselves. However, the use of the floodlighting is likely
to be clearly visible to these properties through the vegetation in the green corridor
separating them from the school and will draw attention to the use of these facilities. Given
these concerns it is suggested that a management plan needs to be developed for use of
these facilities outside of normal school hours to ensure that noise levels are minimized as
far is reasonably practicable and that the floodlighting is carefully controlled to ensure that
these facilities are only lit when necessary. A condition is recommended to secure this.
Loss of privacy/overlooking
5.66 The school building itself would be located some distance from the residential properties to
the north, east and south of the site. The proposed sports pitches and ancillary areas would
be closer but it is not considered that with intervening vegetation that there would be any
loss of privacy or overlooking to existing or approved dwellings (forming part of Kingsbrook)
not yet constructed.
5.67 Local concerns have been raised regarding the access to the school site through the
approved sports pitches to the west of the site approved under 19/04204/ADP which would
give rise to undue disturbance. As clarified above, the school proposals do not include any
alterations to rights of way or other access which are outside of the application site. The
sports pitches application included a gated vehicular access off Burcott Lane and the
approved plans indicate two pedestrian access points along the eastern boundary with the
public footpath (BWB/9/1) to ensure accessibility to the wider Kingsbrook development. A
planning condition has also been imposed requiring that the sports facilities including the
playing pitch, changing room building and parking areas, shall not be used for the purposes
hereby permitted except between the hours of 07.00 and 22.00 hours Monday to Saturday
and 08.00 and 18.00 hours in Sundays. It is not considered that the proposed school
application would result in any undue noise and disturbance to residential amenities on
accessibility grounds.
Conclusions on residential amenity
5.68 In summary it is considered that the proposed development would not unduly harm the
residential amenities of nearby properties in terms of noise and disturbance, their light,
outlook or privacy. Although there will be some impact from the use of the sports facilities

Page 86

outside of normal school hours, conditions are recommended to ensure that the appropriate
management of the facilities takes place along with a condition restricting the hours of use
of the facilities. On this basis the development would accord with Policies GP8 and GP95 of
the AVDLP, emerging policies BE3 and NE5 of the VALP and NPPF advice.

Flooding
Emerging VALP policies I4 (Flooding) and I5 (water resources and wastewater infrastructure) (both
moderate weight)
5.69 Paragraph 163 of the NPPF requires new development to consider the risk of flooding to the
site and elsewhere. Developments need to demonstrate resilience to climate change and
support the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy which is seen as central to the
economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. This will not
only involve considerations in terms of design and construction but also the locational
factors which influence such factors. Development should be steered away from vulnerable
areas such as those subject to flood risk whilst ensuring that it adequately and appropriately
deals with any impacts arising.
5.70 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 which is defined by the Environment
Agency as being at low risk of flooding. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has accompanied the
application and the Council as the Local Lead Flood Authority has considered the information
provided.
Flood risk
5.71 The majority of the site lies in an area of very low risk of surface water flooding (meaning
there is less than 0.1% likelihood of flooding occurring in a given year). There are however 2
localised areas of flooding shown towards the north of the site (in the location of the grass
playing fields) that are shown to be at high risk of surface water flooding with anticipated
depths of between 0.15m and 0.60m. Additionally there is an area to the south west of the
site at high risk of surface water flooding (meaning there is greater than 3.3% likelihood of
flooding occurring in a given year) with anticipated flood depths of between 0.15m and
0.60m for the 3.3% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) event. This risk increases in extent
for both the 1% and 0.1% AEP events.
5.72 In order to alleviate the existing surface water flood risk shown in 'location 1', the proposed
development levels have been designed to direct water away from this location, with the
levels of the field sports pitch set to ensure fall towards the swale and pond to the west and
south-west of the site. Whilst site levels will be directed away from 'location 1', the applicant
has provided insufficient information regarding the existing flood risk to the site in 'location
2'. At the detailed design stage of the planning process the applicant must demonstrate that
the proposed above ground SuDS components are not located in an area of existing flood
risk. To demonstrate this it is requested that detail from the Environment Agency is overlain
on the drainage layout to demonstrate whether or not the proposed pond is located in an
area of existing surface water flooding. The applicant must demonstrate that the SuDS

Page 87

components are not located in any areas of existing flood risk as to ensure that their storage
capacity is not reduced. A condition is recommended so that at the detailed planning stage
sufficient information is provided to address this matter.
Surface water drainage
5.73 Surface water runoff generated by the proposed development is to be attenuated on site,
prior to discharging at a rate of 26l/s to a watercourse which borders the west of the site.
Infiltration is not viable as a means of surface water disposal at this site, as identified during
the outline application for the wider Kingsbrook development. The surface water drainage
strategy in principle is acceptable, subject to a condition as discussed below in respect to the
investigation of the use of further multifunctional SuDS components.
Pumps
5.74 As the scheme is inclusive of a pump (pumping station) the applicant must provide a
comprehensive maintenance plan for the pumping station along with details of a pump
warning system in the event of pump failure. The National Planning Policy Framework
(para.163) requires that planning applications demonstrate the any residual risk (such as
pump failure) can be safely managed. At present the drainage strategy does not provide
information on pump maintenance and details of exceedance routes (volume, depth and
direction) in the event of failure, blockage or a rainfall event that exceeds the provided
storage and this information can be reasonably secured by condition.
Above ground SuDS
5.75 Discussions have taken place regarding the use of above ground SuDS components as the
LLFA have raised concerns that the assessment of SuDS components is not sufficient. Whilst
they acknowledge that the site has the potential for expansion in the future and areas have
been reserved for this it remains that there are multiple locations on site where above
ground SuDS components can and should be prioritised. At the detailed design stage of the
planning process, the applicant must undertake a detailed assessment of the viability of
including additional above ground SuDS components to demonstrate that SuDS with
multifunctional benefits have been included where possible. These can be included on the
frontage and open areas of the development, and additional SuDS components can include
tree pits, detention basins, swales and rain gardens. The current inclusion of above ground
SuDS features is welcomed but the site presents excellent opportunities for the inclusion of
additional SuDS components that provide multifunctional benefits, including being used as
an educational tool for future students. It is acknowledged that a pump is required to drain
certain areas of the site and that including additional SuDS components could not
completely alleviate this requirement however, by including additional multifunctional SuDS
components this could help reduce the requirement for such a large underground
attenuation tank for example. As such a condition is recommended to require further work
to be undertaken.
Water quality assessment

Page 88

5.76 The applicant has provided a water quality assessment which demonstrates that the
pollution hazard indices of the development are exceeded by the SuDS mitigation indices of
the proposed components. The drainage layout has been updated to allow for all runoff to
pass through the attenuation pond prior to flows being discharged off site.
Calculations
5.77 The applicant has provided calculations to demonstrate that the system has been designed
to contain all storm events up to an including the 1 in 100 year storm event +40% climate
allowance. Following any amendments to the scheme, the calculations must be updated
accordingly. If any flooding occurs for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change event,
details of where this flooding will occur, and the volume of the flooding must be provided.
Whole-life maintenance plan
5.78 A whole-life maintenance plan for the full surface water drainage system is required; this
must outline the maintenance tasks required, the frequency by which they are to be
undertaken and details of the persons responsible for undertaking maintenance. A condition
can be secured to address this.
Conclusions on flood risk
5.79 In summary the LLFA has carefully considered the proposed development having regard to
the FRA and the drainage scheme proposed. Further detail is required to address matters as
discussed above (in particular, no SuDS components in areas at risk from flooding and details
of the pump). These matters of detail could be secured by way of conditions to ensure that
development does not begin until a surface water drainage strategy based on the principles
set out in the FRA and also a maintenance scheme for these have been submitted to and
approved by the Council and these conditions are considered to be required to make the
scheme acceptable.
5.80 Having regard to the above matters it is considered that the development would accord with
emerging policies I4 and I5 of the emerging VALP and with the NPPF.

Ecology
Emerging VALP policy NE1 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) (moderate weight)
5.81 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF requires new development to minimise impacts on biodiversity
and provide net gains in biodiversity. Policy NE1 of the emerging VALP requires new
development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity.
5.82 This application is supported by an ecological impact assessment from the consultant
ecologist SES dated November 2020 and additional ecological information including a
revised ecological assessment, Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and a revised layout plan
including landscaping. A Construction Environmental Management Plan and Habitat
Management Plan has also been received. These additional reports were requested to
address the ecological impacts incurred by the first iteration of the proposal.

Page 89

5.83 The revised layout scheme has enabled two Black Poplars to be retained and increased the
compensation trees to seven now. The Council’s Biodiversity Officer has advised that these
Black Poplars should be sourced from Lindengate Black Poplar tree nursery as they have
native rooted stock that has almost five years of growth. There is still however a loss of 7
mature trees within the new design. Along with the proposed Black Poplar tree planting a
further 191 trees (as amended) have been identified within the plan for the school. The BNG
calculation demonstrates a 16% uplift in ecological gains. The revised layout includes details
of the uplift of the SuDS area to be established as a natural feature with increased ecological
value achieved through the planting scheme proposed. Further enhancements have been
achieved around the edge of the site, establishing diverse grassland and wildflower margins.
The meadow margin that runs along the Western boundary will over time be reduced in size
as the hedge establishes. The proposed hedge along this section has been increased in width
to accommodate the hedge gains required and provides a screen to the school. It is
considered that the loss of this meadow area would not impact significantly on the over all
net gain demonstrated on site.
5.84 This latest amendments of the development have demonstrated sufficient net ecological
gains, including species specific enhancements (which are not included in the BNG
calculation) to comply with emerging local and national planning policy. Retention of two
mature Black Poplar Trees has been achieved and significant tree planting is proposed to
compensate for the loss of trees identified having regard to biodiversity.
5.85 The applicant has provided a Construction Environmental Management Plan and Habitat
Management Plan from the ecological consultant SES dated March 2021. This document sets
out how the construction phase of the application can be carried out in accordance with the
ecological constraints identified. Further to this the Habitat Management Plan details how
the enhancements measures and the ecological features retained will be managed for the
duration of the developments life. This document is considered to be an acceptable
approach to deal with the ecological impacts of the construction and subsequent habitat
management plan for the retained and enhanced ecological elements and a condition can
secure their implementation.
5.86 Having regard to the above matters, it is considered that the development would accord
with emerging policy NE1 of the VALP and with the NPPF and the 16% uplift in BNG would be
a significant benefit.

Historic environment
AVDLP policy GP59 (Archaeology)
Emerging VALP policy BE1 (Heritage Assets) (moderate weight)
5.87 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty
on local authorities to pay special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of a
listed building.

Page 90

5.88 There are no conservation areas within or near the site. There are no listed buildings within
the site but on the northern side of Burcott Lane, no. 94 is a grade II listed farmhouse with a
detached barn, also listed. The listed buildings themselves would not be affected by the
development but regard must also be had to their setting. In this case the farmhouse is
associated with the adjacent agricultural land which provides its setting. However the listed
buildings are separated from the sports pitches which would form the nearest part of the
development site by Burcott Lane itself and mature hedgerows with trees which would be
supplemented as part of the proposals. Furthermore as discussed above, this site was
identified for the location of a secondary school at the outline application stage for the
wider Kingsbrook development and the potential impact on the listed buildings would have
been noted at that time. Special regard has been given to the statutory test of preserving
the setting of the listed buildings under section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which is accepted is a higher duty. In this instance having
regard to the site circumstances it is not considered that the development would adversely
affect the setting of the listed buildings and that the development would not result in harm
and it would therefore accord with the Act.
5.89 Part of the site to the north-east is within an archaeological notification site. In respect of
archaeology, the Historic Environment Records (HER) show that there are possible
Medieval or post-medieval field boundaries suggested by geophysical survey; at the south
end of Burcott there is a post-medieval farmstead recorded on eighteenth century maps
and possible house platforms visible as earthworks and recorded in geophysical survey; in a
field east of Burcott Lane there are remains of a medieval to post-medieval settlement of
Burcott indicated by field walking finds, geophysical survey and evaluation trial trenching;
there are also evidence of late Iron Age to Roman ditched enclosures, probably
representing fields in the vicinity of a settlement or farmstead, identified by geophysical
survey and confirmed by evaluation trial trenching. The inclusion of the written scheme of
investigation produced by MOlA is welcomed by the Council’s Archaeologists. The
archaeological fieldwork for Areas 1- 4 has been completed and Areas 5 - 6 are expected to
be undertaken in Spring 2021. Having regard to the HER, if planning permission is granted
for this development then it is likely to harm a heritage asset's significance so the Council’s
Archaeologists recommend that a condition should be applied to require the developer to
secure appropriate investigation, recording, publication and archiving of the results in
accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation produced by MOLA,
Museum of London Archaeology, dated February 2020, accompanying the application
which can be reasonably imposed.
5.90 Having regard to the above matters, it is considered that the settings of the listed buildings
would be preserved and therefore the development would accord with Section 66 of the
Act. In addition the development would accord with policy BE1 of the emerging VALP in
respect of heritage assets (including setting of listed buildings and archaeology) and with
the NPPF.

Page 91

6.0

Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment

6.1

This section brings together the assessment that has so far been set out in order to weigh
and balance relevant planning considerations in order to reach a conclusion on the
application.

6.2

In determining the planning application, section 38(6 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, Section
143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act relating to
the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing with planning
applications, the authority shall have regard to:
-

-

Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material,
Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application (such as
CIL if applicable, and,
Any other material considerations

6.3

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development
which for decision taking means approving development proposals that accord with an upto-date development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate, granting permission unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a
whole.

6.4

There are relevant development plan policies that apply to this application. Those policies
which are most important for determining this application are GP8, GP38, GP39, GP40 and
GP35 which are considered to be in full compliance with the NPPF. The development should
therefore be determined in relation to paragraph 11(c) of the NPPF.

6.5

As explained earlier in this report, special regard has been given to the desirability of
preserving the setting of listed buildings as required in the statutory tests contained in
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. With regard
to the listed buildings and their settings it is considered that the development would
preserve and not harm the setting of the listed buildings. There is therefore no clear reason
to refuse permission on this basis.

6.6

The scheme has also been considered acceptable with mitigation outlined above in terms of
its impact to achieving well-designed places, promoting sustainable transport, meeting the
challenge of climate change and flooding, and conserving and enhancing the natural
environment and landscape and on residential amenities, however these do not represent
benefits of the scheme but rather demonstrate an absence of harm.

Page 92

6.7

In addition, there would be considerable benefits from investment in construction and the
local economy.

6.8

In the terms of applying paragraph 11(c) of the Framework it is concluded that the
development would accord with the Development Plan and there are no material
considerations that would lead to an alternative decision.

6.9

Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due
regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from socioeconomic disadvantage. In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal would
disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent.

7.0

Working with the applicant / agent
7.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decision-taking
in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure developments. The
Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by offering a
pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating applications/agents of any
issues that may arise in the processing of their application. In this instance the agent and
applicant were updated of issues and consultee concerns and provided opportunity to
submit further information to address these. The application was considered by the
Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the
committee and promote the application.

8.0
8.1

1.

Recommendation
It is therefore recommended that permission be delegated to the Service Director for
Planning and Environment subject to the draft conditions as set out below and any
amendments as required by Officers following receipt of final consultee comments:
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning
Act, 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in substantial accordance with the
details contained in the planning application hereby approved and plan numbers and reports
as listed below and in accordance with any other conditions imposed by this planning
permission.
• Planning Statement including Statement of Community Involvement prepared by Smith
Jenkins Ltd dated November 2020, reference 760;

Page 93

• Design and Access Statement prepared by AHR Architects, dated November 2020,
reference DN483877-AHR-XX-ZZ-RP-A-0004 Rev P04;
• School Supporting Statement prepared by Buckinghamshire Council;
• Transport Statement prepared by BCAL Consulting dated November 2020, reference
DN483877-BCL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-0001_P01_TransportStement Rev A;
• Draft Travel Plan prepared by BCAL Consulting dated November 2020, reference
DN483877-BCL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-0002_P01_TravelPlan Rev A;
• Drainage Strategy Incorporating Assessment Of Flood Hazard, Sustainable Drainage System
Statement & Maintenance Advice prepared by BCAL Consulting dated November 2020,
reference 6530001 FRA Rev 1;
• MicroDrainage Calculations – SW Network2_A (26.01.2021 BCAL Consulting) (all output
sheets) MicroDrainage Calculations – SW Network1_B (26.01.2021 BCAL Consulting) (all
output sheets)
• Drainage Layout 1 of 4 (6530-0500 P5, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Drainage Layout 2 of 4 (6530-0501 P5, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Drainage Layout 3 of 4 (6530-0502 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Drainage Layout 4 of 4 (6530-0503 P6, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Pond - General Arrangement (6530-0505 P1, 10.02.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• External Levels 1 of 4 (6530-0600 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• External Levels 2 of 4 (6530-0601 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• External Levels 3 of 4 (6530-0602 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• External Levels 4 of 4 (6530-0603 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Details 1 of 2 (6530-0800 P2, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Details 2 of 2 (6530-0801 P1, 03.11.2020, BCAL Consulting)
• External Finishes (6530-0700 P2, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Water Quality SuDS Assessment Tool document
• Attenuation Volume Capacity Calc. (6530 C 1, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
• Email Correspondence from BCAL (04.02.2021, BCAL Consulting
• Email Correspondence from BCAL (01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting
• Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment prepared by RSK dated November 2020,
reference RSK/MLs/P32442/05/01 Rev02;
• Stage 3 Arboricultural Method Statement Report prepared by RSK dated February 2021,
reference 2481216 Final – Rev. 3;
• Ecological Impact Assessment, Rev B prepared by Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd dated
February 2021;
• BNG DEFRA Metric 2.0 Rev F prepared by Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd;
• Construction Environmental Management Plan & Habitat Management Plan, prepared by
Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd, dated March 2021
• Ecology and Trees Checklist prepared by Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd;
• External Lighting Planning Statement prepared by Anderson Green Ltd dated November
2020, reference DN483877-AGL-ZZ-XX-RP-ME-0009;

Page 94

• External Lighting Strategy Plan prepared by Anderson Green Ltd, reference LE0152-AGL-ZZXX-DR-E-7401 S1 P01;
• External Lighting Strategy Plan Post Curfew prepared by Anderson Green Ltd, reference
DN483877-AGL-ZZ-XX-DR-E-7401 S1 P02;
• Energy Strategy Report prepared by Anderson Green Ltd dated November 2020, reference
DN483877-AGL-ZZ-XX-RP-J-0001 P02;
• Construction Phase Health and Safety Plan prepared by Morgan Sindall dated October
2020, reference 53Y011;
• Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation prepared by MOLA dated February 2020,
reference AYBCM:2020.XX;
• Phase 2 Geo-Environmental Assessment prepared by Ground Engineering dated November
2020 reference C15150; and
• Noise Impact Assessment prepared by RSK dated November 2020, reference 298116-RSKRP-002-(00)
• Soil Volumes for Trees in Car Park Area
• Image of Root Protection Area for T60
• Material details: Ibstock brick specifications - Atlas Smooth Blue, Arundel Yellow
MultiStock, Aqua Marine Glazed
• Material details: Rockpanel specifications (Rainscreen board)
• Material details: Colorcoat Prisma specifications (cladding)
Plans
• SOR018082 Drawing 01 and 02 – Topographical Survey
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0002 P04 S2 – Site Location Plan
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0001 P03 S2 – Existing Site Plan
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-SX-DR-L-0001 P02 S2 – Site Sections
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0003 P03 S2 – Block Plan
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0100 P08 S2 – Landscape GA
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0101 P05 S2 – Landscape GA East
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0102 P05 S2 – Landscape GA North West
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0103 P05 S2 – Landscape GA South West
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0104 P05 S2 – Landscape Fencing
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0105 P04 S2 – Landscape Furniture
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0107 P01 S2 – Landscape SEN Unit and Garden Area
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0111 P03 S2 – Landscape GA BB103 Area Schedule
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0112 P02 S2 – Boundary Treatments Strategy
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0121 P05 S2 – Access Strategy Pedestrian
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0122 P05 S2 – Access Strategy Vehicle
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0200 P01 S2 – Hard Landscape GA and Sheet Location
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0300 P05 S1 – Soft Landscape GA and Schedules
• DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0311 P05 S1 - Soft Landscape GA Tree, Native Mix and Hedge
Planting
Page 95

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0301 P03 S2 - Soft Landscape Maintenance Schedule Sheet 1
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0302 P03 S2 - Soft Landscape Maintenance Schedule Sheet 2
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0303 P01 S2 - Soft Landscape Maintenance Schedule Sheet 3
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0322 P02 S1 - Soil Cell and Root Barrier Arrangement
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0403 P03 S1 – Soft Landscape Typical Detail
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0411 P01 S1 – Soft Landscape Detail
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-00-DR-A-0511 S2 P02 – Ground Floor Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-01-DR-A-0511 S2 P02 – First Floor Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-02-DR-A-0511 S2 P02 – Second Floor Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0521 S2 P05 – Elevations - North, East & South
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0522 S2 P04 – Elevations - West & Courtyards
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0523 S2 P03 – Pavilion - Plan, Section and Elevations
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0524 S2 P03 – Bin Store - Plan, Section & Elevations
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0525 S2 P03 – Cycle Store - Plan, Section, Elevations
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-R2-DR-A-0511 S2 P03 – Roof Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-SX-DR-A-0532 S2 P01 – Building Sections
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0541 S2 P02 – External Materials Palette

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the details
considered by the local planning authority.
3.

The landscaping scheme as shown on drawing numbers:
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0300 P05 S1 – Soft Landscape GA and Schedules
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0311 P05 S1 - Soft Landscape GA Tree, Native Mix
and Hedge Planting
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0100 P08 S2 – Landscape GA
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0101 P05 S2 – Landscape GA East
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0102 P05 S2 – Landscape GA North West
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0103 P05 S2 – Landscape GA South West
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0107 P01 S2 – Landscape SEN Unit and Garden
Area
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0111 P03 S2 – Landscape GA BB103 Area Schedule
shall be carried out not later than the first planting season following the development
being brought into use or the completion of the development, whichever is the
sooner.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and having regard
to biodiversity and to comply with policies GP39 and GP35 of Aylesbury Vale District
Local Plan, emerging policies NE1 and NE4 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 96

4.

Any tree or shrub which forms part of the approved landscaping scheme which
within a period of five years from planting fails to become established, becomes
seriously damaged or diseased, dies or for any reason is removed shall be replaced
in the next planting season by a tree or shrub of a species, size and maturity to be
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and to comply
with policy GP9 and GP35 of Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies
NE1 and NE4 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and the National Planning Policy
Framework.

5.

The external materials to be used for the school buildings and hard surfacing shall be as
shown on drawing no.s:
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0521 S2 P05 – Elevations - North, East & South
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0522 S2 P04 – Elevations - West & Courtyards
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0541 S2 P02 – External Materials Palette
- DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0200 P01 S2 – Hard Landscape GA and Sheet Location
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and having regard to
biodiversity and to comply with policies GP39 and GP35 of Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan,
emerging policies NE1 and NE4of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

6.

The building(s) hereby permitted shall only be constructed with slabs at levels indicated on
the approved drawing No.s:
- External Levels 1 of 4 (6530-0600 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
- External Levels 2 of 4 (6530-0601 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
- External Levels 3 of 4 (6530-0602 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
- External Levels 4 of 4 (6530-0603 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development and
to comply with policy GP35 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policy BE2 of
the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

7.

Prior to the occupation of the development minimum vehicular visibility splays of 43m from
2.4m back from the edge of the carriageway from both sides of the proposed main vehicle
access onto the main highway shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans and
the visibility splays shall be kept clear from any obstruction between 0.6m and 2.0m above
ground level.
Reason: To provide adequate visibility between the access and the existing public highway
for the safety and convenience of users of the highway and of the access and to accord with
emerging Policy T5 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.

Page 97

8.

Prior to the occupation of the development minimum vehicular visibility splays of 43m from
2.4m back from the edge of the carriageway from both sides of the proposed maintenance
accesses onto the main highway and Burcott Lane shall be provided in accordance with the
approved plans and the visibility splays shall be kept clear from any obstruction between
0.6m and 2.0m above ground level.
Reason: To provide adequate visibility between the access and the existing public highway
for the safety and convenience of users of the highway and of the access and to accord with
emerging Policy T5 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.

9.

The accesses referred to in condition 8 are to be used by maintenance vehicles only and
should not be used by members of the public or non-maintenance school staff.
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway
and of the development and to accord with emerging Policy T5 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local
Plan and with the NPPF.

10.

No other part of the development shall be occupied until the new accesses have been built
in accordance with the approved drawing and constructed in accordance with
Buckinghamshire Council’s guide note ‘ Commercial Vehicular Access Within Highway Limits’
2013.
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway
and of the development and to accord with emerging Policy T5 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local
Plan and with the NPPF.
11. The scheme for parking and manoeuvring and the loading and unloading of vehicles, the
storage of cycles and provision of electric vehicle charging points shown on the approved
plans shall be laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted
and these areas shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose.
To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise danger,
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway, having regard to the
provision of cycle storage and electric vehicle charging points and to accord with Policy
GP24 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging Policies T6, T7 and T8 of the Vale
of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 2 of the Second Schedule to the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or
re-enacting that Order) no gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure other than
those shown on the approved plan shall be erected along the site frontage within 5 metres
of the edge of the carriageway.

Page 98

Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off clear of the highway for the safety and convenience
of the highway users and to accord with emerging Policy T5 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local
Plan and with the NPPF.

13. The proposed signs shall be finished in non-reflective materials and thereafter retained as
such.
Reason: To avoid undue distraction to motorists and to avoid possible resemblance to and
confusion with bona-fide road signs and to accord with emerging Policy T5 of the Vale of
Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
14. Any school development works on the site shall be carried out in compliance with the
Construction Phase Health and Safety Plan rev 01 dated October 2020 by Morgan Sindell,
and this document shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the
highway and of the development and to accord with policies GP.8 and GP.95 of the
Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies BE3 and T5 of the Vale of Aylesbury
Local Plan and with the NPPF.
15. Prior to the occupation of the development the playing field/s and pitch/es shall be
constructed and laid out in accordance with the standards and methodologies set out in
the guidance note "Natural Turf for Sport" (Sport England, 2011),
Reason: To ensure the quality of pitches is satisfactory and they are available for use at the
time the school is occupied in accordance with policies GP.35 and GP86 of the Aylesbury
Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies BE2 and I2 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan
and with the NPPF.
16. The development hereby permitted shall not be used other than between 7am and 10pm
Monday to Saturday and 8am and 6pm Sunday.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to comply with policies GP35,
GP95 and GP8 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies BE2 and BE3 of
the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
17. No lighting with the exception of low level security lighting shall be used between the
hours of 10 pm to 7 am Mondays to Saturdays, 6 pm Saturday evenings to 8 am Sundays
and 6 pm Sundays to 7 am Mondays.

Page 99

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with policies GP35, GP.8
and GP.95 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies BE2 and BE3 of the
Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.

18. All noise mitigations identified in the RSK Noise Impact Assessment, 298116-RSK-RP-002(OO), shall be incorporated with the development of this site and thereafter maintained.
Any changes to the proposed mitigations shall be agreed by the Local Planning Authority
prior to their incorporation in the development.
Reason: To protect users of the site and neighbouring residential properties from the
impacts of noise arising from the development and to accord with policies GP35, GP.8 and
GP.95 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies BE2 and BE3 of the Vale
of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
19. Prior to first use of the MUGA and All Weather Pitch for any use, other than that directly
related to use by the school itself, a management plan will be submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The plan will detail all the controls that are to
be exercised to ensure that the impact from both noise and lighting are minimized as far as
is reasonably practicable and will include, as a minimum, details of hours of use, access
controls and unauthorized use response and complaint recording and resolution.
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties and to accord with
policies GP35, GP.8 and GP.95 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging policies
BE2 and BE3 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
20. Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological
context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the
approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall also include:
. Detailed assessment of the viability of including additional above ground SuDS
components to demonstrate that SuDS with multifunctional benefits have been included
where possible. Components may include, but are not limited to, tree pits, detention
basins, swales, and rain gardens.
. Demonstration that above ground SuDS components will not be located in areas of
existing
surface water flood risk; the existing surface water flood risk must be overlain on the
proposed site plan.
. Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can contain up to the 1 in
30 storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding between the 1 in 30 and the 1 in 100
plus climate change storm event should be safely contained on site.

Page 100

. Detailed drainage layout with pipe numbers, gradients and pipe sizes complete, together
with storage volumes of all SuDS components
. Details of proposed overland flood flow routes (including flow depth, volume and
direction) in the event of system exceedance or failure, with demonstration that such flows
can be appropriately managed on site without increasing flood risk to occupants, or to
adjacent or downstream sites.
. Full construction details of all SuDS and drainage components.
Reason: The reason for this pre-start condition is to ensure that a sustainable drainage
strategy has been agreed prior to construction in accordance with Paragraph 163 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) to ensure that there is a satisfactory solution to
managing flood risk and to accord with emerging policy I4 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local
Plan.
21. Prior to the occupation of the development a whole-life maintenance plan for the site must
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall set
out how and when to maintain the full drainage system (e.g. a maintenance schedule for
each drainage/SuDS component), with details of who is to be responsible for carrying out
the maintenance. A comprehensive maintenance schedule for the pumping station, along
with details of a pump warning system in the event of pump failure, must be included
within this plan. The plan shall also include as as-built drawings and/or photographic
evidence of the drainage scheme carried out by a suitably qualified person. The plan shall
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that arrangements have been arranged and agreed for the long term
maintenance of the drainage system as required under Paragraph 165 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and to accord with emerging policy I4 of the Vale of
Aylesbury Local Plan.
22. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved Construction
Environment Management Plan and Habitat Management Plan from the ecological
consultant SES dated March 2021.
Reason: Having regard to ecology and biodiversity net gain and to accord with the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), emerging policy NE1 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan
and with the NPPF.
23. No floodlighting or other form of external lighting, other than that shown on the approved
drawings and details, shall be installed unless it is in accordance with details which shall
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such
details shall include location, height, type and direction of light sources and intensity of
illumination. Any lighting which is so installed shall not thereafter be altered without the

Page 101

prior consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority other than for routine maintenance
which does not change its details.
Reason: To protect the character of the area and neighbouring residential amenities and to
accord with policies GP35 and GP.8 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging
policies BE2 and BE3 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
24. Tree protection measures outlined within the Stage 3 Arboricultural Method Statement
Report prepared by RSK dated February 2021, reference 2481216 Final – Rev. 3 shall be
implemented prior to commencement of construction and thereafter maintained for the
construction period.
Reason: To ensure that existing trees and hedges are protected from any damage in
accordance with policies GP35 and GP39 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan, emerging
policies BE2 and NE4 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the NPPF.
25. Within 6 months of the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a travel plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan
shall include a full analysis of the existing modal split for staff and pupils at the school and
detailed proposals for future transport provision, with the aim of securing no increase in
the number of car movements generated on the school journey. In the event of an increase
in the number of car movements, the school shall undertake measures, which will have
previously been identified in the travel plan, as are necessary to promote a reduction in the
number of car borne trips. The approved plan shall be reviewed and updated and the
revised version submitted annually at the end of each academic year for written approval
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the
highway (National Planning Policy Framework). Also in order to promote sustainable
methods of travel, to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the
highway and in accordance with policies in accordance with policies GP.24 of the Aylesbury
Vale District Local Plan, emerging policy T6 of the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan and with the
NPPF.
26. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
written scheme of investigation produced by MOLA, Museum of London Archaeology,
dated February 2020.
Reason: To record or safeguard any archaeological evidence that may be present at the
site and to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and to accord with Policy
GP59 of the Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan and with emerging policy BE1 of the Vale of
Aylesbury Local Plan.

Page 102

Informatives
1. The applicant is advised that the accesses will have to be constructed under a section 278
of the Highways Act legal agreement. This agreement must be obtained from the Highway
Authority before any works are carried out on any footway, carriageway, verge or other
land forming part of the highway. A minimum period of 8 weeks is required to draw up the
agreement following the receipt by the Highway Authority of a completed Section 278
application form. Please contact Highways Development Management at the following
address for information: Highways Development Management (Delivery Team)
Buckinghamshire Council
6th Floor, Walton Street Offices,
Walton Street,
Aylesbury
Buckinghamshire
HP20 1UY
highwaysdm@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
2. It is an offence under S151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the development
site to carry mud onto the public highway. Facilities should therefore be provided and
used on the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they leave the
site.
3. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head
(approximately 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the
design of the proposed development.
4. In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the
Council, in dealing with this application, has worked in a positive and proactive way with
the Applicant/Agent and has focused on seeking solutions to the issues arising from the
development proposal. Buckinghamshire Council works with applicants/agents in a positive
and proactive manner by offering a pre-application advice service and updating
applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application as
appropriate and, where possible and appropriate, suggesting solutions. In this case the
application has been amended following negotiation. Buckinghamshire Council has
considered the submissions as amended and concluded that the application can be
approved.

Page 103

Appendix A: Consultation Responses and Representations
Appendix B: Plans
Appendix C: Schedule of submitted documents

APPENDIX A: Consultation Responses and Representations
Comments from Councillor:
None received.
Parish/Town Council Comments
Bierton with Broughton Parish Council – (December 2020) We would like assurance that the access
road onto Burcott Lane, Bierton remains locked and only used for occasional deliveries and
emergency access. We object to the felling of Black Poplars as these are a protected native
species.
Further comments: (February 2021) It was resolved at the February Parish Council
meeting held on 15th February that the parish council have no objections, however would like to
highlight its concerns over the continued flooding issues on Burcott Lane and how this
development would add to this issue. It also has great concerns that mature Black Poplar Trees
would be felled, especially as these trees go some way in helping with the water balance within
the land.
Further comments (March 2021) These objections/comments relate to the
pedestrian/cyclist access points from Bierton Village on Burcott Lane onto the secondary school
site. It is hoped that the catchment area for this school will include the children living in Bierton
and therefore we welcome easy access for them. However, the access point is not practical or safe
on the bend near Marshalls Lea on Burcott Lane. The area floods significantly and regularly. Any
vehicles parked for drop off/collection will cause serious traffic disruption twice a day on the
narrow lane, which will be compounded during the winter months. The bend is notorious for
skidding on black ice. School staff we understand will be responsible for controlling access to this
point locking and unlocking as required. This means staff on duty for at least 2hrs twice a day to
effect safe exit and entry of pupils. What about access to after school activities, sport etc. Will staff
be available then? In addition to this access for cycle/pedestrians there appears to be another
route starting at the Kingsbrook footpath at the point where it reaches Burcott Lane behind the
Burcott Lodge Farm buildings (the old dairy) This is shown as a green line on Extracts 2 and 3 on
submitted plan. It joins up with the proposed access point on the bend of Burcott Lane near
Marshalls Lea. This footpath is already in use for children attending Bierton Village School from
Kingsbrook so this could be used as the main access point for the secondary school also. It may

Page 104

require chicane type gates at either end but should be wide enough to take buggies and cycles.
Also it would necessitate some signage on both approaches in Burcott Lane, perhaps those with
flashing lights to warn motorists.
In addition there also appears to be another route being proposed (this time by Barratt)
across the new sports field at the rear of cottages at Broughton Crossing. This is despite
assurances to concerned residents prior to development of site by Barratts that when the sports
field was not being used, access points would be locked. These proposals for additional routes are
described in the plan for the Burcott Lane access point. Extracts 2 and 3. Walkers along the
Kingsbrook footpath would apparently feel intimidated by having to walk a narrow unlit footpath
between newly constructed chain link and steel post fencing at the rear of the old dairy so this
route across the sports field is described in the application as an escape route.
Returning to Kingsbrook Secondary School - the original design planning statement says
that the idea is to encourage walking and cycling to school. Coaches dropping off pupils after an
away match or minibuses in the narrow access road in the Kingsbrook development, pupils being
dropped off/collected by car and staff trying to turn into the car park will cause huge disruption. I
propose that the whole car parking scheme at the school be re-configured. The only drop off zone
indicated on plans is in front of the SEN block through a narrow access. There appears to be a
large amount of landscaping as opposed to the amount of space allocated for staff parking and
drop off zones. Whilst it is admirable to encourage a green transport and health strategy for the
school now and in the future - thought should be given for a realistic transport strategy for todays
students at a modern school. Realistic space should be allocated for parking and drop off zones at
the school and capacity for drop off by minibus - every school has them!
Aylesbury Town Council – (December 2020) Echo Bierton with Broughton Parish Council
comments regarding Burcott Lane and objecting to the felling of Black Poplars. Aylesbury Town
Council would like to ensure there will be provision for outdoor sport teams to store their
equipment.
Consultation Responses (Summary)
Archaeology – Possible Medieval or post-medieval field boundaries suggested by geophysical
survey; at south end of Burcott there is a post-medieval farmstead recorded on eighteenth
century maps and possible house platforms visible as earthworks and recorded in geophysical
survey; in a field east of Burcott Lane there are remains of a medieval to post-medieval
settlement of Burcott indicated by field walking finds, geophysical survey and evaluation trial
trenching; there are also evidence of late Iron Age to Roman ditched enclosures, probably
representing fields in the vicinity of a settlement or farmstead, identified by geophysical survey
and confirmed by evaluation trial trenching. The inclusion of the written scheme of investigation
produced by MOlA is welcomed. The archaeological fieldwork for Areas 1- 4 has been completed
and Areas 5 - 6 are expected to be undertaken in Spring 2021. If planning permission is granted for
this development then it is likely to harm a heritage asset's significance so a condition should be
applied to require the developer to secure appropriate investigation, recording, publication and
archiving of the results in conformity with NPPF paragraph 199.

Page 105

Ecology Officer – This application is supported by an ecological impact assessment from the
consultant ecologist SES dated November 2020. This report acts as an accurate account of the
ecological features present on site at the time of the assessment. A series of ecological mitigation,
compensation and enhancement measures are detailed within the report. These measures are
considered acceptable and will need to be secured with a planning condition if this application is
approved.
A Biodiversity Net Gain calculation has been established for the site in line with current central
and local government policy. This shows a loss in Biodiversity as a result of the proposed works at
the school site. Ecological enhancement measures have been established on site but an over all
loss is still accounted for. However this school is part of the much wider Kingsbrook development
which has established a nationally recognised standard for Biodiversity Net Gain. The site has
established over 60% green infrastructure with a 110ha nature reserve being created to the East
of the site. These measures were established and secured on the wider applications planning
consent. Though BNG was not established in policy at the time of the original Kingsbrook planning
approval the developer in collaboration with the LPA ecologists established the principle’s of BNG
by securing the green space opportunities and enhancements across the development. Work is
currently being undertaken to determine the net gain base line for the nature reserve. The losses
incurred at the secondary school site may well be accounted for within the wider biodiversity net
gains established across the Kingsbrook site. However due to the extensive loss of Black Polar
trees and hedgerow the applicant is requested to provide detail on how these will be
compensated for and enhanced in the wider proposals to ensure there is not a double counting of
gains. On receipt and approval of this information the application can be passed with a condition
as stated.
Further comments (March 2021) The revised layout scheme has enabled two Black
Poplars to be retained and increased the compensation trees to number 7 now. These Black
Poplars should be sourced from Lindengate Black Poplar tree nursery as they have native rooted
stock that has almost five years of growth. There is still however a loss of 7 mature trees within
the new design. Along with the proposed Black Poplar tree planting a further 182 trees have been
identified within the plan for the school.
The BNG calculation demonstrates a 16% uplift in ecological gains. The revised layout includes
details of the uplift of the suds area to be established as a natural feature with increased
ecological value achieved through the planting scheme proposed. Further enhancements have
been achieved around the edge of the site, establishing diverse grassland and wildflower margins.
The meadow margin that runs along the Western boundary will over time be reduced in size as the
hedge establishes. The proposed hedge along this section has been increased in width to
accommodate the hedge gains required and provides a screen to the school. It is considered that
the loss of this meadow area would not impact significantly on the over all net gain demonstrated
on site.
This latest iteration of the school site has demonstrated sufficient net ecological gains, including
species specific enhancements (which are not included in the BNG calculation) to comply with

Page 106

emerging local and national planning policy. Retention of two mature Black Poplar Trees has been
achieved and significant tree planting is proposed to compensate for the loss of trees identified.
The measures detailed in the Ecological Impact Assessment from SSE dated February 2021 should
be secured with a planning condition requiring a Construction Environment Plan (CEMP) which will
detail how the features will be protected during the construction process and a Habitat
Management Plan (HMP) which will detail the habitat enhancements features along with their
long term management prescriptions to ensure they are maintained in perpetuity. Further to this
measures to secure the species specific enhancements should be included within the Habitat
Management plan detailing the location and specification of the enhancement features.
Further comments (March 2021) The applicant has provided a Construction
Environmental Management Plan & Habitat Management Plan from the ecological consultant SES
dated March 2021. This document sets out how the construction phase of the application can be
carried out in accordance with the ecological constraints identified. Further to this the Habitat
Management Plan details how the enhancements measures and the ecological features retained
will be managed for the duration of the developments life. This document is considered to be an
acceptable approach to deal with the ecological impacts of the construction and subsequent
habitat management plan for the retained and enhanced ecological elements. These proposals
should be secured with a suitably worded planning condition.
Highways – As part of this outline application (10/02649/AOP) the impact of traffic movements
was considered and judged to be acceptable, and as such this proposal and these comments will
not investigate the traffic impact of the site. It should also be noted that the applicant and the
Highway Authority have been involved in pre-application discussions to ensure the site meets the
required standards.
With regards to the main vehicular access points, the applicant has worked alongside the Highway
Authority in the pre-application phases to ensure that this layout is satisfactory from a highways
safety perspective. The proposed entrance and exit points which adjoin the highway are of
sufficient width to accommodate the vehicle movements associated with the proposed
development. Additionally, visibility of 43m x 2.4m in line with guidance stated in Manual for
Streets is achievable from the exit point as shown on drawing 20-018/008.
Drawing 20-018/008 shows visibility splays for the maintenance access point to the south of the
main access points. As described in the Transport Statement this is an access for service vehicles
that ‘would infrequently visit the site to maintain the external plant area and equipment
associated with the school’. The visibility splays are in line with guidance as above.
The Transport Statement mentions a ‘proposed maintenance access on Burcott Lane will also be
used on a very infrequent basis for playing field maintenance.’ Whilst this part of the drawing does
not contain any visibility splays or tracking information the track is wide enough for the proposed
movements. The visibility splays have also been measured and whilst the drawing does not show
the full western visibility splay (ending at around 36m) it is not envisaged that there would be any

Page 107

issue with the remaining 8m. The use of both of these accesses should be restricted to
maintenance vehicles only.
Drawing number 20-018/007 rev B within the Transport Statement shows the tracking data for a
selection of vehicles that will be manoeuvring around the site. These drawings show that the
vehicles will be able to make the required manoeuvres within the site without difficulty or danger
to other users.
Regarding parking after assessing the submitted plan, adequate parking spaces of sufficient size
can be located within the site. The applicant has also provided adequate manoeuvring space for
each of the parking spaces.
As part of the application the applicant has submitted a School Travel Plan which is being
considered by the Council’s travel planning team and if found to be satisfactory would be secured
by way of condition.
The Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed development in principal subject to
conditions.
Lead Local Flood Authority – Flood Risk - The Flood Map for Surface Water (FMfSW) provided by
the Environment Agency shows that the majority of the site lies in an area of very low risk of
surface water flooding (meaning there is less than 0.1% likelihood of flooding occurring in a given
year). There are however 2 localised areas of flooding shown towards the north of the site (in the
location of the grass playing fields) that are shown to be at high risk of surface water flooding with
anticipated depths of between 0.15m and 0.60m. Additionally there is an area to the south west of
the site at high risk of surface water flooding (meaning there is greater than 3.3% likelihood of
flooding occurring in a given year) with anticipated flood depths of between 0.15m and 0.60m for
the 3.3% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) event. This risk increases in extent for both the 1%
and 0.1% AEP events.
Groundwater flood risk - Groundwater emergence potential mapping, provided by Jeremy Benn
Associates 2016, shows the groundwater level in the location of the proposed development to be
between 0.025m to 0.5m below the ground surface for a 1 in 100 year return period. This means
that there is a high risk of groundwater flooding to surface water sub-surface assets. There is the
possibility of groundwater emerging at the surface locally. It is noted that groundwater was
encountered between 1.7m and 4.2m below ground level however this was not during the winter
period when groundwater recharge is at its peak. Due to the encountered high groundwater
levels, floatation calculations will be required based on the worst case scenario of groundwater
assumed to be at surface level or based on groundwater levels following groundwater monitoring
results over the winter period. Historic flood records There is a historic flood record held by
Buckinghamshire Council, just north of the site (March 2018). This record is a surface water flood
event attributed to water exceeding the capacity of a culvert and also surface water runoff from
the adjacent fields and track onto the highway and rear garden of a property on Marshalls Lea,
Burcott.

Page 108

Surface water drainage - Surface water runoff generated by the proposed development is to be
attenuated on site, prior to discharging at a rate of 26l/s to a watercourse which borders the west
of the site. Infiltration is not viable as a means of surface water disposal at this site, as identified
during the outline application for the wider Kingsbrook development. Whilst the surface water
drainage strategy in principle is acceptable, the lack multifunction SuDS included within the
scheme is disappointing and there are several queries with the scheme itself.
Existing flood risk - The drainage strategy discusses the existing flood risk in two locations; it is
noted that for location 1 the proposed levels will direct the water to the west of the site however
no drawings showing this has been provided. In order to understand how the existing surface
water flood risk to the site is to be managed the applicant must provide a drawing showing how
flows will be routed across the site. For location 2, to the south west of the site, a larger extent of
high risk of flooding is shown. For this area it is discussed that ‘earthworks have been designed to
address overland flow to ensure that no flooding will occur within the site boundary’, it is not clear
what is meant by this statement. No information has been provided to address this matter and
therefore in light of the information discussed within this section, the applicant must provide
further information as to how the existing flood risk to the site is to be managed. This is required
to ensure that flood risk is not increased offsite as a result of the development; this includes
ensuring that storage capacity of above ground features is not detrimentally impacted upon by the
exiting flood risk to the site. The development must not increase flood risk off site in order to
accord with the NPPF.
Pumps - A surface water pump is included within the scheme between the attenuation tank and
the final flow control device however no supporting commentary is provided regarding this and
this is not acceptable. The applicant must provide supporting evidence to demonstrate whether a
surface water pumping station is necessary for inclusion within the proposed scheme. The Non
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (Defra, 2015) advises that
pumping should only be used to facilitate drainage for those parts of the site where it is not
reasonably practicable to drain water by gravity. Following this, where the inclusion of a pump is
deemed necessary and it is demonstrated that this part of the site cannot be drained via gravity,
then the applicant must demonstrate that any residual risk (such as pump failure) can be safely
managed; this is required as per Paragraph 163 of the NPPF. In this instance, the drainage strategy
must provide additional information on pump maintenance and details of exceedance routes
(volume, depth and direction) in the event of failure, blockage or a rainfall event that exceeds the
provided storage.
Above ground SuDS - At present the proposed surface water drainage strategy for the
development is not in keeping with the vision of the Kingsbrook development, as outlined within
the design and access statement which states that ‘Kingsbrook is considered to be a flagship
nature friendly development and sets a new benchmark for housing developments in Britain. A
wide range of measures are being incorporated into the development to ensure that substantial
benefits are delivered for wildlife. The design of the school will complement the wildlife friendly
ethos of the wider Kingsbrook scheme’. The LLFA are disappointed with the lack of incorporation
of SuDS that provide multifunctional benefits; above ground SuDS components have the potential
to be used as a beneficial educational tool where they are appropriately designed to fit into the
landscape of a school. At the outline application stage, this parcel of the development was

Page 109

required to be inclusive of ‘Aquacell for roof runoff (30%), porous paving for parking and players
(30%) draining to dry swales/filter drains and retention pond (40%)’, as shown on drawing 06039/121 Rev.B. The parking areas and roof runoff are directed into a very large attenuation tank,
the overflow for which bypasses the attenuation pond meaning that no water quality benefits are
being provided and this raises concerns. Priority must be given to above ground attenuation
features rather than below ground tanks; above ground features are easier to maintain and would
provide amenity and biodiversity benefits to the site. The green spaces within the car park present
excellent opportunities for the inclusion of bioretention areas and/or tree pits and rain gardens.
The land either side of the main access pathway/road could be used for conveyance swales and/or
ponds. The inclusion of ponds in this area would significantly reduce the requirement for vast
amount of underground attenuation storage currently provided on site, whilst also providing the
SuDS features agreed at the outline stage of the planning process. The grassed area which
currently sits above the attenuation tank to the south of the site could also be utilised to provide
above ground SuDS features which could in turn be connected to a swale running parallel to the
3G pitch and MUGA. The inclusion of swales throughout the site should be prioritised over an
underground piped network. By providing additional SuDS components they will not only provide
additional water quality and quantity benefits but aid in the provision of amenity and biodiversity
benefits to the development. No reasonable justification has been provided for the exclusion for
multifunctional SuDS and the applicant must provide an assessment, with supporting evidence, for
the inclusion of additional above ground SuDS components that provide multifunctional benefits.
Additional areas of permeable paving or permeable asphalt should be provided on site; there are
multiple pathways/roads around the site where this can and should be facilitated. The
development presents opportunities for active rainwater harvesting to aid in the management and
disposal of surface water from the site. At present, the attenuation tank provided is large and the
prioritisation of rainwater re-use within the development should be expected which would reduce
the storage capacity required.
Water quality assessment - The applicant must demonstrate their compliance with the water
quality assessment criteria (Section 26, CIRIA SuDS Manual, 2015) to ensure that pollution is
adequately managed. This must be undertaken for all sources of impermeable area of the
proposed development. Often a combination of various SuDS components are required to meet
the criteria. At present the drainage strategy is not suitable for addressing the requirements of the
water quality assessment.
Drainage layout - The drainage layout will need to be revised in accordance with any
revisions/amendments to the proposed drainage scheme following the information discussed
above. At present the side slopes of Figure 1: Site layout taken from Site Sections drawing
(DN483877-AHR-ZZ-SX-DR-L-0001 P01, 17.11.2020, AHR Architects Ltd.) Areas where above
ground SuDS features should be prioritised, highlighted in dark blue the pond and swale currently
proposed have not been presented; it is expected that these will be a minimum of 1:3 as per best
practice guidance (CIRIA SuDS Manual C753, 2015). With regards to the proposed attenuation
tank, the proposal is to bypass any above ground SuDS features, the pump from the attenuation
tank connects directly into the final flow control device; so no treatment is provided prior to
discharging flows offsite and this is not acceptable. This supports the requirement for further
investigation into the viability of including above ground SuDS features that provide

Page 110

multifunctional benefits to the site and additionally the receiving watercourse. It is anticipated
that with the inclusion of additional SuDS components the required storage volume of the
attenuation tank will be reduced. The attenuation tank should not be removed from the scheme
entirely, as it is likely to be required in some form to provide the volume of storage required,
however there are opportunities to reduce the size of this tank. Where large volumes of storage
remain to be provided within an attenuation tank, details must be provided as to whether air
vents are required for ventilation due to the scale of the attenuation tank, along with details of
how this component will be accessed for maintenance.
Calculations – These must be updated in accordance with any revisions/amendments to the
proposed drainage scheme following the assessments discussed above. It remains that the future
areas of expansion should also be taken into account within any updated calculations. Calculations
for the proposed surface water drainage scheme will be required for the events detailed below:
• 1 in 1 year event demonstrating that there is no surcharging within the system in line with
Sewers for Adoption
• 1 in 30 year event demonstrating that the system does not flood
• 1 in 100 year event plus 40% climate change demonstrating that any flooding is contained on
site
These calculations must include details of critical storm durations and associated storage volumes
and demonstrate how the proposed system as a whole will function during different storm events.
Exceedance - At present it is noted that flooding occurs on site for the 1 in 100 year plus 40%
climate change event. If flooding occurs on site following any revisions to the scheme, then details
of where this flooding will occur, and the volume of the flooding must be provided.
Overall further information is required at this stage of the planning process in terms of existing
flood risk, the proposed surface water drainage scheme and the inclusion of SuDS that provide
multifunctional benefits to the development.
Further comments (February 2021)
Existing flood risk - Whilst drawings showing the proposed overland flood flow routes in the event
of system exceedance or failure for the whole site have been provided, the applicant has not
addressed the matters regarding ‘location 1’ and ‘location 2’ as highlighted within previous
comments. It is crucial that this information is provided in order to accord with the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and ensure that flood risk is not increased as a result of the
development.
Pumps - The applicant has stated that the inclusion of a pump within the site is necessary due to
spatial constraints, however the level of detail provided in support of this conclusion is insufficient.
Through the assessment of including additional SuDS components, discussed hereafter and within
my previous letter, there is the opportunity that by providing additional above ground SuDS
components, a reduction in storage depths could be achieved and thus the requirement for a
pump could be removed. The development site presents excellent opportunities for the inclusion
of additional SuDS components and this needs to be investigated further prior to the conclusion
being made that a pump, for the large volume of water stored within the attenuation tank, is
necessary.

Page 111

Above ground SuDS - The information currently provided regarding the inclusion of additional
SuDS components is not satisfactory and further assessment must be undertaken. The applicant
should revisit my previous letter whereby further guidance on the information required is
outlined, specifically paragraphs 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12 and Figure 1. The inclusion and prioritisation of
above ground SuDS features will reduce the requirement for such a large underground
attenuation tank, which as stated above, may also reduce the requirement of a pump within the
scheme by allowing for the system to be designed to shallower depths.
Water quality assessment - It is acknowledged that a water quality assessment has been
undertaken, however this has not been undertaken for each sub-catchment of the development.
The applicant is required to undertake a water quality assessment to show how each subcatchment will drain through the SuDS components proposed to ensure that sufficient treatment
is provided. As previously discussed, at present the attenuation tank has no downstream
treatment prior to discharging flows off site and to the receiving watercourse and this is not
acceptable.
Drainage layout - The LLFA acknowledge that the pond and the swale are to have maximum side
slopes of 1:3 however it remains that the applicant has not addressed my concerns regarding the
attenuation tank.
Calculations - Following any revisions/amendments to the proposed scheme, following the
assessments discussed above and within my last letter, the applicant must provide updated
storage calculations. Please note that if flooding is shown to occur on site then details of where
this flooding will occur, and the volume of the flooding must be provided.
Further comments (March 2021)
Existing flood risk - In order to alleviate the existing surface water flood risk shown in ‘location 1’,
the proposed development levels have been designed to direct water away from this location,
with the levels of the field sports pitch set to ensure fall towards the swale and pond to the west
and south-west of the site. Whilst site levels will be directed away from ‘location 1’, the applicant
has provided insufficient information regarding the existing flood risk to the site in ‘location 2’. At
the detailed design stage of the planning process the applicant must demonstrate that the
proposed above ground SuDS components are not located in an area of existing flood risk. To
demonstrate this it is requested that the FMfSW provided by the Environment Agency is overlain
on the drainage layout to demonstrate whether or not the proposed pond is located in an area of
existing surface water flooding. The applicant must demonstrate that the SuDS components are
not located in any areas of existing flood risk as to ensure that their storage capacity is not
reduced.
Pumps - As the scheme is inclusive of a pump (pumping station) the applicant must provide a
comprehensive maintenance plan for the pumping station along with details of a pump warning
system in the event of pump failure. The National Planning Policy Framework (para.163) requires
that planning applications demonstrate the any residual risk (such as pump failure) can be safely
managed. At present the drainage strategy does not provide information on pump maintenance
and details of exceedance routes (volume, depth and direction) in the event of failure, blockage or
a rainfall event that exceeds the provided storage and this information is required.

Page 112

Above ground SuDS - The assessment of SuDS components is not sufficient. It is acknowledged
that the site has the potential for expansion in the future however, despite certain areas being
reserved for expansion it remains that there are multiple locations on site where above ground
SuDS components can and should be prioritised. At the detailed design stage of the planning
process, the applicant must undertake a detailed assessment of the viability of including additional
above ground SuDS components to demonstrate that SuDS with multifunctional benefits have
been included where possible. These can be included on the frontage and open areas of the
development. Additional SuDS components include, but are not limited, tree pits, detention
basins, swales and rain gardens. Pleased with the inclusion of above ground SuDS features
currently proposed, but the site presents excellent opportunities for the inclusion of additional
SuDS components that provide multifunctional benefits, including being used as an educational
tool for future students. It is acknowledged that a pump is required to drain certain areas of the
site and that including additional SuDS components could not completely alleviate this
requirement however, by including additional multifunctional SuDS components this could help
reduce the requirement for such a large underground attenuation tank. Please note that following
any amendments to the proposed scheme, i.e. where additional SuDS components are included
within the scheme, the drainage layout must be updated accordingly.
Water quality assessment - The applicant has provided a water quality assessment which
demonstrates that the pollution hazard indices of the development are exceeded by the SuDS
mitigation indices of the proposed components. The drainage layout has been updated to allow
for all runoff to pass through the attenuation pond prior to flows being discharged off site.
Calculations - The applicant has provided calculations to demonstrate that the system has been
deigned to contain all storm events up to an including the 1 in 100 year storm event +40% climate
allowance. Following any amendments to the scheme, the calculations must be updated
accordingly. If any flooding occurs for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change event, details of
where this flooding will occur, and the volume of the flooding must be provided.
Construction details - Construction drawings for all surface water drainage components are
required; these must be shown in the form of cross-sectional diagrams and be inclusive of cover
and invert levels, along with details of materials. The applicant must also provide an updated
construction drawing of the pond to show the anticipated water levels for the different storm
events and the freeboard that will be provided between the top of the bank and the 1 in 100 year
+40% climate change allowance storm event.
Whole-life maintenance - A whole-life maintenance plan for the full surface water drainage system
is required; this must outline the maintenance tasks required, the frequency by which they are to
be undertaken and details of the persons responsible for undertaking maintenance.
No objections overall subject to conditions.
Environmental Health – Whilst there are no environmental health objections to this application
the noise impact assessment produced by RSK, report reference 298116-RSK-RP-002-(OO), has
identified potential noise mitigation required in relation to indoor ambient noise levels,
construction works, plant noise emissions and use of the outdoor games areas including the
MUGA and all weather pitch. It is suggested that the noise mitigations identified be incorporated
in the development and thereafter maintained. There are particular concerns regarding the use of

Page 113

the MUGA and all weather pitch outside of normal school hours, both in relation to the potential
noise impacts and the impacts of floodlighting from these facilities. The lighting assessment
provided indicates that light spill towards the houses on Engine Lane to the south of the site will
be minimized with minimal light spill impacting the properties themselves. However, the use of
the floodlighting is likely to be clearly visible to these properties through the vegetation in the
green corridor separating them from the school and will draw attention to the use of these
facilities. Given these concerns it is suggested that a management plan needs to be developed for
use of these facilities outside of normal school hours to ensure that noise levels are minimized as
far is reasonably practicable and that the floodlighting is carefully controlled to ensure that these
facilities are only lit when necessary. A condition is recommended to secure this.
RSPB – (March 2021) a) Welcome the adjustments that have been made to safeguard some of the
Black Poplars;
b) Accept that, pragmatically, school design requirements mean the loss of some trees, so
welcome the compensation package for those that are to be lost. However, as stated before, the
RSPB defer to the Council's ecologist and tree officer for their expertise and first-hand knowledge
of these trees;
c) Very much appreciate the efforts made to secure a positive Biodiversity Net Gain;
d) One remaining concern is the proposed hedgerow on the western boundary, which would seem
an ideal location to achieve a broader, taller treeline/hedgeline to better replace the type of
hedge being lost, and provide better screening. Greater clarity on the keyed instructions for the
planting of hedges across the site would also be welcomed, to ensure that in practice the delivery
does not default to single line planting when double line is achievable.
Our thanks to the Council and the developers for their efforts to address the concerns.

Strategic Access Officer – Footpath BWB/8/1Iinks the canal bridge in the south with Aylesbury
Road, Bierton to the north, close to the new A418 / eastern link road junction. The central length
of this footpath is subsumed into the Kingsbrook residential development and disappears. It's not
yet clear exactly where the new permanent footpath alignment will follow, but initial discussions
with Barratt Homes suggest the GI corridor east of the electricity sub-station is most likely. The
northern part remains unaffected, but this passes across agricultural fields, has a number of stiles
across it which are outside the council's control to replace, and passes beside a residential garden
to the west of Corner Farm. It is also unsurfaced and unlit, and is unsuitable as a route to school.
Footpath BWB/9/1 and Burcott Lane pass respectively alongside the proposed new school
boundary on south-western and north-western sides. Both Footpaths BWB/9/1 (linking Burcott
Lane with Pulver Road) and BWB/6/1 (linking Burcottt Lane with Parsons Lane) have evolved into a
busy walking route to Bierton Junior School for Oakfield Village residents and vice versa for
Bierton residents funnelling into Kingsbrook. As a result of this increased pedestrian demand, the
applicant has funded surface improvements to both BWB/9/1 (Photo 1) and BWB/6/1, and
constructed new roadside footways along the north side of Burcott Lane where these didn't
previously exist. All very welcome, but not instigated as part of the planning process. The agent
Page 114

has recently confirmed that as well as the existing public right of way to the west and the footpath
/ cycle way to the south, it is understood that Barratts will be implementing the footpath to the
north of the primary school land which will provide access to both the primary and secondary
schools from Bierton to the east.
Turning to the application, two pedestrian access points are shown into the school, located
close together, from the east and the red edge is shown parallel with Footpath BWB/9/1 to the
west. Para 2.5 of the Design & Access Statement summarises the 'key driver for the entire
development is the encouragement of walking and cycling'. An informal pedestrian and cycling
route is shown north of the sub-station road and south of the new secondary school (the 'Railway
Park') leading east from Footpath BWB/9/1 (not submitted as part of this application). The agent
confirms route 1 is to be provided. Clearly, this corridor is important for the sustainability of the
development as a whole as there are large blocks of housing to the east wishing to gain walking
and cycling access to Bierton's residential areas and facilities via Burcott Lane (especially bearing in
mind the character of the northern half of BWB/8/1 as described above). Presumably route 1 will
follow an alignment to the south of what appears to be a SUDS pond in this area and can follow a
wide, attractive corridor against one of the northern school boundary fences. Moreover, with
corridor 1 provided, together with the new footways on the north side of Burcott Lane, there is
less concern with the loss of corridor 2 into the school grounds (and therefore remaining private)
as it doesn't compromise pedestrian permeability. Once in place, it would seem that routes 1, 3
and 4 will be the primary routes for children travelling to the secondary school from both Bierton
(routes 1, 3 and 4) and Oakfield (route 3). Thus, route 1 links through the future GI corridor
providing easy access to both primary and secondary schools and the wider eastern parts of
Kingsbrook for the public in general; and routes 3 and 4 provide easy access from Parson's Lane via
BWB/6/1 and towards the school entrances via the Railway Park. Nevertheless, the existing
pleasant amenity of Footpath BWB/9/1 on the western edge of the schools grounds should be
retained as this will remain a busy walking corridor.
Concern 1 - With regard to the western boundary treatment along Footpath BWB/9/1, a 1.8m high
weldmesh fence is proposed, situated 2m from the footpath edge. When combined with the
existing metal palisade fence to Burcott Lodge Farm, this doesn't seem very attractive and creates
a double-fenced corridor for half the length of this link, which can be intimidating and leads to
walkers feeling unsafe, especially while this remains unlit. Granted, there does seem to be an
'escape route' west planned situated to the south of Burcott Lodge Farm, but the preference is for
the fence to retreat an additional 2m into the school site from the surfaced footpath edge (4m in
all), especially if others propose a hedge to screen the fence from the public's view from the
footpath. If the 4m is provided, this doesn't appear to have any material impact on the proposed
location of the maintenance track or Swale No.2.
Concern 2 - The second concern relates to the surface treatment and lighting of the Railway Walk
'Footpath and Cycleway'. There appears to be no existing planning obligation to provide any
sealed surface or lighting for this route. The agent stated:
'Given that this is a key route along the green corridor linking Railway Park, the school, existing
PRoW and the Sports Pitches we would envisage that this route will be surfaced and will form
part of the Green Infrastructure managed by Barratts.'

Page 115

On other parts of the Kingsbrook development the 'Footpath and Cycle ways' have been
surfaced with a loose stone, hogin-type material at a width of around 1.5m, which isn't ideal in
wet winter conditions, and children are likely to walk mud into the school if this is used.
The application identifies the south-west corner is an 'optimum location for shared
pedestrian and cycling for access' to the school from Oakfield village along the Railway Park. It
also serves as part of the wider western access link from BWB/6/1 and Parsons Lane, Bierton
(Route 4). The hogin path shown above is not ideal in terms of width and material. Evidently, it can
become muddy in wet weather and it's not wide enough for shared walking and cycle use. It is
suggested that the walking and cycling route through the Railway Park needs to be 3m wide and
bitumen to accommodate the likely busy pedestrian and cycle movements to school site. In
addition, if not lit, in winter those children seeking a safer route would have to use the longer
and less pleasant alternative around Bellingham Way (south of the electricity sub-station),
increasing the likelihood of children being driven to school or picked up by car from breakfast/after-school clubs due to safety concerns.
While these improvements may normally be secured by planning condition, there is
no blue edge plan covering this land as it lies within Barratt Homes' land holding and it is not clear
of the timing or delivery of the walking and cycling route along the Railway Park compared to the
predicted secondary school opening. Retrospective improvements should be avoided. The agent
confirms an improved route is 'envisaged', but without any obligation the Railway Park could in
theory be left simply as grass.
Alternative north-western access - It would appear the proposed maintenance access off Burcott
Lane or the access off the right angle bend on Burcott Lane could be used as an additional school
pedestrian entrance (opened and locked at the start and end of each school day), but this seems
to have been discounted due to security and safety concerns. The playing field's maintenance
access track, running generally east to west between grass and all-weather pitches, and which
appears to be mostly lit and surfaced, could be utilised to provide convenient walking access at no
additional cost. It is understood that the Kingsbrook primary school south of the electricity substation is planned to have two entrances to facilitate pedestrian convenience.
Thames Water - The application indicates that surface water will not be discharged to the public
network and as such Thames Water has no objection. With regard to foul water sewerage network
infrastructure capacity, there is no objection based on the information provided. Thames Water
recognises this catchment is subject to high infiltration flows during certain groundwater
conditions. The scale of the proposed development doesn't materially affect the sewer network
and as such there is no objection. In the longer term Thames Water, along with other partners, are
working on a strategy to reduce groundwater entering the sewer network. With regard to water
supply, this comes within the area of Leep Utilities Ltd.
Tree Officer - The supporting arboricultural report is an Arboricultural Method Statement (ref
2481216). At section 1.4 it references a previous Arboricultural Impact Assessment, but none has
been supplied with the supporting evidence – although a “summary” of impacts has been
provided. The proposal is stated to require the removal of 9 individual trees, 1 group of trees and
4 hedgerows. Of these 6 individual trees are rated category A or B. There is minor encroachment

Page 116

into the RPA of a category A Oak. Based on the available information, the impacts appear
predominantly related to tree removals.
The report has inaccurately identified trees as hybrid black poplars, when they are in fact native
black poplars, a nationally rare tree which should receive special consideration. In particular T48,
49, 50, 56 and 60 are all proposed to be removed. No tree survey data has been provided with the
application and it is understood that there are some concerns that there may be veteran trees
among the proposed removals, which would also trigger NPPF paragraph 175c:
When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should apply the following
principles… development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there are wholly
exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists…
It is not made clear in the report why these trees are to be removed (although some are within the
footprint of proposed recreation facilities), and it is not considered that adequate justification has
been provided in this case, nor appropriate mitigation.
The proposed removals are generally of high importance with regard their visual amenity and
collective impact – they also offer significant cumulative wider values and ecosystem services, as
set out in NPPF para 170. Commensurate or greater new planting provision is crucial to mitigating
the arboricultural impacts of the proposal. However it is not clear how commensurate new
planting can be provided: the report offers no recommendations or suggestions as to what would
constitute appropriate new planting. The soft landscape drawing shows a significant number of
new trees, however, most of the species shown are apparently for hedging or screening, and
consideration does not appear to have been given to compensating for the removal of large
existing trees and their value – particularly at the northern end of the site, where the greatest
extent of tree loss takes place, including the black poplars.
Sceptical that the proposed trees will be achievable when site constraints and species
requirements (particularly soil volume and space for future growth) are taken into account, many
of these trees are shown too densely planted, or in too restricted a soil environment to be
reasonably expected to establish or achieve their full growth potential. Additional detail is
required to show that planting is appropriate, feasible and able to offer at least commensurate
value to the trees to be removed. Consideration does not appear to have been given to the
guidance within BS5837:2012 clause 5.6, nor to the guidance within BS8545:2014. Therefore the
indicative landscape drawings should be given limited weight at this time and it is suggested that
they do not demonstrate adequate replacement planting is possible.
Overall the proposals call for the removal of a significant proportion of the tree cover on site and
include the loss of native black poplars, there is no tree survey data, nor has a full evaluation of
the impacts been provided in support of the application, and it is considered that the
arboricultural impact of the proposal would result in substantial local harm. As a minimum, further
information, particularly with regard to black poplars, veteran trees and new planting is required.
Ideally revisions to the proposed layout that allow reduced impacts to retained trees, and better
provision of replacement planting.
Further comments (March 2021) – To be reported.

Page 117

Representations:
1 representation has been received making neutral comments on the following grounds:
- Encouraging to see the arborist's report that the boundary hedgerow onto Burcott
Lane will be retained.
- The maintenance access onto Burcott Lane should be locked and used minimally. If students are
allowed access to the school site from Burcott Lane, this will encourage school traffic onto the
lane. Burcott Lane is a quiet, narrow lane with two right-angled sharp bends either side of this
access point. It would cause much congestion and a danger to pedestrians if this became a
student access point to the site.
Broughton Crossing Residents Association object (summary):
- Includes the felling of mature rare Black Poplar trees on this site.
- RSPB are extremely concerned that felling these mature trees will deprive Red Kites and Buzzards
of their hunting roosts and nesting sites.
- Adverse impact on protected species.
- Loss of habitat for nesting and hunting roosts of generations of Red Kites and Buzzards in the
tallest trees left in the area because of felling of many mature trees by Kingsbrook developer
Barratt David Wilson Homes.
- The best way to protect these trees is to append a Tree Preservation Order.
- Ongoing horticultural program sponsored by Buckinghamshire Council based at the Lindengate
site at Dobbies Garden Centre Wendover where Black Poplars were being propagated from seed
and grown on for planting at various sites around the county does not mitigates the felling of
mature Black Poplars.
- The school buildings will be visible from Broughton Crossing unless the present landscape
planning for tree planting to the southwest is upgraded to dense screening and not the odd
clump of trees.
- Lighting also visible after dark.
- Would result in an urban character to an otherwise rural area, dominating the eastern horizon as
it does.
- The southwest of school site should be screened adequately with hedging and substantial tree
species.
Woodland Trust – Comments have also been received on behalf of the Woodland Trust
commenting that they are aware that a number of mature black poplar trees would be removed to
facilitate the construction of this development. While these trees do not appear to be considered
ancient or veteran specimens and are therefore not necessarily protected by means of planning
policy, retaining healthy mature trees on account of the benefits that they deliver for people and
the environment is favoured. Mature trees offer immense benefits from filtering our air, to
helping with flooding and providing a home to wildlife. In the case of black poplars, it has been
noted by the Forestry Commission (now known as Forestry England) that this species is the most
endangered native tree in the UK. As such, every effort must be made to retain and protect any

Page 118

remaining populations of black poplar. Request that the applicant seeks to redesign the scheme to
avoid the removal of any black poplar trees from this site. If the applicant is to redesign the
scheme to retain these black poplars they must also avoidance of impact from encroachment
within the root protection area of such trees. As such, any redesigns must follow the guidance
contained within the 'BS5837: Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction' guidelines.
Rare and threatened native tree species, such as black poplar, must be protected from adverse
impact.

Page 119

Appendix B: Plans

Page 120

Page 121

Appendix C: Schedule of submitted documents
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Planning Statement including Statement of Community Involvement prepared by Smith Jenkins
Ltd dated November 2020, reference 760;
Design and Access Statement prepared by AHR Architects, dated November 2020, reference
DN483877-AHR-XX-ZZ-RP-A-0004 Rev P04;
School Supporting Statement prepared by Buckinghamshire Council;
Transport Statement prepared by BCAL Consulting dated November 2020, reference
DN483877-BCL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-0001_P01_TransportStement Rev A;
Draft Travel Plan prepared by BCAL Consulting dated November 2020, reference DN483877BCL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-0002_P01_TravelPlan Rev A;
Drainage Strategy Incorporating Assessment Of Flood Hazard, Sustainable Drainage System
Statement & Maintenance Advice prepared by BCAL Consulting dated November 2020,
reference 6530001 FRA Rev 1;
MicroDrainage Calculations – SW Network2_A (26.01.2021 BCAL Consulting) (all output sheets)
MicroDrainage Calculations – SW Network1_B (26.01.2021 BCAL Consulting) (all output sheets)
Drainage Layout 1 of 4 (6530-0500 P5, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Drainage Layout 2 of 4 (6530-0501 P5, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Drainage Layout 3 of 4 (6530-0502 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Drainage Layout 4 of 4 (6530-0503 P6, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Pond - General Arrangement (6530-0505 P1, 10.02.2021, BCAL Consulting)
External Levels 1 of 4 (6530-0600 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
External Levels 2 of 4 (6530-0601 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
External Levels 3 of 4 (6530-0602 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
External Levels 4 of 4 (6530-0603 P5, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Details 1 of 2 (6530-0800 P2, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Details 2 of 2 (6530-0801 P1, 03.11.2020, BCAL Consulting)
External Finishes (6530-0700 P2, 25.01.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Water Quality SuDS Assessment Tool document
Attenuation Volume Capacity Calc. (6530 C 1, 01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting)
Email Correspondence from BCAL (04.02.2021, BCAL Consulting
Email Correspondence from BCAL (01.03.2021, BCAL Consulting
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment prepared by RSK dated November 2020, reference
RSK/MLs/P32442/05/01 Rev02;
Stage 3 Arboricultural Method Statement Report prepared by RSK dated February 2021,
reference 2481216 Final – Rev. 3;
Ecological Impact Assessment, Rev B prepared by Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd dated
February 2021;
BNG DEFRA Metric 2.0 Rev F prepared by Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd;
Construction Environmental Management Plan & Habitat Management Plan, prepared by
Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd, dated March 2021

Page 122

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ecology and Trees Checklist prepared by Southern Ecological Solutions Ltd;
External Lighting Planning Statement prepared by Anderson Green Ltd dated November 2020,
reference DN483877-AGL-ZZ-XX-RP-ME-0009;
External Lighting Strategy Plan prepared by Anderson Green Ltd, reference LE0152-AGL-ZZ-XXDR-E-7401 S1 P01;
External Lighting Strategy Plan Post Curfew prepared by Anderson Green Ltd, reference
DN483877-AGL-ZZ-XX-DR-E-7401 S1 P02;
Energy Strategy Report prepared by Anderson Green Ltd dated November 2020, reference
DN483877-AGL-ZZ-XX-RP-J-0001 P02;
Construction Phase Health and Safety Plan prepared by Morgan Sindall dated October 2020,
reference 53Y011;
Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation prepared by MOLA dated February 2020,
reference AYBCM:2020.XX;
Phase 2 Geo-Environmental Assessment prepared by Ground Engineering dated November
2020 reference C15150; and
Noise Impact Assessment prepared by RSK dated November 2020, reference 298116-RSK-RP002-(00)
Soil Volumes for Trees in Car Park Area
Image of Root Protection Area for T60
Material details: Ibstock brick specifications - Atlas Smooth Blue, Arundel Yellow MultiStock,
Aqua Marine Glazed
Material details: Rockpanel specifications (Rainscreen board)
Material details: Colorcoat Prisma specifications (cladding)

Plans
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

SOR018082 Drawing 01 and 02 – Topographical Survey
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0002 P04 S2 – Site Location Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0001 P03 S2 – Existing Site Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-SX-DR-L-0001 P02 S2 – Site Sections
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0003 P03 S2 – Block Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0100 P08 S2 – Landscape GA
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0101 P05 S2 – Landscape GA East
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0102 P05 S2 – Landscape GA North West
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0103 P05 S2 – Landscape GA South West
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0104 P05 S2 – Landscape Fencing
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0105 P04 S2 – Landscape Furniture
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0107 P01 S2 – Landscape SEN Unit and Garden Area
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0111 P03 S2 – Landscape GA BB103 Area Schedule
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0112 P02 S2 – Boundary Treatments Strategy
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0121 P05 S2 – Access Strategy Pedestrian
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0122 P05 S2 – Access Strategy Vehicle

Page 123

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0200 P01 S2 – Hard Landscape GA and Sheet Location
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0300 P05 S1 – Soft Landscape GA and Schedules
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0311 P05 S1 - Soft Landscape GA Tree, Native Mix and Hedge
Planting
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0301 P03 S2 - Soft Landscape Maintenance Schedule Sheet 1
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0302 P03 S2 - Soft Landscape Maintenance Schedule Sheet 2
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0303 P01 S2 - Soft Landscape Maintenance Schedule Sheet 3
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0322 P02 S1 - Soil Cell and Root Barrier Arrangement
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0403 P03 S1 – Soft Landscape Typical Detail
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0411 P01 S1 – Soft Landscape Detail
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-00-DR-A-0511 S2 P02 – Ground Floor Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-01-DR-A-0511 S2 P02 – First Floor Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-02-DR-A-0511 S2 P02 – Second Floor Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0521 S2 P05 – Elevations - North, East & South
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0522 S2 P04 – Elevations - West & Courtyards
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0523 S2 P03 – Pavilion - Plan, Section and Elevations
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0524 S2 P03 – Bin Store - Plan, Section & Elevations
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-EL-DR-A-0525 S2 P03 – Cycle Store - Plan, Section, Elevations
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-R2-DR-A-0511 S2 P03 – Roof Plan
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-SX-DR-A-0532 S2 P01 – Building Sections
DN483877-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0541 S2 P02 – External Materials Palette

Page 124

